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Welcome from Professor Sarah O’Brien,  

Clinical Accountable Officer, NHS St Helens Clinical 

Commissioning Group / Strategic Director, St Helens 

Integrated People’s Services 

 

Welcome to our Annual Report for the year which runs from 1 

April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 

 

The last 12 months have been one of the most challenging 

periods for the NHS, both nationally and here in St Helens. The 

pressure on the health and social care system is no longer 

limited to the winter period but now exists all year round and we 

have once again seen unprecedented demand across primary, 

community, social and hospital care. 

 

Despite these challenges, we have been doing a huge amount of work over the past year to 

support better health and care outcomes for the people of St Helens, as well as building 

foundations for sustainable healthcare for our growing and changing population in the future.  

We haven’t been doing this work in isolation but have been working widely and in 

collaboration with the staff here at NHS St Helens CCG, St Helens Council and our local 

health and care partners to achieve this and 2018/19 has very much been about our journey 

towards further integrating health and social care in St Helens. 

 

We are very ambitious and have a clear vision for this delivery of joined up health and social 

care in our St Helens Cares plan1 and there have been a number of significant and exciting 

achievements during 2018/19 that have seen this plan begin to turn into a reality.  The CCG 

has now fully integrated with the St Helens Council People’s Services directorate and we are 

leading the way in the Cheshire and Merseyside Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

(STP) area in this respect, gaining a national profile and receiving a national award from 

Municipal Journal for our integration work and being nominated for several others. 

 

We have further strengthened our partnership with our neighbouring CCGs with the 

establishment of the Mid Mersey Joint Committee and have adopted a ‘lead provider’ 

collaboration agreement based on a legal memorandum of understanding which will see us 

working closely with a single principle provider of health and social care services.  We are 

the only area in Cheshire and Merseyside to progress such a provider alliance and 

committing to working closely together means that we can join up our resources and 

workforce to provide care more safely and efficiently. 

 

We have further developed our ‘Contact Cares’ service which is beginning to have an impact 

on the numbers of patients with a delayed transfer of care making us one of the best 

performers in the North West.  Our A&E attendances are static despite increased activity 

and despite a rise in non-elective admissions, we have a lower number than in many other 

areas in the country. 

                                                           
1
 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1509/plan-on-a-page.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1509/plan-on-a-page.pdf


 

 Page 4  

 

We were rated ‘good’ against NHS England’s CCG Assurance Framework for 2017/18 – an 

improved position on the previous financial year.   We were also rated ‘good’ for our 

leadership, again an improvement on ‘requires improvement’ of the previous year and ‘good’ 

for mental health, diabetes and cancer. 

 

This was the most challenging year we have faced financially as we started the year with a 

financial savings gap of £14.7m (4.4% of our allocation). Despite this we ended the year at 

‘break even’ against our allocation. This meant that the CCG were successful in improving 

our financial performance from a £4.8m deficit in 2017/18 to break even. We saw demand 

pressures emerge in year and some of the financial savings schemes did not deliver the full 

value of the savings required, but we were able to mitigate against this by developing 

alternative schemes in year to ensure that we met all of our financial targets set by NHS 

England. We continue to work hard to ensure that we achieve value for money for every 

pound spent in the borough and spend that money wisely on behalf of our residents. 

 

All this is very positive but we are well aware of the challenges we face and we cannot be 

complacent.  Mental health and suicide continues to be a real challenge as St Helens finds 

itself with one of the highest suicide rates in the country.  Working with our partners, we have 

a multi-agency suicide prevention action plan which sets out actions to reduce the risk and 

number of suicides in the borough.   

 

We have put a good deal of focus on the health and safeguarding of children this year 

working alongside our local authority colleagues to raise aspirations and ambition and 

ensure that children and young people in St Helens are safe and enjoy good physical and 

mental health and wellbeing.   

 

While we continue to face difficult challenges as our health services come under increased 

pressure, we are excited about the many opportunities and developments ahead of us in 

2019/20.  We are extremely proud of what we have achieved this year towards our vision of 

improving people’s lives in St Helens. 

 

 

 

 

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien 

Clinical Accountable Officer  

24th May 2019 
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Performance Overview 

 

Introduction 

 

This report is designed to give an overview of our priorities and achievements during 

2018/19 in what was a challenging year. 

 

In this section we explain our responsibilities, how we work and what some of our key 

achievements have been.  In the performance analysis that follows starting on page 27, 

there is further detail of our activities as well as our key healthcare indicators used to assess 

how well we have performed.  In the accountability report which starts on page 51 you can 

find out about our members, our Governing Body and our Executive Leadership Team and 

how the CCG makes decisions.  Finally, from page 109 onwards, you can see our annual 

accounts which we produce each year and submit to NHS England. 

 

Throughout the report, we have signposted to where you can view or find out further 

information. 

 

 

What we do 

 

NHS St Helens CCG is responsible for planning and commissioning healthcare services for 

a registered population of more than 197,500 people in St Helens. We also commission 

hospital services on behalf of the local community and have delegated responsibility from 

NHS England to commission and contract for the provision of primary health care including 

GP Practice services.  

 

We are one of more than 200 CCGs in England whose collective challenge is meeting the 

needs of a population growing in size, age and living with increasingly complex health 

conditions. Our annual budget of £334.9 million (excluding running cost allowance) has been 

allocated to us to spend on healthcare.  How we spend this money is described in further 

detail on page 18. 

 

 

About us, our community and how we work 

 

We are a clinically led membership organisation made up of our 34 local GP practices. Our 

GP Members Council, comprised of one GP clinical lead from each practice, meets every 

eight weeks throughout the year to discuss strategic issues and share best practice. 

 

The GP Members Council is supported by the Executive Leadership Team of the CCG and 

is a formal committee of the CCG.  It ensures a clinical voice in relation to our 

commissioning strategies and plans and holds our Governing Body to account. 

 

The CCG’s Governing Body includes GPs who take the lead for a clinical priority area to 

drive improvements.  Our Governing Body also includes three lay members (including a lay 

chair) and a secondary care doctor who help represent the patient voice and provide an 

independent view, rigour and challenge to the commissioning decisions for local services. 
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We ensure that our local population and patients are actively involved in the decisions which 

impact them. 

 

We are accountable to our members, local people and NHS England and we demonstrate 

this accountability in a number of ways: including holding our Governing Body and Primary 

Care Committee meetings in public, publishing our commissioning intentions and plan each 

year and producing our annual accounts which are independently audited. We promote good 

governance and proper stewardship of public resources in pursuance of our goals and in 

meeting our statutory duties.  

 

You can find out more about our roles and responsibilities and view our papers and minutes 

from our Governing Body and Primary Care Commissioning Committee on our website.2 

 

We work with a range of partners – beyond simply health and social care – to join up 

services, manage demand and improve the outcomes of people in St Helens. 

This is known as a local care system approach which we call St Helens Cares.  Our partners 

are NHS provider trusts, St Helens Council, Torus, Healthwatch, Halton and St Helens 

Voluntary Community Action, National Probation Service, Merseyside Fire and Rescue 

Service and Merseyside Police. 

 

We work together on a range of programmes to make sure our local community can: 

 Benefit from a transformed, integrated care system, in which they receive care and 

support that is joined up, of high quality, and affordable 

 Be supported and encouraged to do what they can to remain healthy, well and 

resilient 

 Live in a borough which encourages raising ambition, achieving aspirations, be 

connected and supports people to make the right choice. 

 

In June 2018 the CCG integrated with the People’s Services directorate of St Helens Council 

to further enable the integrated commissioning and delivery of health and social care.   

 

 

Achieving our Vision and Values  

 

Through our close partnership working with St Helens People’s Board, our joint Health and 

Wellbeing Board and Community Safety Partnership, and the continued development of St 

Helens Cares, we have a joint vision for the borough: 

 

“Improving people’s lives in St Helens together, by tackling the challenge of 

cost and demand.” 

 

We also work in partnership with other commissioners as part of the Cheshire and 

Merseyside Collaborative Commissioning Forum. This ensures that the community of St 

Helens receives high quality, modern, sustainable, needs-led and cost effective care within 

the financial budgets available and ensure that our plans fully reflect the priorities in the 

borough, through the Health and Wellbeing Strategy (see page 49 for a detailed description 

                                                           
2
 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/ 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/
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of this), underpinned by the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment with oversight at the 

St Helens People’s Board. 

 

Our operational plan for 2019/203 sets out our goals and strategies in relation to the 

integration of health and social care including how we plan to deliver the requirements of the 

NHS Long Term Plan.   

 

During 2018/19 the CCG has continued to embed its values: 

 

 Integrity – we will be honest and transparent when making difficult decisions, always 

aiming to do the right thing by the people in St Helens and treat everyone fairly 

 Compassion and respect – we will show care and compassion to all people, finding 

time for our staff, patients and the public without waiting to be asked, and valuing 

every patient and member of staff 

 Working together – we will aim for better connected health and social care, working 

differently to improve integration, involve our staff and the people of St Helens, 

working collaboratively across teams and organisations, working together to 

constantly improve health and social care in St Helens 

 Making a difference every day – we will improve the lives of people in St Helens, 

learning from everything that we do, constantly seeking to be innovative and 

improve, engaging with staff and people in St Helens and using this to drive 

improvement. 

 

Underpinning all of this is our commitment to value the St Helens pound and our aim to 

spend it wisely in an efficient and sustainable way. 

 

 

Key Areas of Development in 2018/19  
 

Our principle objectives during 2018/19 and the results of these were as follows: 

 

Objective Result 

To integrate health and care within the 

place of St Helens through system 

redesign 

We have fully integrated with the People’s 

Services directorate of the local authority and 

have a joint leadership team known as St Helens 

Integrated People’s Services. 

 

We have developed a ‘System Lead Provider 

Model’ that is supported by a legal arrangement 

that defines how all provider partners in St 

Helens will work together on key areas that 

influence healthcare demand in the borough. 

  

To deliver improved outcomes for people 

 

Health and care work programmes are now 

seeing improved outcomes in a number of areas 

that are detailed within the report. The impact 

                                                           
3
 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2999/operational-plan-201920-final-230319.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2999/operational-plan-201920-final-230319.pdf
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has been improved ways of delivering healthcare 

that has reduced demand for services for both 

routine and emergency care. 

  

To be recognised as good system 

leaders 

 

The NHS assurance framework assessed the 

CCG as ‘good’ for its leadership.  

 

We are a key partner in a number of joint 

partnerships and committees and are working 

with partners both within St Helens and across 

Cheshire and Merseyside to improve services for 

residents within our borough. 

 

To deliver financial stability 

 

Achieved a break even position, improving on 

our 2017/18 position by £4.8m. 

 

To support and transform primary care to 

be a system leader in St Helens Cares 

We are working to establish Primary Care 

Networks across St Helens that will allow GP 

practices to work together on a bigger scale to 

support sustainable primary care and enhance 

services.  

 

We have extended access to routine GP 

appointments throughout the borough, offering 

more appointments outside of normal business 

hours. We have developed schemes to enhance 

the health of those in  in care homes by having 

closer links to primary care and now offer social 

prescribing to residents which will be further 

rolled out in 2019/20. 

 

The section below describes in further detail how we delivered these objectives and the risks 

pertaining to these objectives can be seen in detail on page 75. 

 

The priority areas agreed for St Helens Cares 2018/19 were Adult Mental Health Community 

Pathways, Children’s Mental Health, Respiratory and Frailty. 

 

 

Integration Achievements 

 

The CCG focused its work on New Care Models in 2018/19 - delivering integrated health 

and social care provision for our residents.  While the CCG remains a statutory organisation, 

integration with the local authority has enabled us to further pool our resources and maturing 

of our relationships has enabled us to design and deliver a robust governance structure. 

 

In March 2019, we signed a legal partnership agreement with St Helens Council - Section 75 

of the National Health Service Act 2006 - to consolidate our existing partnership agreements. 

This provides a strategic partnership to enable the council and ourselves to meet our 
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statutory obligations and aspirations to improve the health and wellbeing of the population 

we both serve. 

 

A further significant achievement has been the overview of our governance processes to 

ensure they support our integrated working.  We agreed the establishment of an integrated 

finance and performance board which has now had its first development session.  A key 

responsibility of this board going forward will be the oversight of the significant integrated 

commissioning fund. 

 

A business intelligence (BI) hub has also been established which encompasses the CCG, 

provider trust and local authority teams with all partners now working together to develop 

business intelligence needed to support health and care across the borough. This puts BI at 

the heart of the development of the local care system. We recognised that effective data 

sharing and activity analysis will be key to informing decision-making, and to removing 

duplication from the system to improve efficiency. 

 

 

Contact Cares 

 

A key component of our vision for integration has been the further development of Contact 

Cares (previously known as Integrated Access St Helens – IASH) which is the ‘front door’ to 

a broad range of multi-disciplinary health and care services that focus on integrated health 

and care activity under one roof.  This operates in three different tiers:  initial contact and 

assessment over the phone and then onward referral; face to face assessment with onward 

short term interventions and service provision such as transitional tenancies, intermediate 

care beds, reablement, and the hospital avoidance car to support people who have fallen.  

 

 

St Helens Shared Care Record 

 

The St Helens Shared Care Record was rolled out across health and 

social care partner organisations in the borough from November 2018 

onwards. This ensures that all relevant authorised professionals now 

have access to the health and care records of residents registered with 

a St Helens GP, enabling them to make better clinical judgements and 

see the whole picture of the person they are caring for.  All governance 

arrangements have been developed to ensure that the data held for our 

residents is appropriately used with the correct consent in place.  The 

system went live ahead of schedule and was achieved with little 

additional funding and is now enabling health and care professionals to 

work in a truly integrated way.  A leaflet and animated film was 

produced in January 2019 explaining to the public and professionals 

what the record is and how it will help professionals improve the care 

and treatment that people receive.4 Taking into account the low reading age of the St Helens 

population, a number of reading groups read and commented on this prior to publication and 

an easy read version was also produced.  

                                                           
4
 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ad7ky4Ncm0Y 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ad7ky4Ncm0Y
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The Locality Model 

 

In addition to Contact Cares, the connected vision that has also begun to take shape during 

2018/19 is the development and roll out of our locality model for health and social care with 

input from the voluntary and third sector for both Children and Adults.   

 

This model ensures that individuals remain at the centre of our service approach with key 

services such as community nursing, working in four localities to wrap around the needs of 

patients, with identified locality service leads for ease of access and both co-ordination and 

communication for professionals.  Locality teams consist of general practice, community 

nurses, housing services, community therapy and social care.   

 

The design of the Four Acre Hub in 2018/19 is also the start of establishing the first viable 

community based model of support in the south locality at the Four Acre community centre.  

This will see the above teams co-located under one roof and include a community shop and 

sports facility.  

 

 

Primary Care 

 

Primary Care Networks are seen in the NHS Long Term Plan as the essential building 

blocks of every integrated health and care system going forward with general practice taking 

a leading role meaning networks rather than individual practices have to come together to 

deliver a wider range of services.   

 

We are working with these Primary Care Networks to ensure that the area has 100% 

geographical coverage by July 2019 so no patients or practices are disadvantaged and that 

they are able to deliver a number of national service specifications. Five of these will start by 

April 2020: structured medication reviews, enhanced health in care homes, anticipatory care 

(with community services), personalised care and supporting early cancer diagnosis. The 

remaining two will start by 2021: cardiovascular disease case finding and locally agreed 

action to tackle inequalities. 

 

To do this the networks will be expected to provide a wider range of primary care services to 

patients, involving a wider set of staff roles, for example, extended access and social 

prescribing – two areas that we have begun to deliver in 2018/19. 

 

We piloted a risk stratification model of care with the aim of identifying people who are more 

likely to require hospital or long-term care in the future and providing more intensive support 

at an earlier stage. This reduces the risk and so reduces the number of people who go into 

A&E or hospital unnecessarily, or need long-term social care.  The pilot was established 

utilising Multidisciplinary Team Coordinators and multiple health and social care 

professionals to identify and wrap services around individuals deemed to be at high risk.  We 

now plan to roll this out across the borough using the locality model approach described 

above. 

 

Ensuring that all care homes are supported by a consistent team of multi-disciplinary 

healthcare professionals delivering both proactive and reactive care led by named GPs and 

Nurse Practitioners is a key requirement in the NHS Long Term Plan. We approved a 
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scheme delivering enhanced health in care homes ahead of the national guidance which 

should commence in June 2019. 

 

Social prescribing has also been identified as a priority in the NHS Long Term Plan to help 

reduce contact with primary care, A&E attendance, emergency admissions and improve 

health and wellbeing for people with a predominantly social rather than medical need.  We 

began a one year social prescribing pilot in eight GP practices in June 2018 which has now 

been extended to December 2019.  Around 50% of people referred have gone on to receive 

further interventions with many of them showing positive outcomes – improved health and 

wellbeing scores and accessing services in the community.  Staff members from Torus, the 

local housing trust, and the Department of Work and Pensions have been seconded to the 

pilot to work alongside health trainers to provide housing and benefits/financial advice. 

 

Our Equality lead is currently working with the Primary Care team to improve access and 

outcomes for communities who experience disadvantage. This work includes the reasonable 

adjustment and accessible information strategy.  

 

We have continued to develop our online consultation programme to empower patients and 

make it easier for clinicians to deliver high quality care using digital technology. Following a 

purchase of new software to enable this, the programme will be rolled out to practices from 

April 2019 along with new practice websites 

 

One of our key challenges in delivering all of the 

above has been recruitment to primary care. Along 

with NHS England, we funded a campaign in the 

British Medical Journal to raise the profile of St 

Helens and attract GP workforce to the area.  This 

enabled practices to advertise as part of a wider 

campaign rather than place individual 

advertisements which resulted in significant interest 

and a rise in applications for posts in St Helens. 

 

In 2018/19, we arranged a series of planned visits to 10 GP member practices that had the 

highest number of A&E and non-elective attendances following an analysis of secondary 

care data.  A number of themes were identified following the visits, with work now ongoing in 

relation to quality improvement in these practices to improve outcomes and reduce variation 

and inequalities. 

 

 

Improving Healthcare Pathways 

 

During 2018/19 we have worked with primary care, community services and St Helens and 

Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on aspects of clinical pathway redesign with the 

aim to redesign services to better meet the needs of our ageing population and growing 

demand:  

 

Dermatology 

The use of technology and innovative ways of working have been explored with primary care 

and the St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and we began the rollout of 



 

 Page 13  

 

utilising images with referrals in general practice to promote digital technology and increase 

the GP’s ability to effectively triage patients.  

 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 

Redesign of our COPD service is reaching a conclusion looking at the service and pathway 

from diagnosis right through to treatment and rehabilitation.  In addition, we have worked 

with neighbouring CCGs and St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust to pilot 

a respiratory nurse service in the A&E department with a view to managing patients out of 

hospital following assessment.  This is being fully evaluated after demonstrating a reduction 

in admissions to hospital for full roll out post pilot phase.  

 

Stroke 

During 2018/19 under the auspices of the Mid Mersey Joint Committee, work has been 

ongoing to move to phase two of the reconfiguration of Mid Mersey Stroke services with the 

establishment of a single stroke unit for the Mid Mersey area. 

 

This was originally planned to commence in October 2018 but due to complexities linked to 

contracting, ambulance services and a need to further define pathways, this date was not 

possible.  However, during the year, St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

and Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust along with commissioners have 

worked diligently and collaboratively to agree the finer details and phase two is now on track 

to go live on 1st April 2019 which will see all people who have a stroke in the Mid Mersey 

area taken to Whiston Hospital.  

 

As part of the preparation for the new service, the trust has been using telehealth to follow 

up some patients for their six month review post stroke. This development has been positive 

and saves patients having to come into hospital reducing disruption to their day.  It is also 

part of the trust’s work on providing outpatient appointments in an innovative fashion. 

 

Cancer 

We continue to work with local stakeholders to deliver our 

Cancer Action Strategy5 which is overseen by the multi 

professional cancer action group which meets regularly 

throughout the year. Our main local cancer care provider, St 

Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

achieved a higher than average score in the national cancer 

patient experience survey – 8.9/10 against an average of 

8.8. The trust was also the best performer across the 

Cheshire and Mersey Cancer Alliance in a number of areas 

including providing patients with details of support groups and access to information on 

financial help.  Our main challenge is ensuring we achieve the best outcomes for patients 

with cancer and the speed at which they are diagnosed and meeting the NHS constitutional 

targets set.  In 2018/19 we just missed achieving the target set two week waits.  We have 

been engaging with patients to ensure they attend their first referral appointment for 

suspected cancer.  We have also been working with our Public Health on implementing HPV 

                                                           
5
 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1747/cancer-strategy.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1747/cancer-strategy.pdf
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primary screening and changes to the bowel screening programme and the impact on 

cancer treatment services going forward. 

 

Additionally, our GP cancer clinical lead, who is also a Governing Body member, has 

provided clinical input for St Helens in the development of the Eastern Sector Cancer Hub 

transformation project which is aimed at transforming specialist non-surgical cancer care for 

the people of St Helens, Halton, Knowsley and Warrington. 

 

Diabetes 

We continue to deliver the national NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (DPP) along with 

our Public Health team and St Helens has an estimated 17,000 people at risk of developing 

Type 2 diabetes.  Since July 2018, 648 have been referred to the programme which helps 

them to lose weight with 316 of these then attending an initial assessment and continuing on 

to the programme. We are the best performing CCG in Cheshire and Merseyside for 

referrals to the DPP. 

 

Mental Health 

Mental health and suicide continues to be a real challenge as St Helens finds itself with one 

of the highest suicide rates in the country.  28 suicides were recorded in 2017, mainly among 

young and middle aged men, and we know we have to work hard to stem this tide.  St 

Helens has now put in place a multi-agency suicide prevention strategy which sets out 

actions to reduce the risk and number of suicides in the borough up to 2020. This includes 

plans to help those affected by providing information, services, resources and training.  We 

also took part in St Helens memorial service of reflection for those affected by suicide.  

 

In May 2018 we set up our Core 24 Liaison service which is an extension of the existing 

mental health liaison service at Whiston Hospital.  This now provides a 24 hour service, 

seven days a week and has enabled us to see all patients who present at A&E with a mental 

health need in one hour; ensure a care plan is in place within four hours and see any 

inpatient at the hospital within 24 hours if a Mental Health Assessment is requested.  

 

We are working with our partners, in particular North West Boroughs Healthcare NHS 

Foundation Trust, to reduce and stop out of area placements for adult mental health 

rehabilitation patients. Over the year we have significantly reduced the number of these 

placements and repatriated as many as possible to either more local facilities that meet their 

needs or transferred back into the community and encouraged care managers and 

coordinators to always look at alternative options if appropriate before we agree to place a 

patient out of area. Our investment has been used to increase the staffing numbers to 

support people on discharge in a timely manner which is freeing up beds for other 

admissions. 

 

We have focused on Acquired Brain Injury (ABI) provision and although we commission the 

appropriate beds, we are reviewing pathways and performance. Nationally the demand for 

ABI beds has increased so we are ensuring that we commission the appropriate beds to 

meet the demand with this work still ongoing. 
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Integrated Urgent Care 

We have worked with partners including St Helens 

and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, 

community and primary care to achieve Urgent 

Treatment Centre status (UTC) for the St Helens 

Walk in Centre.   

 

Development of UTCs were part of the NHS Five Year Forward View and we met the 

national targets in terms of timescales for delivery.  The Walk in Centre was upgraded and 

renamed the St Helens Urgent Treatment Centre and now has a GP on site working with the 

team to see and treat patients who need an advanced level of care and to further avoid the 

need for patients to go to A&E.   

 

We also delivered the national requirements of GP extended access in October 2018 

meaning all St Helens residents now have access to additional GP appointments pre-

bookable from the patient’s own practice outside of normal working hours at three hubs in 

Rainhill, Haydock and the town centre with a fourth to be added later in 2019.   

 

 

Frailty Services 

 

Making improvements to care within our frailty services has also been a key priority in 

2018/19.  We have worked to integrate the teams across the community and secondary care 

in order to deliver a more responsive and holistic service to patients.  The service is 

delivered by St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust and has been in place for a year, 

with established referral routes from both primary care and acute services, using contact 

cares as a key point of access. There is a two hour urgent response service to prevent 

admissions and a 72 hours response.  IT solutions that support the management of frailty 

across teams are also a key focus.  We will continue to work with health and social care 

teams in 2019/20 to make further improvements to the frailty service in working to keep 

people living well and independently in the community.   

 

 

Continuing Healthcare 

 

We have a fully integrated CHC team with the local authority and provide a full end-to-end 

service including appeals and disputes. This has given us greater oversight and 

transparency when dealing with disputes and ensures the service user or their family/carer 

receives a continuity of case management and most importantly compassion and 

understanding of their case.  

 

The team is patient focussed with regards to assessment and care needs.  In 2018/19 a 

decision about eligibility was made in over 86% of cases within 28 days against a national 

target of 80% and 0% of assessments were completed in a hospital setting against the 

national target of 15% or less. This has been achieved through the integrated approach, 

eliminating the risk of challenge against each other’s organisation at any stage of the 

process.  Numbers of CHC packages have remained stable throughout the year, however 

complexity of cases has led to increased costs. 
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Children’s Health and Safeguarding 

 

St Helens secured early adopter site status in terms of the NSPCC harmful sexual 

behaviours framework (HSB). We have a local implementation plan and the implementation 

group is chaired by our Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children and includes three 

health representatives from the local health provider services. We have supported these 

professionals to ensure that their contribution to the implementation of HSB locally is 

effective in both their influence on their organisation and their partnership involvement.  The 

implementation group were interviewed and filmed about using the HSB framework. These 

films feature on the NSPCC Learning website6 and have been shared across social media, 

raising the profile of St Helens as an early adopter site. 

 

In March 2019, Governing Body approved the establishment of a new statutory safeguarding 

partnership.  We are one of three safeguarding partner agencies with the local authority and 

Merseyside Police who will now work to deliver new multi-agency safeguarding 

arrangements to ensure effective practice across St Helens to safeguard all children. 

 

 

Multi-Agency Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and 

Families in St Helens, 2019-2022 
 

We contributed to the multi-agency St Helens Early 

Help Strategy which was approved by Governing 

Body in April 2019.7 The document features an 

acronym STEP UP which identifies areas of priority 

and supports clear measures of success. The 

strapline “In St Helens we will STEP UP and work 

together to provide Early Help; so that children, 

young people and families are safe, healthy and are 

supported to grow and be happy” was determined by 

the writing group and highlights what the strategy intends to do.  

 

 

We carried out a review and full implementation of the neurodevelopmental pathway for 

children and young people to improve access for assessment and diagnosis and provision of 

appropriate support.  We also implemented the standards and processes for the 

‘transforming care for children and young people’ programme for those on the autism 

spectrum and/or with learning disabilities at risk of hospital admission. This work supports 

multi-agency assessment and planning for effective and safe care planning 

 

  

                                                           
6
 https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2019/harmful-sexual-behaviour-framework/ 

7
 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3006/early-help-strategy-february-2019.pdf  

https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/2019/harmful-sexual-behaviour-framework/
https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3006/early-help-strategy-february-2019.pdf
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In May 2019, Duncan Selbie, chief executive of Public Health England (PHE) visited a 

number of projects in St Helens to look at what integrated work we were doing and how it 

was making a difference to the health outcomes of people in the local area.  

 

He wrote in his weekly PHE blog that “long before the concept was included in the NHS 

Long Term Plan, St Helens had enacted integrated, place based working simply because it 

was the right thing to do with people at the centre of all services.  This brings together NHS 

commissioning with children’s and adult social care, public health and educational 

improvement and they have realised that by leaving organisational self-interest at the door, 

they can work together to win together… Good leadership knows that the failure of any one 

service would pull the others down, and in St Helens they are safeguarding against this. 

They have an intensely proud past in mining and glass and while their health profile reflects 

the loss of these industries, they are creating a new narrative and are seeing steady 

improvement in a number of health indicators and major new investments in jobs and 

homes. This is exactly the joined up, future proofing and smart working we need to 

encourage and support everywhere and a big well done to them for showing the way” 

 

 

 

 

 

Engagement  

 

On all areas of work, in particular the redesign of healthcare pathways, we have engaged 

with both stakeholders and the public/patients to ensure that our community are given the 

opportunity to be involved in and to influence healthcare in their local area. Further detail on 

how we engaged during 2018/19 can be found in the section on Engaging People and 

Communities on page 39. 
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Financial Summary  
 

The CCG was placed in NHS directions in 2016 due primarily to our challenged financial 

position. Although we met our financial targets in 2017/18, the directions were not lifted for 

2018/19 and the focus has remained on our financial position. 

 

2018/19 has been the most challenging one that we have faced financially. We started the 

year with a financial savings target of £14.7m (4.4% of allocation) and the challenge to meet 

a break even control total (compared to a £4.8m deficit in 2017/18).  

 

In year we faced further emerging demand pressures which led to budget overspends and 

not all of the savings schemes implemented delivered the full year impact required. We 

developed a series of mitigating actions at the mid-year point that were intended to ensure 

that we achieved its break even target. 

 

We are very pleased to report that we achieved a break even financial position for 2018/19 

which means that we have remained compliant with these legal directions and NHS England 

has not raised any concerns in this regard.   

 

We also met all of our targets for ensuring that invoices are paid to suppliers in a timely 

manner (within 30 days of invoice date or date of receipt of goods) and also ensured that we 

met the requirement  to keep cash balances to a minimum at year end.  

 

The main element of our funding is the ‘programme’ allocation, which is for the 

commissioning of health services including delegated primary care co-commissioning 

funding. For 2018/19 our in-year allocation for programme expenditure was £334.9m. 

 

We also receive a running cost allowance, which covers the administration and management 

of the CCG, which equated to £4.2m. We cannot use the programme allocation to increase 

the running cost allowance, although any underspend on its running costs can be used to 

support the commissioning of healthcare services. 

 

These two allocations equate to the total in year revenue allocation of £339.1m.  This 

allocation includes £4m additional non-recurrent support provided by NHS England in the 

last quarter of the financial year.  We were set a ‘control total’ by NHS England to break 

even against our allocation. We have spent £339.1m; therefore we are reporting a break 

even position.   

 

We received a capital expenditure allocation of £0.1m which was allocated specifically for 

the purchase of new IT equipment and was spent in year; and we also received a growth 

allocation of 2.8% within 2018/19. However, the increase in demand for health services for 

the people of St Helens remains a significant pressure on this allocation and the cost of 

healthcare continues to be greater than the allocation received.  

 

Of the original efficiency savings identified of £14.7m, we successfully achieved savings of 

£6.97m in the following budgetary areas: 
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Table 1 – QIPP Savings 

 

All efficiency saving programmes are subject to both equality impact assessments (EIAs) 

and quality impact assessments (QIAs) which are approved by the our Governing Body. 

 

Demand Pressures  

 

During 2018/19, demand pressures continued to emerge. These pressures were most 

prevalent in the following areas: 

 

 Acute hospital services – £4.6m Increased demand for emergency and urgent care 

continued to place considerable pressure on hospital budgets in year 

 

 Continuing Healthcare (CHC) – £0.7m Budgetary pressure has continued for St 

Helens residents entitled to continuing healthcare. This is not unique to St Helens 

and is a consequence of an ageing population requiring continuing healthcare, 

therefore there are not only a higher volume of residents entitled to CHC, but also an 

increased complexity of need amongst these residents, which places this budget 

under increasing pressure annually. However, the pressures on these budgets 

started to stabilise in the latter half of the financial year 

 

 Mental Health out of borough placements – £0.4m We have faced pressure as a 

result of patients requiring treatments out of the borough at a high cost. During the 

year, the CCG has been delivering plans to bring some of these patients back into 

the borough for their treatment. Whilst the CCG has had some success in this 

repatriation, there remains a financial pressure due to an increased volume of 

patients and increases in complexity of care needed. Again, this pressure has started 

to stabilise throughout the latter half of the year but the nature of these costs mean 

that a very low volume of patients can have very high financial costs and this can be 

difficult to predict, therefore it remains a volatile budget 

 

 Prescribing budget and medicines management – the prescribing budget for 

2018/19 was 1.32% less than in the previous year. In-year cost pressures included 

Theme 2019/20 QIPP savings plan

Annual 

plan

Total 

Savings
Variance

Clinical Pathway Redesigns 728 561 167

Criteria based clinical treatments 1,818 1,017 801

Improved Referral Management 182 140 42

Review of follow up appointments 680 - 680

Adults Urgent Care 6,349 1,732 4,617

Childrens urgent care redesign 213 213

Medicines Mgt Prescribing  optimisation 2,500 2,021 479

Mental Health Mental health out of area placements 352 147 205

Continuing Healthcare Continuing Healthcare efficiency 680 130 550

Contractual challenges Contractual challenges 955 955 -

Running costs Running cost savings 270 270 -

Total planned QIPP schemes 14,727 6,973 7,754

Mitigations Additional replacement schemes / mitigations - 3,754 (3,754)

Total QIPP 14,727 10,727 4,000

£000's

Elective Schemes

Non-Elective Schemes
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the addition of flash glucose monitoring to the Pan Mersey formulary and ongoing 

pressures from NCSO (no cheaper stock obtainable) classified medication. In an 

attempt to balance the prescribing budget and as an important solution to managing 

demand and keeping the NHS sustainable, there was a continued drive to encourage 

patients to ‘self-care’. The ‘self-care’ initiative involves patients either purchasing 

medicines themselves for the treatment of minor ailments, or obtaining them from the 

locally commissioned minor ailments service. Reducing the amount of wasted 

medicines remains a challenge and puts an additional pressure on the prescribing 

budget. 

 

We have continued to face pressure as a result of some medications prescribed by GPs 

being in short supply nationally. This has driven up the cost of those drugs and as a result, 

has cost us more than anticipated. However, through delivery of a successful medicines 

management programme, we have been able to break even against its prescribing budgets. 

 

We have been able to deliver efficiency savings to achieve the control total and meet the 

cost of rising emerging demand throughout the year by taking several key actions: 

 

 Identification of budgets where formal commitments had not been made. In some 

cases transformational schemes originally planned in 2018/19 will happen in 

2019/20, therefore this puts pressure into future years 

 Management of activity in secondary care providers, particularly on elective care, in 

collaboration with providers of care, whilst ensuring that quality of care was 

unaffected and referral to treatment times continued to meet constitutional targets 

 Reviewing whether correct charges have been applied for care in a hospital setting, 

particularly focussing on those patients with a very short length of stay in hospital 

 Reviewing risk share arrangements in place with partners 

 Reviewing prescribing patterns to ensure that costs fall within the correct financial 

year 

 Successful bids for additional funding to support the CCG in delivery of services, 

such as the receipt of funding towards improvement of IT infrastructure costs 

 

Therefore, despite a very challenging year financially, we have been able to deliver our 

financial plan.  This represents an exceptional achievement, despite significant pressures on 

acute, mental health, drugs and continuing healthcare budgets.  
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Table 2 below summarises our performance against its statutory financial duties  

 

 
 

How was the money spent in 2018/19?  

 

We have faced some difficult choices when deciding on spending priorities in year and will 

continue to do so in the future. It is particularly important as we work towards financial 

recovery and sustainability that Governing Body, management team and CCG staff 

members work hard to ensure that the entire budget is spent wisely, and that it supports the 

aim of commissioning high quality healthcare for its population, whilst ensuring 

effectiveness, value for money and sustainability in the long term. 

 

 

Figure 1: Allocations to the CCG were spent as follows:  

 

 

 
 

 

  

Statutory Duties 2018/9
Target 

£m 

Actual 

£m 

Variance 

£m
 Met?

Expenditure not to exceed income 343.7 343.7 0.0

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in directions 0.1 0.1 0.0

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in directions 339.1 339.1 0.0

Revenue administration resource use does not 

exceed the amount specified in directions 4.2 3.7 -0.5
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Value for Money in 2018/19 

 

We have sought to achieve value for money throughout the year in areas such as: 

 

 Continued optimisation of the referral management system to ensure that patients 

are seen in the most appropriate setting and not automatically sent to a hospital 

setting where an alternative community based provision is in place, with increased 

provision for clinical triage in additional specialties 

 Continuing to reduce unwarranted variation in care by embedding the commissioning 

for value/right care approach in order to address areas of expenditure where costs 

are high but outcomes are relatively poor and identifying and addressing variation in 

primary care  

 Changes to care pathways to enhance quality in an efficient way 

 Reviewing medicines management and prescribing, ensuring medicines waste is 

eliminated where possible and that patients are on the most appropriate medicines 

 Schemes that have addressed non-elective admissions such as establishing new 

community beds to avoid the need for a hospital admission, the development of the 

shared care record, a focus on identifying patients at risk of hospital admission and 

wrapping care around those patients, the development of the Urgent Care Treatment 

Centre, implementation of an extended access service for primary care and the 

expansion of a single integrated point of access to services known as ‘Contact Cares’  

 Developing use of Social Prescribing 

 Development of a primary care model to enhance care in care homes 

 Embedding our estates strategy to use better quality premises more effectively to 

release older premises for disposal 

 Continuing to spend less on procedures that have less clinical value so that 

resources can be used more efficiently 

 Development of a joint business intelligence hub across the borough to ensure the 

most efficient use of data available to the CCG and partners. 

 

Our external auditors will be required to give their statutory conclusion on arrangements to 

secure value for money.  

 

When considering the Value for Money Audit Opinion, the National Audit Office guidance 

asks auditors to consider whether: 

 

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys 

resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.” 

 

This covers three specific areas - sustainable resource development, informed decision 

making and working with partners and third parties. The auditors will specifically consider 

areas such as: 

 

 The financial position of the CCG and whether it has achieved its control total 

 CCG arrangements for agreeing budgets and savings plans 

 How the CCG communicates to key committees 

 Arrangements for working with other partners and also working across the Cheshire 

and Mersey footprint 
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 Arrangements for monitoring budget performance and risks and also arrangements 

for ensuring that services commissioned are effective. 

 

Given the financial pressures faced, we have worked hard during 2018/19 to put in place 

arrangements to ensure that it commissions value for money services.  

 

Key to this is the project management approach to financial recovery taken. This 

establishes: 

 

 Key themes for recovery 

 Clear leadership for the recovery process 

 Clear accountability and ownership of each of the key themes across the 

organisation 

 Clear risk reporting 

 Formal systems for reporting progress through the CCG’s governance routes. 

 

In considering arrangements to achieve value for money, the organisation can take 

confidence from our strong internal audit results on budgetary controls, financial reporting 

and financial systems for 2018/19, as we have secured significant assurances in these 

areas. 

 

External audit concluded that the CCG has proper arrangements to secure economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources except for sustainable resource 

deployment. 

 

Going Concern  

 

The CCG's financial accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by the NHS 

Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).   

 

We have undertaken an assessment of our status as a going concern.  We have achieved a 

break even position in-year and despite the historic deficit from previous years, the in-year 

trends improved year on year. However, we were required to submit a recovery plan to NHS 

England in April 2019 concentrating on long term sustainability in view of the use of non-

recurrent measures to meet the position over the last two years. 

 

Regardless, for non-trading entities in the public sector, the anticipated continuation of the 

provision of a service in the future, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that 

service in published documents, is normally sufficient evidence of going concern.  

 

Therefore the accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis in that: 

 

 Healthcare services will continue to be provided for residents of St Helens 

 The CCG has achieved financial balance in 2018/19 and have developed a long-term 

plan for delivering its statutory financial duties on a sustainable funding basis. 
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Looking Forward to 2019/20 and beyond 

 

St Helens Integrated People’s Services, consisting of the CCG and local authority People’s 

Services Directorate, has developed six key components of what success will look like for 

the borough. By 2021: 

 

 We will support a higher proportion of people to stay well in their own community; 

 We will increase the number of children and families receiving early help and reduce 

the number requiring statutory intervention; 

 With primary heads, secondary heads and the council working in partnership: 

 Every child will attend a ‘good’ school with outcomes in line with national 

average; 

 The gap between vulnerable students and peers will decrease;  

 We will improve healthy life expectancy and decrease the gap between the best and 

worst wards by targeting; healthy weight, physical activity, wellbeing and community 

support and we will:  

 Decrease the number of specific alcohol related hospital admissions; 

 Increase the number of volunteers in St Helens; 

 We will improve the lives of people experiencing poor mental health: 

 Decrease admissions for those known to service; 

 Improve timely access to mental health services (adults & children); 

 We will be a financially sustainable health economy. 

 

The further development of St Helens Cares will ensure we strive to meet these outcomes in 

everything we do.   

 

We have continued to develop strong relationships with all to ensure that these changes can 

be introduced effectively in St Helens and support the overall strategic objective of a 

sustainable public service for the borough. Following intentions laid out in the NHS Long 

Term Plan, our transformation schemes going forward will include: 

 

 The development of Primary Care Networks, supporting and grouping general 

practices into networks and integration with other primary, community and social care 

services in the St Helens Cares model to deliver primary care in a more sustainable 

and efficient way  

 A medicines optimisation programme to ensure best value is achieved from 

medicines prescribed in primary care 

 Further review of elective pathways including dermatology, ENT and outpatients 

services, using digital technology to improve pathways where possible, such as the 

use of virtual clinics 

 A focus on treatments identified nationally as not to be undertaken routinely as they 

often are limited in clinical value 

 Continuation and further development of the schemes that have effectively reduced 

non-elective demand in 2018/19 such as Contact Cares, continued roll out of the St 

Helens Shared Care Record, extending the risk stratification model piloted in 

2018/19, extending the use of social prescribing, development of the enhanced 

primary care in care homes scheme 
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 Focus on non-elective pathways such as the use of ambulatory care and admission 

that are for less than one day, with the aim of reducing length of stays of non-elective 

admissions 

 Enhanced mental health services, such as continuation of the Core 24 scheme 

started in 2018/19 where patient attending A&E with mental health needs get 

targeted intervention and support. 

 

We face another challenging year financially and start the year with an efficiency savings 

target of £14.6m (4.2% of allocation).  We received additional allocations in year of £16.9m 

(5.09%) to cover growth and demand pressures. However, the increase must cover the 

additional prices of acute hospital activity due to the NHS pay award, and ‘Provider 

Sustainability’ funding - previously paid directly to providers but is now within tariff prices. 

 

In addition to other commitments that every CCG must deliver, such as mental health 

investment, this means that there is very little available for growth and demand pressures.  

We have also delivered our financial position in the last two years using some mitigations 

which helped the position in 2017/18 and 2018/19 but this does not address the underlying 

demand pressures. 

 

2018/19 saw further developments in relation to the Cheshire & Merseyside Health and Care 

Partnership. We are committed to continuing to support the Partnership in 2019/20 and as 

noted above have set aside 0.5% of its budget to support transformation programmes across 

the region. For the CCG this equates to £1.59m. We are expecting that £635k of this funding 

will be returned to the CCG to pay for additional transitional beds in the system to ensure 

that hospital admissions are avoided where possible, or that patients can be discharged to 

intermediate care beds where appropriate to avoid hospital stays that are lengthier than they 

should be.   

 

We are hoping to be able to access up to £2m ‘commissioner sustainability funding’ if we 

meet certain criteria in year, most notably delivery of the financial plan.  

 

However, we have a solid foundation on which to build these plans as we have worked hard 

during 2018/19 to develop plans that reduce the demand for health services, which not only 

save money, but more importantly, enhance the quality of care received by residents of St 

Helens. These schemes are referenced in the Value for Money section above.  

 

Some of these schemes will be further developed in to 2019/20 to expand on these 

successes and we have once again developed a detailed plan on delivery of savings.  

 

The scale of the financial and performance challenge remains significant and, along with all 

our health and care partners, we will have to continue to work collaboratively to achieve this. 

Plans are in development for 2019/20 and beyond and we recognise that we will continue to 

be faced with difficult choices on spending priorities over the coming years. The plans for 

financial recovery in the long term can only be effectively delivered if all partners in St 

Helens Cares commit to system wide recovery. Partners are developing a systems wide 

financial recovery plan with a view to long term financial sustainability for all partners within 

St Helens Cares. 
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The principal risks to our financial position continue to be: 

 

 Schemes not delivering the required level of demand reductions and savings 

 Demand growth in acute care being in excess of the assumptions made when 

financial planning 

 Growth in the cost and volume of continuing healthcare cases and high cost mental 

health placements out of areas 

 Managing the GP prescribing budget 

 A significant amount of the financial savings plan has yet to be formalised through 

discussions with all partners across the system 

 The transformation fund monies contributed to Cheshire and Mersey Health 

Partnerships must deliver savings at least equal to the value contributed. 

 

Through St Helens Cares, we continue to work in an integrated way with all partners across 

St Helens and seek to manage and mitigate these risks. This will include integrated 

commissioning with the local authority and developing the role of providers by working 

towards a lead provider arrangement which ensures that the provision of healthcare is 

integrated across the borough.  

 

In addition we will continue to ensure that routine controls, governance and contract 

management remain robust.  The internal structures which will help the CCG deal with these 

risks are detailed in the Governance section at page 64. 
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How we measure our performance 
 

We assess performance against key local and national measures every month and report 

these to our Governing Body.  We do not manage performance in isolation and even where 

data and targets show that a service is performing well, we look at this data alongside the 

reports on the quality and safety of the services we commission alongside the patient 

experience. 

 

Performance reporting to Governing Body covers CCG performance in line with NHS 

Constitutional requirements, Quality Premium and a range of local metrics, some of which 

are used for the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF)by NHS England.   

 

 

How we have performed  
 

NHS Constitution Requirements 

 

We are committed to meeting the requirements outlined in the NHS Constitution and taking 

action to make improvements where performance is below expectation. 

 

In 2018/19 we performed well against our key constitutional requirements.  These indicators 

are reported to and monitored through our Governing Body and its formal committees, 

specifically the Finance and Performance Committee and Quality Committee. These can all 

be found in Governing Body minutes on the CCG website8. 

 

The performance standards of the NHS Constitution are split into the following main 

categories (Table 3):  

 
 

 

 

Note –  STHK – St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals  

 W&H – Warrington and Hospital Hospitals 

AUHT – Aintree Hospital 

WWL – Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Hospitals  

S&O – Southport and Formby Hospitals  

  

                                                           
8
 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/governing-body-meeting-schedule/  

 
 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/governing-body-meeting-schedule/
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Table 3 

  

St Helens CCG NHS CONSTITUTION MEASURES PERFORMANCE

Target 

(%)
2017/18 2018/19

Variance to 

2017/18

Patients on incomplete non-emergency 

pathways (yet to start treatment should 

have been waiting no more than 18 weeks 

from referral)

92% 93.4% 93.5% 0.1%

Zero tolerance of over 52 week waiters 0 4 14 10

Diagnostic test 

waiting times 

Patients waiting for a diagnostic test 

should have been waiting less than 6 

weeks from referral

Below 1% 0.48%

1.26%

Apr-Nov 18 Excludes 

STHK Data

0.8%

Patients should be admitted, transferred or 

discharged within 4 hours of their arrival at 

an A&E department (St Helens CCG)

95% 90.2% 87.1% -3.1%

No waits from decision to admit to 

admission (trolley waits) over 12 hours 

STHK ONLY

0 0 0 0.0%

Category 1 Best Response Average 00:07:00 N/A 00:08:18 N/A

Category 2 Best Response Average 00:18:00 N/A 00:27:02 N/A

Category 3 Best Response Average 02:00:00 N/A 02:53:23 N/A

Category 4 Best Response Average 03:00:00 N/A 03:15:51 N/A

Maximum two-week wait for first 

outpatient appointment for patients 

referred urgently with suspected cancer by 

a GP

93% 95.4% 93.0% -2.4%

Maximum two-week wait for first 

outpatient appointment for patients 

referred urgently with breast symptoms 

(where cancer was not initially suspected

93% 95.6% 92.5% -3.0%

Maximum one month (31-day wait from 

diagnosis to first definitive treatment for 

all cancers)

96% 97.7% 97.4% -0.2%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 

treatment where that treatment is surgery
94% 97.1% 96.2% -0.9%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 

treatment where that treatment is an anti-

cancer drug regimen

98% 99.4% 99.3% 0.0%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent 

treatment where the treatment is a course 

of radiotherapy 

94% 98.6% 98.6% 0.0%

CCG Performance - key constitutional rights and pledges

Cancer waits – 2 

week wait 

Referral To 

Treatment 

waiting times for 

non-urgent 

consultant-led 

treatment 

A&E waits 

Cancer waits – 31 

days 

Ambulance
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Maximum two month (62-day wait from 

urgent GP referral to first definitive 

treatment for cancer)

85% 83.6% 85.4% 1.8%

Maximum 62-day wait from referral from 

an NHS screening service to first definitive 

treatment for all cancers

90% 97.6% 92.2% -5.3%

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive 

treatment following a consultant’s 

decision to upgrade the priority of the 

patient (all cancers)

85% 81.4% 86.8% 5.5%

Mixed Sex 

Accommodation 

Breaches Minimise breaches

Minimise

6 Cases in 

16/17

10 11 1

Mental health Care Programme Approach (CPA: The 

proportion of people under adult mental 

illness specialties on CPA who were 

followed up within 7 days of discharge 

from psychiatric in-patient care during the 

period)

95% 96.7% 95.7% -1.0%

Cancelled 

Operations 

All patients who have operations 

cancelled, on or after the day of admission 

(including the day of surgery, for non-

clinical reasons to be offered another 

binding date within 28 days, or the 

patient’s treatment to be funded at the 

time and hospital of the patient’s choice)

100%

STHK - 100%

W&H - 94%

AUHT - 98%

Alder Hey - 84%

WWL - 95%

S&O - 100%

STHK - 100%

W&H - 91%

AUHT - 100%

Alder Hey - 84%

WWL - 95%

S&O - 100%

Cancer waits – 62 

days 
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Other Key Performance Data 

 

Area Indicator Description Target 
 

Performance 
2018/19  

Infections C.Difficile 
 

Reported cases against 
target 

74 39 
 

MRSA 
 

Reported cases against 
target 

0 2 
 

E. Coli 
 

Reported cases against 
target 

181 172 

Sepsis awareness  Green Amber 
(2017) 

Mental Health IAPT (Increasing 
access to 
psychological 
therapies) – 6 week 
wait 
 

Proportion of people that 
wait 6 weeks or less from 
referral to their first IAPT 
appointment 

75% 98.57% 
(Jan-19) 

IAPT – Recovery 
 

 50% 39% 
(Jan-19) 

Dementia diagnosis 
 

Estimated diagnosis rate 
for people with dementia 
for GP registered 
patients 

79.8% 77.30% 
(Apr18 – Feb19) 

Continuing 
Healthcare 

Continuing 
Healthcare 

% of assessments 
completed in an acute 
hospital setting 

<15% 0% 

Continuing 
Healthcare 

% of assessments 
completed within 28 
days 

>80% 100% 
 

 

 

Performance Analysis 

 

Over 2018/19 performance highlights include: 

 

 Diagnostic test waiting times – This shows as red for the year due to the exclusion of 

data from St. Helens & Knowsley Trust in the months April – November 2018; this 

was due to the implementation of a new Patient Administration System.  In the 

months for which we have the full picture of data (December18 – March19), we 

continue to perform well below the 1% target with an average monthly performance 

of 0.66% 

 

 Mental Health Care Programme Approach – The target is to ensure that when a 

patient is discharged from hospital who requires a mental health assessment, that 

this is done within seven days. We have worked closely with our provider to improve 

this performance throughout the year. 

 

 IAPT waits – We closely monitor this contract and work closely with our provider to 

strive to achieve continual improvements in waiting times. 
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 C Diff infections – The numbers of infections are falling considerable year on year 

and the CCG has met the target and improved performance significantly by close 

working in partnership with all of our providers on systems and processes of 

reporting and investigating the number of healthcare acquired infections. 

 

Areas where performance remains challenging include: 

 Cancer waits – Though we meet a number of cancer targets, this is an area of 

challenge.  An action plan for St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

has been developed and shared with NHS England. A GP cancer protected learning 

time session was delivered by clinicians in November 2018 to share learning, 

improve the referral process and gain support. 

 

 A&E four hour waits – This is a whole system issue and the CCG is a key player in 

the Mid Mersey A&E Delivery Board and the Urgent Care Operational Group that sits 

underneath this which has worked on many initiatives to reduce demand into urgent 

care. These include GP extended access, the enhanced Urgent Treatment Centre 

(UTC) and the ability to direct book through NHS 111.  These schemes provide an 

alternative in deflecting people with an urgent primary care need away from A&E.  

 

 Ambulance handovers – A detailed action plan has been agreed between North West 

Ambulance Services and the lead commissioner for improvements in response times 

including handovers. Increased ambulance conveyances to the UTC have been an 

area for focus and improvements have been noticeable at A&E since May 2018. 

 

 52 week waiters – the main issue has been capacity for specialist bariatric surgery at 

University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust.  Work continues to be ongoing to 

transfer patients to other providers with numbers improving from January 2019. 

 

 

2018/19 Assurance Process – CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 

(IAF)  

 

The CCG assurance process led by NHS England is the key performance mechanism by 

which CCGs are able to demonstrate they are delivering the best possible outcomes for their 

patients within their financial allocation.  

 

The CCG Assurance Framework covers CCG delivery and performance and assessment 

and is based on a continuous assurance process that aims to provide confidence to all 

stakeholders, and to the wider public, that CCGs are operating effectively. During 2018/19 

the results were published for 2017/18 and we were assessed overall as ‘good’ showing an 

improving position from the previous financial year. The main reasons for that were due to us 

meeting our financial control total and implementing strong leadership.   

 

Formal directions inevitably and rightly bring additional scrutiny on an organisation. 

Assurance is a continuous process requiring a co-ordinated approach and we have 

embedded a more integrated approach to the assurance process ensuring that it becomes 

everyone’s business.  
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In January 2019 our results for 2017/18 were published for the following clinical areas:  

 Mental Health - Good 

 Dementia - Requires Improvement 

 Learning Disabilities - Requires improvement 

 Diabetes – Good 

 Maternity – Requires improvement 

 Cancer – Good. 

 

We developed action plans in these areas to improve performance where it is less than 

good, and to maintain good performance. These are monitored on a monthly basis by the 

Finance and Performance Committee and quality considerations are monitored by the 

Quality Committee.  The GP Members Council focussed specifically on areas where primary 

care can support areas of improvement in Dementia and Learning Disabilities. 

 

The key components of the IAF for 2018/19 remained largely unchanged: 

 

 Better Health – how is the CCG contributing towards improving the health and 

wellbeing of its population 

 Better Care – this focuses on care redesign, performance of constitutional standards 

and outcomes in key clinical areas 

 Sustainability – this section looks at how the CCG is remaining in financial balance 

and securing good value for money 

 Leadership – this domain assesses the quality of CCG leadership, plans, 

partnership working and its governance arrangements. (see below for more 

information) 

 

However, NHS England published new framework in November 2018 and a new indicator 

has been introduced which evidences implementation of the revised statutory guidance on 

patient and public participation in commissioning health and care and the CCG’s compliance 

with the 14Z2 statutory act.  The criteria contain five domains: 

 

 Governance 

 Annual Reporting 

 Day to day practice 

 Feedback and evaluation 

 Equalities and health inequalities. 

 

In addition, the NHS Constitution sets out expected rights and pledges and the NHSE 

assurance process includes an assessment of the CCG against key thresholds when 

assessing performance. The tables included within the performance analysis show key 

performance measures and CCG delivery against constitutional standards. 

 

When the indicator was tested during 2017/18 we were rated ‘amber’.  In March 2019 we 

submitted evidence against this indicator through a self-assessment tool, (the outcome of 

this assessment will not be published until July 2019).  During this assessment we rated 

ourselves as ‘green’ – feeling we have met all of the criteria.  The final outcome of the overall 
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IAF assurance process is subject to both regional and national moderation and will not be 

known until the summer of 2019. 

 

Further information about NHS St Helens CCG and how we are performing against the IAF 

framework can also be found on the MyNHS website9.  

 

Additionally MyNHS gives commissioners, professionals and providers a snapshot of 

published data to drive improvements in quality of care and the 2018/19 year end data will 

be available here10. 

 

We use this performance monitoring to inform our planning and priority setting, identify 

clinical learning opportunities and inform service redesigns. 

 

 

Leadership Domain  

 

During 2018/19 we received the 2017/18 assurance rating for our leadership.  The rating 

received of ‘Good’ was an improvement from the previous year’s rating of ‘Requires 

Improvement’ 

 

We were rated ‘green’ overall for the quality of leadership in 2017/18 in recognition of our 

strong leadership over the year; and our success in achieving our deficit financial control 

total – which was considered a significant milestone on the way to financial recovery.  Since 

then our leadership has continued to work hard and at pace to deliver further improvements 

to the underlying financial challenge in an effort to reach its 2018/19 break even target in line 

with its recovery plan and at the same time delivering on its operational plan targets. 

 

We have excelled in our partnership working and are seen as an effective system leader in 

driving the integration of the CCG and the local authority; bringing together the lead 

providers in the borough culminating in the signing of a collaborative agreement (the first of 

its kind in Cheshire & Merseyside) to operate as a local care system. 

 

Sustained effort has continued to strengthen relationships with our Membership, with the 

360o Stakeholder Survey evidencing improvements; together with effective engagement 

through the GP Members Council and increased clinical involvement in commissioning and 

primary care development being achieved. We have maintained our support for the Cheshire 

& Merseyside Health and Care Partnership (STP) with our Clinical Accountable Officer 

leading two work programmes – Place Based Care Systems and Diabetes, and Governing 

Body, supported by the Executive Leadership Team has made great efforts to strengthen 

relationships with other CCGs through joint committee developments and being an active 

member of the Cheshire & Merseyside Commissioning Forum. 

 

Our Governing Body remains committed to driving continued improvement to achieve the 

status of outstanding organisation by 2020 and feel that we can demonstrate real progress 

towards that in reflecting on our performance in 2018/19.  

                                                           
9
 https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance/search  

10
 https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance/search 

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance/search
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance/search
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Sustainable Development 
 

As an NHS organisation that spends public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way 

that has a positive effect on the communities we serve.  Sustainability means spending 

public money wisely, efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient 

communities. 

 

We take social and environmental factors into consideration alongside financial factors when 

making decisions on the purchase of goods and commissioning of services.  Where 

practicable, our purchasing decisions consider whole life cost and associated risks and 

implications for society and the environment. 

 

The NHS as a whole has a number of carbon hotspots and we are helping reduce our own 

carbon emissions in the following ways: 

 

Emissions What are we doing? 

Pharmaceuticals  Though recognised as an outlier in prescribing, we continue to 

campaign to reduce pharmaceutical waste 

Energy  We are making efficient use of our office space by co-locating 

with our local authority colleagues  

 We have an office recycling programme in place in the local 

authority buildings to minimise the amount of waste we 

generate 

 The buildings are well used and do not use power or heat 

unnecessarily  

 Staff actively turn off lighting and heating when spaces are not 

in use and do not have sensors 

 Staff are reminded to power off PCs and other electrical 

equipment at the end of the working day or when not in use.  

The CCG has communicated to all staff the importance of 

conserving energy for example in reducing the volume of 

photocopying and printing which also results in cost savings 

Travel and 

transport 

 The CCG has a travel and expenses policy.  The use of a 

passenger rate encourages car sharing when attending 

meetings off site 

 The CCG is committed to the objectives outlined in the 

Transport Plan for Growth, and have signed up to the 

Employers Network, coordinated by Mersey Travel to support a 

range of initiatives. 

 

 

 

Sustainable Clinical and Care Models 

 

We have created the St Helens Cares Executive Board to develop and monitor 

implementation of the partnership approach to longer term sustainability with the health and 

social care system.  This includes the implementation of New Care  
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Models as described on pages 11-17 which are beginning to have an impact in a number of 

areas.  

 

Sustainable Estates 

 

We have developed our estates strategy throughout 2018/19 to ensure that estates can act 

as an enabler to the transformation of care across St Helens. The aim of St Helens Cares is 

to ensure that as many people as possible are treated outside of a hospital setting where 

this is appropriate. This means ensuring that health and care facilities across the borough 

are adequate to meet this demand and utilised as efficiently as possible.  

 

The Strategic Estates Group has been developed to ensure that all health and care partners 

contribute to estates discussions across the borough. We are also a member of the Cheshire 

and Mersey Strategic Estates Board.  

 

Our focus throughout 2018/19 has been the provision of high quality premises so that we 

can ensure that these are utilised to their best effect. Utilisation studies have been 

undertaken at all premises with a view to increasing utilisation throughout 2019/20.  

 

We relocated our headquarters to The Gamble Building, a local authority owned building in 

2018 which has enabled closer integrated working with local authority colleagues.  This 

move coincided with us becoming part of the St Helens People’s Services directorate within 

the local authority.  

 

 

Improving Quality  

 

Everything we do centres on quality, whether that is a discussion on implementing a new 

service, about finance and saving money or responding to an incident or complaint.  We 

want to ensure that our patients don’t just receive an efficient, high performing service – we 

need to ensure the quality and patient experience is the best it can be. 

 

We continue to implement our Quality Strategy11 which is reviewed on an annual basis.  Our 

Clinical Quality and Performance Group (CQPG), as part of a contractual process with 

providers, reviews and monitors areas for improvement - highlighting and sharing good 

practice. It also allows for challenge and support if areas of concern arise.   

 

We continue to work with our health and social care partners to improve both health 

outcomes and patient experience and our Quality Committee receives an integrated patient 

experience report combining indicators from providers such as complaints, Friends and 

Family Test and informal concerns, with a view to identifying across the borough lessons to 

be learnt or themes where we can then support improvement.  

 

  

                                                           
11

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1447/quality-strategy-2017-21-final-2-0.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1447/quality-strategy-2017-21-final-2-0.pdf
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Our Quality Achievements 

 

Primary Medical Care 

 

During 2018/19, we invested in a role to support the quality of care and treatment within 

primary care. The Quality and Safety Nurse is becoming a beacon of support to all staff 

within GP practices and plans to develop that support through a programme of thematic 

review and visits to reduce variation across the networks. 

 

The incident reporting system that was initiated in 2017/18 has become embedded in the 

majority of practices and we support these to utilise and review their own data for quality 

improvement. We worked with one practice to undertake a concise root cause analysis 

following the reporting of an incident via the system and supported the actions and duty of 

candour process to ensure the patient remained at the heart of review. 

 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections 

 

All 34 of our GP practices have been inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC).   

Currently, 30 practices have a ‘good’ rating with four having a rating of ‘requires 

improvement’.  For those requiring improvement, our primary care team are working with the 

practice to monitor their action plan and ensure the necessary improvements are 

implemented. 

 

We commission care from four provider trusts, all of which were inspected by the CQC in 

2018. Any areas with amber ratings have a robust action plan in place that is monitored as 

part of CQPG meetings.  Our main acute care provider, St Helens and Knowsley Teaching 

Hospitals NHS Trust, was awarded an ‘outstanding’ rating from the CQC in March 2019. 

 

Provider trust 

 

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led 

St Helens & Knowsley 

Teaching Hospitals 

NHS Trust 

  outstanding  outstanding 

Bridgewater 

Community Healthcare 

NHS Foundation Trust 

     

North West Boroughs 

Healthcare NHS 

Foundation Trust 

     

Lancashire Care NHS 

Foundation Trust 

     

Table 4 – CQC Ratings 

  



 

 Page 38  

 

Infection control 

 

We have supported the community infection control team with the ‘Dip 

or not to Dip’ campaign which has been successfully embedded in the 

community, supporting a reduction in the need for unnecessary urine 

tests and prescribing of unnecessary antibiotics.  Training has been 

given to nurses in general practice, care home staff, and domiciliary 

care agency staff on the importance of hygiene and hydration in 

reducing the numbers of E-coli infections, supported by a new patient information leaflet. 

There is a continued focus on investigating risk factors associated with healthcare acquired 

infections (HCAIs) and ensuring that feedback mechanisms are in place to support the 

delivery of quality of care and prevention.  As per page 31, reported cases of E. Coli were a 

13% reduction against baseline, which meets the minimum 10%.  We were one of the few 

local CCGs to achieve this.  C.Difficile cases were 48% below target – this is a large 

reduction against the previous year. 

 

Antimicrobial Resistance 

 

We continue to be one of the highest in the country with regards to the total volume of 

antibiotics prescribed with considerable variation between GP practices.  The majority are 

above the national average, some quite considerably. 

 

Improvements have been seen in terms of more appropriate prescribing particularly in the 

groups of antibiotics known to be associated with HCAIs, however this remains a challenge 

for us. Actions this year to help drive this reduction have included a point of care testing pilot 

using a CRP machine which delivers a result far quicker than more traditional laboratory 

testing which can facilitate more appropriate antibiotic prescribing. This pilot has been 

completed at one the highest prescribing practices. 

 

A peer review process was also introduced and is continuing in GP practices. Individual 

prescribers in a practice are rated and compared against each other for volume of antibiotics 

prescribed. If a prescriber is found to be consistently high for three months then they will 

have a one to one peer review meeting with a prescriber who has been consistently low.  

Antibiotic prescribing continues to be discussed at regular prescribing visits by the medicines 

management team. As part of the work of the Cheshire and Merseyside Antimicrobial 

Resistance (AMR) Board, a consultant microbiologist has been identified to support with the 

AMR work.  

 

Care Homes and Domiciliary Care 

 

We have an appointed trusted assessor for care homes to ensure a consistent approach to 

the assessment of a patient and that their care can be safely met and managed by the 

home. 

 

We continue to support the national ‘React to Red’ pressure 

ulcer prevention initiative and the use of the ‘Red Bag’ 

scheme which supports the transfer of patient 

documentation on admission to hospital and supports early 

discharges from hospital using patient real time information. 
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As part of our integration with local authority social care, we now manage and support the 

work of the local authority quality monitoring team. The integration has provided 

opportunities for a truly collaborative approach to quality monitoring with a CCG quality and 

safety nurse supporting the review of care home and domiciliary care services clinically.  In 

addition to this the quality monitoring team is actively involved in Cheshire and Merseyside 

initiatives such as the care home collaboration and prevention of falls steering groups.  This 

ensures that best practice and guidance is translated into practice and informs quality 

reviews. 

 

The team also work closely with CQC inspectors of care homes. Of the 32 care homes 

inspected by the CQC, one has an ‘outstanding’ rating and 26 are rated ‘good’.  Three are 

rated as ‘requires improvement’ and two as ‘inadequate’.  These  are reviewed and 

discussed as part of a collective a multidisciplinary team approach within the CCG and local 

authority and If needed, the service placed on a level of surveillance with quality monitoring 

visits and support is stepped up, with a view to ensuring safety and quality is maintained. 

 

Pressure Ulcers 

 

The Deputy Chief Nurse leads the St Helens Pressure Ulcer Collaborative – a 

multidisciplinary team of practitioners from acute care, community care, local authority and 

CCG safeguarding and quality monitoring. The aim is to have a comprehensive oversight of 

pressure ulcer incidence and prevalence across the borough and to have a collaborative 

approach to prevention supported by regional and national programmes of work. While it is 

still early days, it is hoped that outcomes for patients will be improved and give cohesive 

continuity of care across the services provided within our borough. 

 

 

Engaging people and communities 

 

Engaging our Local Community  

 

As a CCG we are committed to carrying out meaningful engagement and communicating 

effectively with the local community; giving people - our patients, public and partners - the 

opportunity to be involved in and to influence healthcare in their local area. This enables 

their voices to be heard and their thoughts and experiences to be taken into consideration as 

part of NHS decision making. 

We have a statutory duty under The Health and Social Care Act 2012 to ensure the public is 

engaged in our governance arrangements, the commissioning or redesigning of services 

and listening to and acting on feedback regarding this and publishing evidence of what 

activity has been conducted and what difference it has made.  

 

Engagement, Involvement and Communications Strategy  

 

Our Engagement and Communications strategy12 and the work plan underpinning this is 

reviewed annually and is used as a reference for our work throughout the year. The strategy 

                                                           
12

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3004/comms-and-engagement-2019-2022.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3004/comms-and-engagement-2019-2022.pdf
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illustrates the range of methods we use to inform, consult and engage with our patients and 

public.  

 

We use the engagement cycle (pictured) to help develop, 

deliver and evaluate engagement with our local community at 

both a strategic and operational level. The model is used widely 

across CCGs to plan, design and deliver services for and with 

local people. This helps us ensure engagement at the right 

stage in the process to improve our planning and delivery of 

services.13 

 

We have a dedicated team leading engagement and 

communication which also works as part of St Helens Cares, 

ensuring that engagement and communication meet the needs 

of the local community. To support the team, a network has 

been established which brings together providers and partners to ensure the consistency 

across the borough and represents the different audiences, i.e. patients, public and staff. 

This network has representation from health and social care, housing, Healthwatch and the 

Halton and St Helens Voluntary Community Service.  

 

Keeping people healthy by preventing health problems rather than treating them after they 

have begun is a big priority. We are committed to engaging with communities in a way which 

allows us to discuss and develop solutions together. This co-production approach also 

focuses on what people can do for themselves as well as what health services can do for 

them.  One example of this is our ongoing development and compilation of a community 

asset database which will allow the local community, third sector and other health 

professionals to find out what services / groups are available in St Helens. To support this 

work an engagement exercise took place within one of our ‘Talkfest’ events (see below) with 

the focus on asking local people on what they would like to see from a database and how 

they would use it. All feedback was collated and developed into a summary report and fed 

back to the steering groups tasked to develop this system.  

During 2018/19 we engaged with an estimated 2,000 members of the public on a range of 

topics including health and social care integration, mental health, suicide prevention, 

community services, maternity services, cancer and respite care.  Following our commitment 

made last year to run a series of quarterly community engagement events, we have 

continued to use the ‘Talkfest’ banner to further our ways of involving the local community in 

the work we do. 

 

Examples include:  

 

 Our ‘Talkfest’ in April 2018 focused on mental health and suicide prevention and we 

visited a number of locations across St Helens and different engagement activities 

were carried out reaching 250 people of all ages face to face, and just over 2000 

people online with a range of activities.  

 The ‘Talkfest’ session in July 2018 was a community engagement workshop on the 

future of health and care and celebrated the NHS’ 70th Birthday. We focused on St 

                                                           
13

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/ 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiDiJWSg8rgAhWq2OAKHdRdCeQQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa%3Di%26rct%3Dj%26q%3D%26esrc%3Ds%26source%3Dimages%26cd%3D%26ved%3D%26url%3Dhttp://www.nhsinvolvement.co.uk/change/events/item/the-engagement-cycle-meaningful-engagement-for-maximum-impact%26psig%3DAOvVaw3NbOKksjfOeREdg2IUiRLu%26ust%3D1550742225795919&psig=AOvVaw3NbOKksjfOeREdg2IUiRLu&ust=1550742225795919
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Helens Cares and introduced a plan to move to a locality based approach developing 

an asset-based community model.  The event initiated the process of identifying 

community ‘change makers’ to support future engagement and involvement priorities.  

 We ran our first series of ‘Talkfest’ events across the whole borough in November 

2018.  In total, five events ran across the localities to ensure that sessions were 

accessible to all communities. These focused on the work of St Helens Cares and 

gave an update of what St Helens Cares is and what it means to the community. 

These took place during self-care week so activities supported us to understand 

people’s views and understanding on self-care and how we can support people to 

look after themselves and each other 

 Together with the local authority Public Health team we organised a 

health and wellbeing event in March 2019 in the town centre to bring 

together statutory, voluntary and third sector organisations to 

showcase who they are, what they do and how people can access the 

services they provide.  

 Working with NHS Blood and Transplant, we held a ‘know your type’ 

event in the town centre in September and key large workplaces to 

encourage people to find out their blood group with 50 signed up as 

blood donors 

 We also carried out engagement work with communities and groups around the 

development of the Urgent Treatment Centre and a review of carers’ and respite 

services and work around the maternity services we commission 

 We highlighted awareness of Atrial Fibrillation in October 2018 

and engaged with and tested over 500 members of the 

community, signposting those who tested positive at potential 

risk of Atrial Fibrillation to their GP for further investigation 

 We hosted a forum in October 2018 to enable all PPG (GP 

practice Patient Participation Groups) representatives to come 

together to share best practice, provide updates on their activity and to hear what we 

are currently working on.  

 

 

How we engage 

 

We continue to seek new ways to improve our established methods to involve the local 

community in our work.  Our Governing Body and Primary Care Committee meetings are 

held in public and the formal part of these always begins with a patient story which illustrates 

the real experience of someone’s treatment journey highlighting good practice as well as 

things that could have been done better 

 

To make our Annual Report 2017/18 more accessible, we produced a dynamic summary 

including short films to tell the story of the past 12 months and presented this at our AGM in 

July 2018.14  

 

In 2019 we plan to evolve our Patient Experience and Involvement Group (PEIG) to be at the 

core of a new Stakeholder Reference Forum (SRF) which will build and sustain meaningful 

                                                           
14

 https://online.flowpaper.com/7cba075f/ThestoryofNHSStHelensCCGVideo1/#page=2 

https://online.flowpaper.com/7cba075f/ThestoryofNHSStHelensCCGVideo1/#page=2
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engagement with people across all communities within St Helens, enabling them to have a 

voice in improving their health and in shaping services as part of St Helens Cares. The SRF 

will play a key role in providing feedback to the St Helens Cares Provider Board and the St 

Helens Cares Executive Board, as well as other governance groups within St Helens Cares, 

on proposals for service change.  

 

This forum will be chaired (as the PEIG was) by our Lay Member for Patient and Community 

Engagement. His role is to ensure that the voice of local people is not only heard but also 

acted on in all of the CCG’s work. Forum members will include patients, service users and 

carers, and representatives from groups and organisations that represent them or that have 

an interest in this area. They will offer their perspectives on how St Helens Cares can inform 

and engage with people on its programmes of work. The group will be made up from the 

CCG, Public Health, Local Councillor, Halton & St Helens Council for Voluntary Services, 

local patient participation groups, housing, Healthwatch, carers and the faith sector.   

 

At locality level, we are a key part of the Mid Mersey Joint Committee and work alongside 

our CCG partners on engaging patients and the public on changes to policies around 

referrals for a range of commissioned treatments (criteria based clinical treatments).  Our 

Engagement Manager also leads on the pre-engagement work on behalf of all the CCGs in 

the committee for the Eastern Sector Cancer Hub programme. 

 

We work closely with our local Healthwatch group and our Engagement Manager attends 

community group meetings held across St Helens to provide updates on health and social 

care.  Our monthly ‘Engage’ newsletter to communicate with our public membership scheme 

gives a regular opportunity for those registered to keep up to date with the latest 

opportunities to get involved 

 

 

Engaging our GP Membership  

 

As a CCG, we ensure that engagement and communication with our membership is 

consistent, offering a wide range of methods to ensure GP practices have the opportunity to 

receive up to date information on the work we do. Practices also have the opportunity to 

contribute to the channels of communication and provide update on areas of work within 

practices. Methods of engagement and communication include: 

 

 GP Members Council 

 Protected learning time sessions 

 Practice Managers Forum  

 Practice Nurses Forum  

 Fortnightly electronic primary care bulletin  

 Monthly primary care podcasts. 

 

We also carry out regular GP practice visits. The visits are made up from representation 

from CCG colleagues including the Medicines Management team, Quality team and a GP 

Governing Body member. These visits are used as a two way communication tool between 

the CCG and our member practices.  
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Reducing Health Inequality  

 

The most recent Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on Health Inequalities15 has shown that 

there are wide variations in a health issues and determinants of health across St Helens. 

These include: 

 

 Life expectancy at birth for men varies by 9 years between wards, while female life 

expectancy varies by 7 years.  

 Mortality from all causes in town centre ward is about twice the rate it is in Rainford 

(1,638 and 846 per 100,000 respectively).  

 The rate of hospital admissions due to alcohol-specific conditions in town centre is 

five times higher than it is in Billinge and Seneley Green (2,637 and 490 per 100,000 

respectively).  

 Teenage conceptions rates in town centre ward are significantly higher than in 

Rainhill (64.0 and 0.0 per 1,000 respectively, though the exact Rainhill value may be 

uncertain due to small numbers and data suppression).  

 Eccleston, relative to other St Helens wards, is the least deprived in the borough and 

performs the best overall, ranking in first or second position for eight of the sixteen 

indicators. Town centre ward performs the worst for seven of the sixteen indicators 

and is the second most deprived ward. Indicators were selected from a broad 

spectrum of Public Health key indicators, where the data was recent, calculable at 

ward level, and where the differences from ward to ward were stark.  

 

By looking at deprivation overall rather than at individual wards, male and female life 

expectancies in the least deprived 20% of areas in St Helens are 10.4 and 8.3 years longer 

than for residents living in the 20% most deprived areas respectively.   

 

 If mortality rates in most deprived areas could be brought down to the levels in the 

least deprived area, there would be an average of 118 fewer male deaths per year 

and 93 fewer deaths for women in the most deprived quintile.   

 If rates of death from coronary heart disease were as good in the most deprived 

quintile as in the least deprived, this on its own would add 1.5 years to male life 

expectancy at birth and 1.1 years to female life expectancy in these areas of the 

borough.  

 

Between 2012 and 2014, the life expectancy at birth in St Helens was 1.9 years less than 

the England average for men, and 1.7 years less for women.  

 

 The greatest cause of the life expectancy gap between St Helens and England is 

respiratory disease, which causes about a third of excess deaths for both men and 

women. This corresponds to 269 excess deaths from respiratory disease in St 

Helens between 2012 and 2014.  

 If respiratory disease mortality was the same rate in St Helens as the national 

average, life expectancy at birth would increase by 0.5 years for men and 0.6 for 

women across the whole Borough.  

                                                           
15

 https://info4.sthelens.gov.uk/strategic-assessments/jsna 

https://info4.sthelens.gov.uk/strategic-assessments/jsna
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We have taken note of the information produced in the JSNA (Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment) section on Health Inequalities and a number of programmes are in place that 

address some of the key issues, highlighted below are some of the programmes that are 

working to address variation. 

 

Respiratory 

 

Adults 

 

In order to improve outcomes for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) patients, 

we are working together with our NHS Trust providers and general practice to redesign 

community respiratory services.  A recent audit showed that 64% of patients who are 

admitted into Whiston only stay for 24 hours or less, which tells us that much of their clinical 

support can be provided within community services. 

The community improvements involve consistent and accurate diagnosis, specialised clinical 

input outside of the hospital, additional support to housebound patients and rapid and 

enhanced support during exacerbation that some patients are currently unable to access. 

The vision is to have integrated services across the system that is seamless and supportive 

within the four emerging localities. 

 

Children 

 

We have worked with St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and 

community providers to develop a ‘Big 6’ booklet for the most common conditions which 

children present with for urgent care.  This booklet includes clinical pathways for respiratory 

conditions such as bronchiolitis, croup and acute asthma to help standardise care for these 

conditions across St Helens. The booklet is aimed at primary and community care providers 

i.e. GPs, community nurses and the Urgent Treatment Centre and is planned to be rolled out 

in May 2019.   

 

We are also planning to redesign direct access to services which will include access to 

respiratory clinics and we plan to move these clinics in to a Community Hub for children and 

families where services will be located to bring care closer to home for our children and 

young people.  Through the work with the Community Hub we will also be exploring the 

potential for pooled appointment systems for paediatric same day care and developing a 

multi-disciplinary team locality model to share learning between Paediatric Consultants and 

Primary Care staff.  

 

We are working with St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust to build upon 

their ‘Hospital at Home’ children’s community nursing model to include an offer around step 

up care with the intention to pilot this and then extend this across the borough if 

successful.  This offer would enable GPs to refer in to the service, providing care in the 

community and help to prevent attendances at A&E and hospital admissions.  

  

Regionally there are plans to roll out clinical networks for children with long-term conditions 

such as asthma and we will work with local providers to embed best clinical practice, 

supporting the integration of paediatric skills across services to improve the quality of care 

for this cohort.   
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Cardiovascular (including Diabetes and Diabetes Prevention) 

 

Identifying people early with cardiovascular risks has been a key priority for Public Health 

who have worked closely with us to improve quality and variation at practice level.  A Public 

Health nurse is jointly funded by the CCG and local authority to work on practice variation 

and quality specifically improving the NHS Health Check Programme and embedding the 

national Diabetes Prevention Programme, as well as supporting practices with general 

quality issues.   

 

NHS Health Checks  

 

There is variation between practices for both inviting patients and completion of health 

checks in St Helens. In 2018/19, 33 out of 34 practices are delivering health checks, of 

which eight practices have completed less than 5% health checks; 14 practices have 

completed between five and 10%; and 11 practices have completed between 10% - 20% of 

checks on eligible patients.  

 

The public health nurse working alongside colleagues in the CCG has targeted the 10 

poorest performing practices to offer additional support to improve invites and uptake. Along 

with Public Health we have facilitated a number of NHS health check and motivational 

interviewing training sessions in St Helens for practice nurses and health care assistants, 

with over 100 members of staff trained. It is envisaged this will mean practitioners being 

more confident in raising the issue of risk, resulting in patients more likely to address lifestyle 

factors and reduce their risk of heart attacks, stroke and diabetes. 

 

Diabetes  

 

In the past year, the diabetes prevention programme has moved to a different provider but 

the performance in St Helens has been maintained and improved with over 600 referrals 

since delivery commenced in September 2018. We have worked with Public Health to 

embed and maintain a local pathway into the service. Even though St Helens is performing 

well and above target, there is variance between practices with one making 70 referrals and 

some practices yet to make any referral meaning some patients may not be being given the 

opportunity to reduce their risk of diabetes.  

 

In February 2019, a foot screening training session took place delivered by podiatrists from 

North West Boroughs Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  to train practice staff (nurses and 

healthcare assistants). Locally there is variation between practices with respect to 

completion of annual screening / diabetes care, with training one of the reported issues. The 

session was facilitated by Public Health and ourselves to address this issue, with 10 

practices initially targeted where activity or outcomes require most improvement for St 

Helens. Approximately 28 members of staff received the training and gave very positive 

feedback with respect to the appropriateness of the training as well as their new found 

confidence in undertaking foot screening.  
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Vaccination and Immunisations 

 

A joint action plan has been developed over a number of years to improve uptake of 

vaccination and immunisations and tackle inequality.  This action plan first developed in St. 

Helens was seen as good practice by NHS England and was used as a template to 

encourage other areas across Cheshire and Mersey to have an effective system wide 

approach.  Whilst there has been ongoing work to improve uptake and reduce variation by 

targeting those practices with lower uptake, variation still continues and there are a couple of 

areas that we have targeted due to low uptake in general. These are Flu uptake in two and 

three year olds and cervical screening and we work closely with the Public Health Team on 

this. 

 

Medicines Management 

 

During the 2018/19, through the GP prescribing incentive scheme we have reviewed and 

audited the prescribing of antibiotics. St Helens remains a high prescriber of antibiotics and 

we continue to work with prescribers to understand the variation across the patch. 

Additionally we have started to look at the prescribing of high dose opioid analgesics and 

this work will continue throughout 2019/20. All GP practices continue to have regular 

sessional visits from clinical pharmacists and medicines management technician to focus on 

safe, cost effective and evidence based prescribing.   

 

Most patient facing community pharmacies in St Helens continue to offer the Care at the 

Chemist Minor Ailment Service. 

 

 

Equality and Diversity 
 

We want to ensure that we commission services fairly, so that no community or group is left 

behind in the changes that we make to healthcare services as we work towards the vision 

and challenges set out in NHS England’s Five Year Forward View. 

 

We continue to work internally and in partnership with our providers, community and 

voluntary sector and other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of 

opportunity and meet the exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010 during these 

difficult and challenging times. 

 

A full account of how we respond to our duties can be found in our full Equality and Diversity 

Annual Report16 2018/19 below.  This sets out how we pay ‘due regard’ to our public sector 

equality duty, which we consider daily as we make commissioning decisions on behalf of the 

population we serve.  

 

  

                                                           
16

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2941/008-2-b-appendix-b-ccg-ed-annual-report-2018-19.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2941/008-2-b-appendix-b-ccg-ed-annual-report-2018-19.pdf
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Our Duties 

 

We are required to prepare and publish equality objectives to meet our specific duty as 

outlined in the Equality Act 2010. Our four year objectives plan is specific and measurable, 

and it is aimed at tackling a diverse range of barriers faced by people who share protected 

characteristics in relation to health services we commission and support.  

 

Our equality objectives are:  

 

 To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions  

 To improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience 

disadvantage  

 To improve the equality performance of our providers through robust procurement 

and monitoring practice  

 To empower and engage our workforce.  

 

We strive to improve our equality performance during these very difficult and challenging 

times.   

 

 

Equality Delivery Systems 2 (EDS2) 

 

Our performance and grades over the last year have progressed from ‘developing’ status 

across all outcomes to ‘achieving’ status for seven outcome areas and this demonstrates the 

CCG is incrementally improving its equality performance.  Once these key issues are being 

addressed and or mitigated via mainstream business plans then we can maintain our status 

across the relevant outcomes and goals, during these challenging financial times. 

 

We have been working closely on implementing EDS2 and developing integrated equality 

objectives over 2018/19 as part of the Merseyside Equality Collaborative which is made up 

of all providers who operate within Merseyside via a range of work stream groups and bi-

monthly meetings.  This includes other Merseyside CCGs and key providers including St 

Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Bridgewater Community Health NHS 

Foundation Trust, Alder Hey NHS Foundation Trust, Aintree University Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust, Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospital NHS Trust, Liverpool 

Heart and Chest Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and The Walton Centre NHS Foundation 

Trust. This new and innovative approach will ensure that all organisations are addressing the 

needs of the population as a whole in line with Accountable Care Systems and the NHS Five 

Year Forward View.  

 

For example, to understand ‘barriers’ that impact on our Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 

communities we worked with the national Race Equality Foundation and our local BAME 

community development project. They identified language barriers including varied quality in 

translation and interpretation services and varied understanding of cultural sensitivity across 

NHS services.  As a result the collaborative has developed a set of co-produced quality 

standards and recommendations to be implemented contractually across the borough. 
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We strive to improve our equality performance during these very difficult and challenging 

times.  Governing Body approved the Equality & Diversity Objective Plan for 2019/20 in 

March 201917 

 

Key activity and issues that have been worked on over 2018/19 include: 

 

 All commissioning organisations need improved processes to enable transparent 

decision making during unprecedented financial times, to ensure needs are 

considered and barriers and unequal outcomes are mitigated.  These issues are 

currently being addressed via contract mechanisms and through Equality 

Collaborative meetings.  

 Translation and interpretation quality standards have been developed and will be 
incorporated across the system during 2019/20. 

 Collaborative working to eliminate discrimination for transgender patient, specifically 

in primary care has resulted in support to roll out a unified approach  via the Cheshire 

and Merseyside partnership and has been identified as a national pilot by NHS 

England specialised commissioning transformation unit.  

 Overall improvements have been made across all the key secondary care providers 

including plans around improving accessible information compliance and meeting 

their specific duties. 

 A support strategy to improve how General Practice makes reasonable adjustments 

and adheres to the Accessible Information Standard has been agreed by the CCG 

and is currently being rolled out. 

 

 

Provider performance  

 

We work closely with our providers to improve equality performance on access and 

outcomes for protected groups through robust contract monitoring, via the quality contract 

schedule.  

 

Key areas of focus include: 

 

 Information standards, including reasonable adjustments are implemented and meet 

the needs of our disabled community. 

 Decision making across trusts pays ‘due regard’ to our Public Sector Equality Duty 

prior to decisions being made. 

 Ensuring specific duties are met. 

There have been challenges with some of our providers regarding consistent equality 

compliance.  All providers are monitored robustly through equality indicators by the Equality 

lead and Quality Contract team.  This involves quarterly and exception reporting and 

attendance at the quality contract meetings with providers.  

Support to providers is also provided through the Merseyside Equality Collaborative. When 

providers are persistently non-compliant then action would involve the use of a number of 

contract mechanisms such as issuing a contract performance notice in response to any 

                                                           
17

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3057/equality-objective-plan.docx  

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3057/equality-objective-plan.docx
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contract breaches with a potential outcome of this process being a remedial or immediate 

action plan. 

 

Our Staff  

 

We have duties to meet under the Equality Act 2010 in relation to workforce and 

organisational development.  We take positive steps to ensure that our policies deal with 

equality implications around recruitment and selection, pay and benefits, flexible working 

hours, training and development, policies around managing employees and protecting 

employees from harassment, victimisation and discrimination. It is mandatory for all our staff 

to complete equality training and, in addition, we have a workforce equality plan, which has 

contributed to us paying due regard to our Workforce Race Equality Standard.  The CCG 

implemented a Transgender Employment Policy, which aims to ensure that the provision for 

transgender people is responsive to individual need, is prejudice free and challenges any 

discrimination individuals may experience.  

 

As a direct result of our WRES and EDS 2 work, our commissioner and provider 

collaborative are working with staff from our BAME backgrounds across St Helens on a 

number of positive action programmes, including extending existing staff support networks in 

Merseyside for CCG and NHS Providers across the borough.  

 

 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 

Together with St Helens Council we are active members of St Helens People’s Board which 

has combined the statutory duties of the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Community 

Safety Partnership.  The Board was formalised two years ago in January 2017, following a 

series of development events where the overarching vision for St. Helens was developed 

and the ongoing priorities.  We have been an active contributor to the development of the 

vision and priorities. 

 

In March 2017, the St Helens People’s Plan was approved by the Board, fulfilling the 

statutory function of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Community Safety Plan.  

The following priorities were agreed to develop the Local Care System, St Helens Cares, to 

ensure we have a sustainable Health and Care system: 

 

 To improve outcomes for people who are at risk of self-harm and suicide 

 To improve outcomes for people who are at risk of falling and reduce the number 

who fall 

 To improve outcomes for people at risk of alcohol abuse and reduce the number who 

suffer from alcohol harm  

 To improve community safety by developing community safety hubs which identify 

people early and ensure effective responses to need. 

 

Over the last two years we have worked closely with the council to develop the Local Care 

System, St Helens Cares.  In June 2018, the first phase of St. Helens Cares came to fruition 

through our integration with The People’s Department of St Helens Council under the 

leadership of a joint post, The Strategic Director of Peoples Department and the Accountable 
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Officer of the CCG.  This department has the statutory functions of the CCG and the 

statutory function of the Director of Children’s Services, Director of Adult Social Care and the 

Director of Public Health. 

 

Other areas of development identified within the People’s Plan are highlighted below which 

show how we take note of the People’s Plan and jointly takes action across the system to 

improve outcomes: 

 

 To improve outcomes for those who are ‘at risk of self-harm and suicide’ – a 

comprehensive multi-agency suicide reduction action plan which includes the 

ambition of both mental health services and primary care to meet the Safer Care 

Standards. The Chief Nurse has raised concern about the number of suicides linked 

with our mental health trust and due to delays in the reporting of a themed report the 

Trust is now under enhanced surveillance. There is an ongoing pilot in primary care 

to test the feasibility of having a risk assessment tool that will flag people at high risk. 

Work is also underway to develop the THRIVE model for Children and Young 

People’s Mental Health which includes self-harm.   

 To improve outcomes for people who are at risk of falling and reduce the number 

who fall – a multi-agency action plan has been developed to improve outcomes 

relating to falls.  The CCG and local authority Public Health Team have worked with 

the current provider to re-specify the Falls Service, this service is now working in a 

pro-active way within Contact Cares where it can be responsive to community needs 

and link effectively with therapy services.  Although, the number of falls in St Helens 

still remain high there has been an underlying reduction in the rate of falls. 

 To improve outcomes for people at risk of alcohol abuse and reduce the number who 

suffer from alcohol harm – again a comprehensive multi-agency alcohol harm 

reduction plan has been approved by The People’s Board. There is ongoing work in 

relation to alcohol harm to link more closely with primary care and in a setting people 

may feel less stigmatised.  There is close work with our hospital trust to improve 

outcomes for people who attend A&E for alcohol harm.  This has seen the alcohol 

related admissions (narrow definition) and alcohol specific admissions to begin 

decrease. 

 

We continue to contribute to future development of The People’s Board and the priorities for 

2019/20 and beyond. 

 

 

 

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien 

Clinical Accountable Officer  

24th May 2019  
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Corporate Governance Report 
 

The purpose of this Report is to explain the composition and organisation of the CCG’s 

governance structures and how they support the CCG to achieve its objectives.  This 

consists of: 

 Members Report 

 Statement of Accountable Officer responsibilities 

 Governance Statement. 

 

 

Members Report 

 

Member practices and profiles 

At 31st March 2019, the CCG is made up of 34 GP practices within the borough: 

 

Practice Name Address 

Berrymead Medical Centre 140 Berry’s Lane, Parr, St Helens, WA9 3RP 

Bethany Medical Centre 151 Grafton St, St Helens, WA10 4GW 

Bowery Medical Centre Elephant Lane, Thatto Heath, WA9 5PR 

Central Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, Crab St, 

WA10 2DJ 

Cornerstone Surgery Fingerpost Park Health Centre, Atlas St, WA9 1LN 

Crossroads Surgery 449 Warrington Road, Rainhill, L35 4LL 

Eccleston Medical Centre Christ Church Hall Grounds, Chapel Lane, Eccleston, 

WA10 5DA 

Four Acre Health Centre Burnage Ave, Clock Face, St Helens, WA9 4QB 

Garswood Surgery Billinge Road, Garswood, St Helens, WN4 0XD 

Hall Street Medical Centre 28-30 Hall Street, St Helens, WA10 1DW 

Haydock Medical Centre Woodside Medical Centre, St Helens, WA11 0NA 

Hollybank Surgery Fingerpost Park Health Centre, Atlas St, WA9 1LN 

Kenneth MacRae Medical 

Centre 

32 Church Road, Rainford, St Helens, WA11 8HJ 

Lime Grove Surgery Woodside Medical Centre, St Helens, WA11 0NA 

Lingholme Health Centre Atherton Street, St Helens, WA10 2HT 

Longton Medical Centre 451 Warrington Road, Rainhill, St Helens, L35 4LL 

Mill Street Medical Centre Mill Street, St Helens, WA10 2BD 

Marshalls Cross Medical Centre 

 

2nd Floor, St Helens Hospital, Marshalls Cross Road, St 

Helens, WA9 3DA 

Newholme Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, Crab St, WA10 

2DJ 

Newton Community Hospital 

Practice 

Newton Community Hospital, Bradlegh Road, Newton-Le-

Willows, St Helens, WA12 8RB 

Newton Medical Centre 1 Belvedere Road, Newton-le-Willows WA12 0JJ 

Ormskirk House Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, Crab St, 

WA10 2DJ 

Park House Surgery Fingerpost Park Health Centre, Atlas Street, WA9 1LN 

Parkfield Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, Crab St, 

WA10 2DJ 
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Patterdale Lodge Medical 

Centre 

Leigh Street, Newton-Le-Willows, St Helens, WA12 9NA 

Phoenix Medical Centre 28 Duke Street, St Helens, WA10 2JP 

Dr Rahil's Surgery 21a Old Whint Road, Haydock, WA11 0DN 

Rainbow Medical Centre 333 Robins Lane, Sutton, St Helens, WA9 3PN 

Rainford Health Centre 17 Higher Lane, Rainford, St Helens, WA11 8AZ 

Rainhill Village Surgery 529 Warrington Road, Rainhill, St Helens, L35 4LP 

Recreation Drive Surgery Recreation Drive, Billinge Near Wigan, WN5 7LY 

Sandfield Medical Centre 81 Liverpool Road, St Helens, WA10 1PN 

Spinney Medical Centre 23 Whittle Street, Toll Bar, St Helens, WA10 3EB 

Vista Road Surgery  102 Market Street, Newton-Le-Willows, WA12 9BP 

Table 5 – List of Member Practices, St Helens 

 

Information regarding the eligibility for Membership and arrangements for leaving the CCG is 

provided in Section 3 of the CCG’s Constitution.18 

 

CCG’s Governing Body 

 

Composition of Governing Body 

The CCG’s Governing Body consists of 8 clinical members consisting of four GPs (elected 

members), a Secondary Care Consultant, external Executive Nurse, Clinical Accountable 

Officer (who undertook a joint role with St Helens Local Authority in June 2018 as CCG 

Clinical Accountable Officer/ Strategic Director People’s Services) and a Chief Nurse.  

Governing Body is further supported by 2 Lay Members (in addition to a Lay Chair), a Chief 

Finance Officer – also acting in the capacity of CCG Recovery Director, Director of 

Commissioning (undertaken by the Deputy Director People’s Services/ Deputy Accountable 

Officer) and the Director of Public Health (St Helens Local Authority). 

 

Governing Body may invite other people to attend all or any of its meetings or parts of a 

meeting in order to assist it in its decision making and discharge of functions as it sees fit.  In 

2018/19, we continued to have a non-executive observer from St Helens and Knowsley NHS 

Hospital Trust attend Governing Body meetings. 

 

Name Role 

Geoffrey Appleton CCG Lay Chair 

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse CCG Deputy Chair/ CCG GP Representative 

Dr Hilary Flett CCG GP Representative 

Dr Paul Rose CCG GP Representative 

End of term: 31.03.19 

Dr Omar Shaikh CCG GP Representative 

Dr James Catania Secondary Care Consultant 

Elaine Inglesby Executive Nurse 

Left: 01.04.18 

Tony Foy Lay Member – Audit, Finance & Governance 

Mark Weights Lay Member – Patient & Public Involvement (PPI) 

                                                           
18

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2719/final-st-helens-constitution-jan-2018-updated-nov-2018.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2719/final-st-helens-constitution-jan-2018-updated-nov-2018.pdf


 

 Page 54  

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien CCG Clinical Accountable Officer/ Strategic Director People’s 

Services 

Julie Abbott Director of Commissioning/ Deputy Chief Executive 

Left 30.04.18 

Mike Wyatt Recovery Director 

Retired 31.05.18 

Rachel Cleal Deputy Director People’s Services/ Deputy CCG Accountable 

Officer 

Iain Stoddart Chief Finance Officer 

CCG Recovery Director* (from 01.06.18) 

Lisa Ellis Chief Nurse 

Interim Chief Nurse up until 30.04.18 

Susan Forster Director of Public Health (Local Authority) 

Table 6 – Composition of Governing Body 

 

Notes 

 The CCG Deputy Chair’s contract was renewed for a further three years from 1st 

October 2018. 

 The Executive Nurse left on 1st April 2018. 

 The CCG’s Deputy Chief Executive left on 30th April 2018. 

 The CCG Recovery Director retired on 31st May 2018. 

 Two new GP Governing Body members, Dr Susan Hyde and Dr David Reade were 

elected in March 2018, to take up post from 1st April 2019. 

 The Governing Body at its meeting on 22nd May 2019 approved the reappointment of 

the Chair for a further 3 year period with effect from 1st September 2019. 

 

Our website contains biographies of our current Governing Body members.19   

 

Governing Body Meetings 

Governing Body met bi-monthly between April – December 2018, with two extra ordinary 

meetings held in July and December.  From January 2019 it was agreed to amend the 

frequency to monthly to accommodate the amount of activity we undertook. 

 

A list of Governing Body attendance at committees is available in Table 7 below. 

 

                                                           
19

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-governing-body/ 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-governing-body/
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Table 7 – Member Attendance at Governing Body Meetings 2018/19 

 

Notes to Table 7 

* Rachel Cleal joined GB in June 2018, Quality Committee attendance through nominated deputy 

* Julie Abbott left 30/04/2018 

* Mike Wyatt retired 31/05/2018 

* Dr Shaikh attends Members Council as Practice Clinical Lead role, not in his Governing Body role 

* Susan Forster attendance at Quality Committee through nominated deputy 

Forename Surname Job Title Organisation

Governing 

Body 

2018-19

PCCC

2018-19

Q&P/ QC 

2018-19

FGR/ F&P 

2018-19

HROD 

2018-19

MEMBER MEMBER
IN 

ATTENDANCE
MEMBER

IN 

ATTENDANCE
MEMBER MEMBER MEMBER MEMBER MEMBER IN ATTENDANCE

Geoffrey Appleton Lay Chair NHS St Helens CCG 8/9 3/5 5/5 3/3 2/2

Michael Ejuoneatse Deputy Chair/ GP GB Member NHS St Helens CCG 9/9 5/5 2/4 4/5 10/10 3/3 2/2

Hilary Flett GP Governing Body Member NHS St Helens CCG 7/9 5/5 2/4 5/5 9/10

Paul Rose GP Governing Body Member NHS St Helens CCG 8/9 4/5 6/9

Omar Shaikh GP Governing Body Member NHS St Helens CCG 6/9 4/5 3/9

James Catania Secondary Care Consultant NHS St Helens CCG 7/9 4/5 2/2

Tony Foy Lay Member, Audit & Governance NHS St Helens CCG
8/9 4/4 4/5 10/10 3/3 2/2

Mark Weights

Lay Member, Patient & Public 

Involvement NHS St Helens CCG
8/9 4/4 5/5 6/9 2/2

Sarah O’Brien

Strategic Director People's 

Services/ CCG Clinical 

Accountable Officer

NHS St Helens CCG/ St Helens Local 

Authority

8/9 4/5 2/5 6/10 1/3 2/2

Rachel Cleal

Deputy Director People's 

Services/ Deputy CCG 

Accountable Officer

NHS St Helens CCG/ St Helens Local 

Authority

3/8 8/9

Julie Abbott Deputy Chief Executive NHS St Helens CCG 1/1

Lisa Ellis Chief Nurse NHS St Helens CCG 5/9 3/5 4/5 6/9 9/10

Iain Stoddart

Chief Finance Officer/ CCG 

Recovery Director NHS St Helens CCG
8/9 3/5 2/4 3/5 9/10

Susan Forster Director of Public Health St Helens Local Authority 6/9 2/5 8/9

Mike Wyatt CCG Recovery Director St Helens Local Authority 0/2

Rem Comm

2018-19

Members Council 

2018-19

Audit Committee 

2018-19



 

 Page 56  

 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 

confirms:  

 

 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 

report  

 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 

make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 

the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  

 

The Annual Report was approved in line with the CCG Constitution by the Audit Committee 

on 15th April 2019. 

 

 

Committee(s), including Audit Committee 

 

The CCG’s Governing Body is supported by eight distinct committees, as follows: 

1. GP Members Council – representing all member practices of the CCG (as listed in the 

Members Report above) and reflects their clinical opinion. 

2. Primary Care Commissioning Committee – carries out the functions relating to the 

commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act 2006.  This 

Committee is supported by the Primary Care Quality & Contracts Committee (previously 

known as Primary Care Quality & Operational Group). 

3. Executive Leadership Team Committee – a Committee with responsibility for strategic 

and operational management issues within the CCG; including Governance & Risk 

issues.  Where decisions need to be taken as a matter of urgency Governing Body has 

delegated authority to the Clinical Accountable Officer to make decisions on behalf of 

the CCG by convening the ELT as an Urgent Issues meeting (CCG Constitution - 

Standing Orders, Section 3.9). 

4. Audit Committee – This is the Committee of the CCG that provides Governing Body 

with independent assurance through the approval and delivery of annual audit plans, 

review of internal audit reports and monitoring of actions advised. 

5. Finance, Governance & Risk (Finance & Performance from 01.10.18) Committee – 

principal purpose of the FGR Committee was the monitoring of the groups finances and 

governance.  From October 2018 this Committee changed its remit to focus on Finance 

and Performance issues, renaming itself as Finance & Performance Committee.  

Governance & Risk issues were moved under the remit of Executive Leadership Team 

Committee. 

6. Quality & Performance (Quality from 01.10.18) Committee – principal purpose of this 

Committee is the monitoring of the quality of commissioned services/ Providers.  

Monitoring the performance moved under Finance & Performance Committee’s remit in 

October 2018. 

7. Human Resources & Organisational Development (HR&OD) Committee – provides 

assurance to Governing Body that all corporate duties in relation to the HR agenda are 

compliant, and that the CCG is focused on organisational development. 
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8. Remuneration Committee – Section 14M of the NHS Act 2006 provides that the 

Remuneration Committee has the function of making recommendations to Governing 

Body about the exercise of its functions under section 14L(3)(a) and (b) in relation to 

determining the remuneration, fees and allowances payable to employees of the CCG 

and to other persons providing services to it; and determining allowances payable under 

pension schemes established by the CCG.  The Remuneration Committee will address 

any pay and conditions of service related issues and make recommendations on any 

severance payments as necessary. 

 

Further information on all Committees, including their supporting sub groups can be found in 

the Annual Governance Statement (page 52); and full Terms of Reference for each 

committee can be found on our website20: http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-

us/committee-terms-of-reference/  

 

 

Audit Committee 

 

The names of individuals forming the Audit Committee throughout the year and up to the 

signing of the Annual Report & Accounts are: 

 Tony Foy: Lay Member Governance & Audit Chair 

 Mark Weights: Lay Member Patient & Public Involvement  

 Dr Hilary Flett: GP Governing Body Member 

 Alan Whittle: Independent Member 

 

Others in attendance 

 Iain Stoddart: Chief Finance Officer or Deputy 

 Lisa Roberts: Principal Accountant 

 Angela Delea: Associate Director, Corporate Governance 

 Louise Cobain: MIAA Internal Audit 

 Virginia Martin: MIAA Counter Fraud Service (attendance dependent on Agenda 

Item) 

 Grant Thornton External Audit representation 

 

The CCG Lay Chair is also invited to attend one meeting each year in order to form a view 

on, and an understanding of, the committee’s operations.  Please see Page 67 for a 

summary of Audit Committee activity for 2018/19. 

 

Register of Interests 

 

The Declarations of Interests for the CCG’s Governing Body and all Committee Members is 

published on our website.21 

                                                           
20 http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/    

 
21 http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/public-information/register-of-interests/ 

 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/public-information/register-of-interests/
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Personal data related incidents 

 

There were no Personal data related incidents reported to the Information Commissioner’s 

Office (ICO) during 2018/19. 

 

Modern Slavery Act  

 

NHS St Helens CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery 

and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery 

and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  
 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 

Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed 

by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Clinical 

Accountable Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS St Helens CCG. 

 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 

is answerable 

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them 

to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) 

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities) 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 

accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 

of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in 

the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on 

an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position 

and cash flows for the financial year. 

 

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements 

of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 

on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 

material departures in the accounts; and, 

 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 

 Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 

Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced 

and understandable. 
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NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) has appointed Professor Sarah O’Brien as 

Accounting Officer of NHS St Helens CCG.  

 

The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and 

regularity of the public finances for which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping 

proper records and for safeguarding the NHS St Helens CCG’s assets, are set out in 

Managing Public Money published by the HM Treasury. 

 

As the named Accounting Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 

make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that Grant Thornton 

auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit 

information of which the auditors are unaware. 

 

 

 

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien 

Clinical Accountable Officer  

24th May 2019 
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Governance Statement 
 

Introduction and context 

 

NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by 

NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 

services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in 

particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 

considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   

 

As at 1 April 2018, the clinical commissioning group is subject to directions from NHS 

England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006; following an 

inadequate rating under the NHS Assurance Process on 1st September 2016.  These 

directions and will remain in place until they are varied or revoked by NHSE.  More 

information is available via the link https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-

content/uploads/sites/12/2016/09/ccg-directions-st-helens.pdf  

 

In July 2018 we were rated as ‘Good’ – an improvement on the previous year’s rating of 

‘Requires Improvement’. 

 

Scope of responsibility 

 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 

control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 

and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 

Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 

Appointment Letter. 

 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently 

and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 

financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this 

governance statement. 

 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

 

The main function of the CCG’s Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made 

appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently 

and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance 

as are relevant to it. 

 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2016/09/ccg-directions-st-helens.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2016/09/ccg-directions-st-helens.pdf
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In accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) the CCG 

Constitution states that in conducting its business it will, at all times, observe the following: 

 

 the highest standards of propriety involving impartiality, integrity and objectivity in 

relation to the stewardship of public funds, the management of the organisation and 

the conduct of its business 

 the Good Governance Standard for Public Services 

 the standards of behaviour published by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 

(1995) known as the ‘Nolan Principles’ 

 the seven key principles  of the NHS Constitution 

 the Equality Act 2010 

 Standards for Members of NHS Boards and Governing Bodies in England 

 

NHS St Helens CCG Constitution  

 

We maintain a Constitution and associated Standing Orders, Prime Financial Policies and a 

Scheme of Reservation & Delegation, all of which have been approved by the CCG’s 

membership and have previously been certified as compliant with the requirements of the 

NHS.  The Scheme of Reservation & Delegation defines those decisions that are reserved to 

the Council of Members and those that are the responsibility of its Governing Body, the 

CCG’s committees, individual officers and other employees. 

 

The Constitution includes the following information: 

 

 Membership and the area we cover 

 Our Mission, Values and Aims 

 Functions and Duties 

 Decision Making: The General Structure 

 Roles and Responsibilities 

 Standards of Business Conduct and Managing Conflicts of Interest 

 The CCG as an Employer 

 Transparency and Ways of Working 

 Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation and our Prime Financial 

Policies.  

 The Constitution was updated in January 2018 in line with NHS England’s process.  

 In 2019 the Governing Body approved a Governance Handbook, containing 

information previously found in the Constitution including Governance Structure of 

the CCG, Terms of Reference for Committees and the Scheme of Reservation & 

Delegation – in line with NHSE’s Model Constitution Guidance, September 2018. 

 

A copy of our Constitution, including Scheme of Reservation & Delegation can be found on 

our website.22 

 

                                                           
22 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/nhs-constitution/. 

 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/nhs-constitution/
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CCG Governing Body  

 

Governing Body comprises a diverse range of skills from Executive, Clinical and Lay (Non-

Executive) members and there is a clear division of responsibility between the role of 

Governing Body and everyday management of the CCG.  Our Scheme of Delegation details 

how the key CCG functions have been discharged through the organisation as agreed by its 

member practices in the CCG constitution (constitution dated January 2018, now being 

refreshed to reflect NHS England Model Constitution guidance, March 2019).  The Lay Chair 

is responsible for the leadership of Governing Body and ensures that members have access 

to the necessary, relevant information to assist them in the delivery of their duties.  

During 2018/19 Lay Members have actively provided scrutiny and challenge at Governing 

Body and sub-committee level and provided lay scrutiny support to officers in their day to 

day work.   

 

Each CCG sub-committee comprises membership and representation from appropriate 

officers, clinicians and lay members with sufficient experience and knowledge to support the 

committees in discharging their duties. 

 

During 2018/19 there were seven key themes of business addressed by Governing Body: 

1. Partnership Working – Working outside the organisation 

During 2018/19 the Governing Body reviewed and approved the governance arrangements 

and establishment of three collaborative committees – Cheshire and Merseyside 

Collaborative Commissioning Forum, Mid Mersey Joint Committee and Sefton Acute 

Sustainability Joint Committee continuing to strengthen its relationships with neighbouring 

CCGs, local provider trusts and other key stakeholders. 

2. Refresh of Governing Body Assurance Framework 

A full review and refresh of the CCG’s Strategic Objectives and corresponding strategic risks 

was undertaken during Quarter 3; with both objectives and risks being updated in line with 

continued integration into the St Helens Cares model; ensuring appropriate mitigations have 

been identified for each risk and assurance can be provided around their management. 

3. Ongoing review of Governing Body Effectiveness 

Governing Body reviewed and refreshed its Terms of Reference and oversaw effectiveness 

reviews of its delegated committees throughout the year.  Members undertook a Governing 

Body Development programme, ending with an effectiveness review planned for early 2019. 

4. St Helens Cares Development 

Governing Body continued to support the development of St Helens Cares, receiving regular 

updates on its progress and approving the St Helens Cares Collaboration Agreement in 

January 2019, to be signed by key partners working within St Helens Cares. 

5. Communications & Engagement 

During 2018/19 Governing Body continued to be actively involved in Communications and 

Engagement Initiatives undertaken by the CCG, including the CCG Talkfest Events, focusing 

on Integrated Health & Social Care in St Helens; Governing Body reviewed the 2017/18 3600 

Stakeholder Survey feedback and subsequent recommendations for areas of improvement, 

and actively promoted the 2018/19 survey rolled out in January 2019. 
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6. Difficult Decisions 

Throughout 2018/19 Governing Body continued to actively discuss and support areas of 

difficulty/ potential risk to the CCG, including provider performance issues escalated to 

Governing Body, ensuring compliance with the roll out of National Initiatives which required 

amendment/ further support e.g. Urgent Treatment Centre implementation by December 

2018 and discussions around the creation of an Eastern Sector Cancer Hub.  Some of these 

discussions/ decisions were made in private, as per the CCG’s constitution, section 3.1.2.  

The CCG’s Operational & Financial Plans for 2019/20 were approved by Governing Body in 

March 2019. 

7. NHS Long Term Plan & CCG 19/20 Commissioning Intentions 

Governing Body were presented with an overview of the NHS Long Term Plan, including 

around the area of primary care, and the likely resources available for primary medical and 

community services.  Governing Body also approved the CCG Commissioning Intentions for 

2019/20, as recommended by GP Members Council. 

 

As per our Constitution, the CCG GP Membership is required to elect its GP members to 

Governing Body through a clear election process to lead the CCG and represent member 

practices and public in delivering the CCG statutory functions.  The GP Members Council is 

the key forum through which the CCG seeks clinical engagement in delivery of its statutory 

functions and enables the membership to engage and influence further the work of the CCG.   

 

We are clinically-led by GPs and other healthcare professionals, including a Chief Nurse, 

registered nurse and a secondary care doctor.  This ensures that clinicians, who are close to 

our local community and understand the health requirements of the local community, can 

drive improvements.  The locality approach to commissioning and provision of services; 

aligning St Helens GP practices to four distinct localities across the borough has taken 

shape, with the localities being identified as Newton & Haydock, North, South & Central St 

Helens. 

 

During 2018/19 there have been a number of development sessions held for Governing 

Body, focusing on topics such as: Operating in an Integrated Care System, Reviewing 

performance and understanding CCG strategic risks and Safeguarding Children. 

 

 

Governance Structure 

 

The membership determines the composition of the CCG Governing Body and delegates the 

responsibility for the delivery of statutory outcomes to Governing Body.  Governing Body 

seeks assurance on all aspects of clinical commissioning and provides assurance to all 

member practices and other stakeholders that the CCG is operating in a responsible and 

effective manner.  The CCG’s Members Council represents all of the member practices of 

the group and acts as a clinical leadership advisory group to the CCG’s Governing Body. 

 

Governing Body is currently supported by eight committees, some of which are supported by 

operational working groups.  All committees have a responsibility to operate within their 

individual Terms of Reference as defined within our Constitution – copies of each 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/Library/about_us/St%20Helens%20Constitution%20V17%20March%202015.pdf
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committee’s Terms of Reference on our website.23  Governing Body may appoint other such 

committees as it considers appropriate and delegate to them the exercise of any functions of 

the CCG which in its discretion it considers to be appropriate. 

 

The eight Committees of NHS St Helens CCG currently include: 

 

1. GP Members Council 

2. Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

3. Audit Committee 

4. Remuneration Committee 

5. Finance & Performance Committee 

6. Quality Committee 

7. Human Resource & Organisational Development Committee 

8. Executive Leadership Team Committee 

 

In addition, Governing Body is supported by; 

1. Integrated Finance & Performance Board – shadow form for a 12 month period 

2. Mid Mersey Joint Committee (made up of representatives from the Mid Mersey CCG’s 

– Halton, Knowsley, St Helens & Warrington) 

 

 

Full Terms of Reference for each Committee can be found on our website.24  

 

 

Working Groups 

 

Committees have the power to convene operational working groups in order to focus on 

specific areas – these working groups will abide by the same governance principles as the 

Committees and sub committees e.g. around the management of Declarations of Interests.  

Although formal administration support of working groups may not be required, working 

groups are required to produce regular reports to their respective committees in order to 

inform discussions.   

                                                           
23

 http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/ 
24

 http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/ 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/
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Figure 2: CCG Committee Framework (as at 31st March 2019) 

 

The summaries below outline the key functions of each Governing Body Committee, 

including Primary Care Commissioning Committee and GP Members Council; and the key 

highlights/activity within each. 

 

 

GP Members Council 

 

The GP Members Council is the key forum through which the CCG accesses clinical 

engagement in delivery of its statutory functions and enables the membership to engage and 

influence further the work of the CCG.  It represents all of the 34 member practices within St 

Helens, reflecting their clinical expertise and opinions.  There have been five GP Members 

Council meetings held between April 2018 and March 2019, all have been quorate. 24 

practices (71%) have had 50% or more attendance.  Seven practices (21%) have had 100% 

attendance. 

 

During 2018/19, the GP Members Council has been involved in various clinical 

commissioning discussions and decisions, providing clinical expertise around proposed new 

services, and revisions to existing services, including a redesign of Podiatry Services, 

development of Ambulatory Emergency Care Sensitive Conditions pathway, Dermatology 

pathway, Integrated Urgent Care Model and Improved Access Specification; plus 

involvement in 2018 Winter Planning, Eastern Cancer Hub development, St Helens Cares 

Clinical and Support Model – move towards Locality Working25, development of a Lead 

                                                           
25

 
http://moderngov.sthelens.gov.uk/documents/s74939/StH%20Cares%20Clinical%20and%20Support%20Strate
gy%20V5%2017.04.18.pdf 

http://moderngov.sthelens.gov.uk/documents/s74939/StH%20Cares%20Clinical%20and%20Support%20Strategy%20V5%2017.04.18.pdf
http://moderngov.sthelens.gov.uk/documents/s74939/StH%20Cares%20Clinical%20and%20Support%20Strategy%20V5%2017.04.18.pdf
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Provider Collaboration Agreement and the ongoing development of GP Networks.  The GP 

Members Council has been fully briefed throughout the year on progress against our 

Operational Plan, IAF ratings and Commissioning Intentions for 2019/20. 

 

In July 2018, the GP Members Council approved the re-election of the CCG’s Deputy Chair 

for a further three year period, and in March 2019, agreed the election of two GPs onto the 

CCG Governing Body in place of Dr Paul Rose whose term ended 31st March 2019.  The 

approval of these elections takes the GP Governing Body membership to five GPs, 

scheduled to join the CCG on 1st April 2019 for an initial three year period.  In November 

2018, the GP Members Council also discussed the revised model Constitution, and agreed 

the delegation of non-material changes to the CCG’s GP Governing Body members for 

approval.  Other areas of discussion/ decision during the year include the publication of the 

CCG Annual Report 2017/18; CCG QIPP/ Recovery Plan 2018/19 progress, updates to 

Individual Funding Request (IFR) Principles and Processes and exceptionality; primary care 

recruitment initiatives and in March 2019 the recently published NHS Long Term Plan 

 

 

Audit Committee 

 

Our Audit Committee provides Governing Body with independent assurance through the 

approval and delivery of annual audit plans, review of internal audit reports and monitoring of 

actions advised.  For further information on the Audit Committee (including membership) see 

the Members Report (page 52). 

 

During 2018/19 the Audit Committee oversaw the delivery of the 2018/19 internal audit 

programme and monitored completion of action plans from audits undertaken during the 

year.  The Committee reviewed the arrangements for the Management of Conflicts of 

Interest and Gifts and Hospitality including a full review of the CCG’s four registers – 

Declaration of Interests, Conflicts of Interest Breaches, Gifts, Hospitality & Sponsorship 

Register and Register of Procurement Decisions; the Committee approved the Risk 

Management Strategy, updated to incorporate the CCG’s revised Strategic Objectives and 

review of the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) undertaken by Governing 

Body during Quarter 3. 

 

 

Finance, Governance & Risk Committee/ Finance & Performance Committee 

 

From April 2018 to September 2018, the Finance, Governance & Risk (FGR) Committee 

provided assurance to Governing Body in relation to the discharge of statutory functions in 

line with our Constitution and its prime financial policies. 

 

Additional responsibilities included: 

 Overseeing delivery of corporate objectives including the management of the 

corporate risk register and Governing Body Assurance Framework 

 Providing assurance to Governing Body on all financial matters in relation to the 

discharge of its Statutory Functions in line with the Constitution’s prime financial 

policies 
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 Ensuring that financial and activity performance of commissioned services are 

monitored 

 Responsibility for taking appropriate action within contract terms and in support of the 

NHS Constitution, on behalf of Governing Body, to remedy any finance and 

performance variations, for example to those outlined in the CCG Assurance 

Framework and the Clinical Commissioning Plan 

 Approving service developments brought forward from the other committees and 

allocate resources according to annual financial plans. 

 

In October 2018, the Committee’s remit changed to focus on Finance & Performance, with 

the Governance & Risk elements being absorbed into the Executive Leadership Team.  The 

Committee continued to be chaired by the GP Governing Body Member with a lead on 

Finance and Performance, Dr Hilary Flett; Vice Chair being Dr Paul Rose.   

 

The Committee reviewed its Terms of Reference to reflect the change in Committee focus, 

and change to Finance & Performance.  These were approved by Governing Body in 

January 2019.   

 

During 2018/19 the key focus of the Committee remained, as the previous year in providing 

oversight and scrutiny of the CCG Improvement Plan, monitoring financial performance, 

assessing risk and recommending mitigation actions and control; and monitoring delivery of 

the CCG’s QIPP Programme.  During 2018/19 the Committee continued to ensure 

compliance with key statutory governance requirements ensuring effective review of the 

CCG’s emergency planning and business continuity arrangements – in September 2018 the 

Committee received the findings of the CCG self-assessment of its compliance against its 

statutory duties in relation to Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response (EPRR), and 

assessed itself as fully compliant in this area against the national standards required as part 

of the Civil Contingencies Act.  The Committee has continued to oversee the organisation’s 

risk management strategy via on-going review of the Corporate Risk Register and Governing 

Body Assurance Framework, ensuring that significant risks are reported directly to the 

Governing Body for review following Committee scrutiny.  During 2018/19 FGR Committee 

approved the revised Information Governance Policy, Staff Code of Conduct and IG 

Handbook. 

 

 

Integrated Finance & Performance Board 

 

From October 2018, a shadow Integrated Finance & Performance Board was established by 

the CCG and St Helens Council, as permitted by the Regulations (SI 2000 [617] 10.2); to 

provide scrutiny and challenge around the functions delegated by the Partners in the 

Overarching Partnership Agreement (s75); with a focus on ensuring that any finance plans 

are consistent with, and complementary to, the Integrated Budgets, Integrated 

Commissioning Plan and St Helens Cares Strategic Direction. 
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Quality & Performance Committee/ Quality Committee 

 

The Quality Committee (Quality & Performance Committee up until October 2018) is 

responsible for assurance on the quality (in relation to safety, clinical effectiveness and 

patient experience) of all CCG commissioned services.  The Committee has authority to 

approve or reject new service specifications.  The Committee is supported by the following 

sub-groups: 

 

 Medicines Management Committee 

 Patient Experience and Involvement Group (PEIG) 

 Clinical Quality Performance Groups (CQPGs) for each provider organisation 

 CDIFF Review Panel 

 Serious Incident Review Group 

 Anti-Microbial Resistance (AMR) Group 

 St Helens Screening and Immunisation Group. 

 

Additionally in line with national guidance, NHSE (Cheshire & Merseyside) holds a Quality 

Surveillance Group (QSG) to bring key agencies together to oversee and assure regarding 

quality across NHS providers.  We are a member of this group and submit an overview of all 

the providers it commissions at each meeting and feedback from the QSG is brought to the 

Quality Committee by the Chief Nurse.  

 

Key Activity during 2018/19: 

 

The Quality Committee:  

 Reviewed and approved a number of service specifications (including a new 

specification for Referral Management – May 2018, Inpatient and Community 

Specifications for North West Boroughs Learning Disability Services – Sept 2018, and 

a Children’s SLT Service Specification – Dec 2018) 

 Received update reports in relation to progress against the CCG’s Operational Plan 

e.g. for urgent care, elective care, mental health and Learning Disabilities and primary 

care.  The committee also received regular reports in relation to constitutional 

standards, quality premium and the IAF 

 Approved both new and updated policies (including QIA Policy Version 2 – Sept 2018, 

CCG Safeguarding Policy & Safeguarding Supervision Policy – Feb 2019, CHC Joint 

Operational Policy – Feb 2019) 

 Reviewed and approved the Corporate Risk Register – Quality related risks on a bi-

monthly basis 

 Received quarterly update reports on Complaints, Safeguarding Adults and Children, 

Serious Incidents monitoring and Provider CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and 

Innovation) achievements 2018/19 

 Other update reports received included; Infection Control End of Year update & 

changes to Public Health England mandatory requirements in the coming year 18/19, 

Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR), Screening and Immunisation - reviewing and 

agreeing action plans; findings of Quality Provider Visits 

 Reviewed and approved Pan Mersey Area Prescribing Committee Recommendations 

(monthly), E-coli BSI Action Plan (approved in April 2018); revised Committee work 
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plan – in relation to Committee Structure changes in September 2018, with 

Performance elements being absorbed into the Finance & Performance Committee 

 Received for information and discussion the Cancer Breach Annual Report in Sept 

2018; the revised 2018/19 aligned Quality Schedule, CQPG work plan and Assurance 

Template; the Equality & Diversity Annual Report (recommending Governing Body 

approval of the Equality Objectives Plan 2019-2021 in February 2019) 

 The Quality Committee also oversaw the delivery of the recommendations from the 

review of Improving Access to Psychological Therapy (IAPT), undertaken by NHS 

England Intensive Support Team; and in accordance with the Transforming Care 

Programme the Committee continued to oversee the delivery of the programme 

requirements and the plans to repatriate identified service users back into the 

community. 

 

 

Human Resources & Organisational Development (HR&OD) Committee 

 

The HR & OD Committee ensures compliance with statutory requirements and has 

responsibility for Organisational Development, Human Resources & Equality and Diversity.  

There were three HR & OD Committee meetings during 2018/19; all were quorate. 

 

Key highlights/ Items of business during 2018/19 included the approval and effective 

monitoring of the updated OD Strategy and Plan 2018/19, approval of a suite of core CCG 

HR policies and protocols as part of an agreed work plan; including the approval of a new 

Transgender Workforce Policy and Apprenticeship Policy; and an agreed process for the 

recognition of service.  The Committee received the outcome of the Independent Staff Focus 

Consultations, carried out during Spring 2018; which showed significant evidence of the 

amount of activity undertaken in meeting our OD plan; and the difference this has made to 

the organisation and staff development.  The Committee also oversaw our integration into St 

Helen’s Integrated People’s Services (SHIPs), with St Helens Council. 

 

The Committee undertook quarterly HR performance monitoring and received an update on 

progress made against the Equality & Diversity Workforce plan.  During the year the 

Committee also agreed the implementation of a generic pool of clinical leads to support the 

CCG as needed. 

 

 

Remuneration Committee 

 

The Remuneration Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s Constitution and 

is accountable to Governing Body.  As per section 14M of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) 

the Remuneration Committee has the function of making recommendations to Governing 

Body about the exercise of its functions under section 14L(3)(a) and (b) - functions in relation 

to:  

 

Determining the remuneration, fees and allowances payable to employees of the CCG and 

to other persons providing services to it; and determining allowances payable under pension 

schemes established by the CCG.  The Committee may also make recommendations on any 
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severance payments; address any pay and conditions of service related issues including 

(but not limited to): Contractual notice periods, subsistence and expenses, redundancy and 

compensation, performance related pay, annual inflationary uplifts and benchmarking/ 

review of remuneration levels. 

 

During 2018/19 there was one Remuneration Committee meeting (January 2019) which was 

quorate.  In response to updated guidance from NHSE around the Model Constitution, the 

Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed and updated ensuring clarity around the 

role of the committee in making recommendations to Governing Body in relation to 

remuneration, fees and allowances.  It is the responsibility of Governing Body to make 

decisions about pay – acting on the advice of the Remuneration Committee.  Updated Terms 

of Reference were approved by Governing Body in November 2018.  In January 2019, in 

response to an audit, undertaken by MIAA on Remuneration Frameworks across Cheshire & 

Merseyside, the Committee Terms of Reference were updated to clarify the role of the 

committee in determining the recruitment process for certain Governing Body roles. 

 

During 2018/19 the Remuneration Committee also approved the terms and conditions 

relating to the appointment of a ‘Clinical Leads Pool’ of GPs to support the work of the CCG.  

The Committee received and approved the updated Remuneration Framework, and pay 

rates for Very Senior Managers (VSM) and Governing Body members. 

 

Following the MIAA audit, a work plan was developed for the Committee, ensuring key items 

of business (including IR35 Compliance reviews, VSM Pay reviews and HR Contract 

Benchmarking; were included in the committee cycle of business each year. 

 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is established on approval by NHS England 

as the decision making committee having oversight of delegated commissioning of primary 

care (General Practice).  Meetings are held in public bi-monthly and the committee is 

supported by a working group – Primary Care Quality & Contracts Committee (PCQCC – 

previously known as Primary Care Quality & Operational Group), which meets monthly.  The 

work plan of this group is agreed by the Primary Care Commissioning Committee, and 

includes delegated responsibility for day to day management of the Primary Care corporate 

risk register, financial monitoring, contract variations and, in cooperation with the Quality 

Committee and Finance & Performance Committee, monitoring of quality and performance. 

 

During 2018/19 the committee has been involved in discussions around the sustainability of 

Primary Care within the borough and difficulties in GP recruitment and succession planning 

(reflective of the national shortage of GPs); the committee approved involvement in a 

number of national initiatives including the International GP Recruitment programme.  Other 

areas of discussion/ decision making included branch closure applications, mitigations to 

prevent branch closures; contract monitoring and the successful new build of premises for 

Eccleston Medical Centre, which has been in temporary accommodation since 2006.   

 

Throughout the year the committee has received assurance from the CCG’s Primary Care 

Team that work is ongoing with practices to ensure long term sustainability, patient safety 
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and quality of services.  The committee reviewed and rejected a proposal to jointly support 

(including financial contribution) an estates development with NHS Wigan CCG, due to the 

adverse impact on a branch surgery and patient list located in Billinge.  The Primary Care 

Commissioning Committee also received regular Public Health related updates, in line with 

its responsibility to NHSE to improve quality of primary care services.  An internal committee 

effectiveness review was carried out during July/ August 2018 and presented to both 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee and PCQCC. 

 

Discussions have focused around Primary Care Networks, including the CCG hosting the 

Mid Mersey LMC Event in March 2019, attended by Dr Richard Vautrey, nationally elected 

member of the BMA Council and Chair of the British Medical Association's General 

Practitioners Committee.  During the year the Committee also approved the specification for 

an online consultation procurement process. 

 

 

Executive Leadership Team Committee 

 

All of our management functions (with the exception of those delegated to individuals or to 

another committee of Governing Body or reserved to Governing Body as detailed in the 

Scheme of Reservation and Delegation) are delegated to the Executive Leadership Team 

(ELT) for day to day management and delivery.  The ELT makes recommendations on 

delivery of strategy and commissioning plans and takes day to day decisions on 

performance management and risk management to provide robust assurance to Governing 

Body. 

 

The ELT has authority from Governing Body to make decisions in respect of any QIPP or 

financial recovery related actions to ensure that there is no delay in progress.  The 

Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed and ratified at Governing Body in January 

2019. 

 

In October 2018, the ELT took up the responsibility for oversight and management of the 

Risk Management Strategy and Governance from Finance, Governance & Risk Committee, 

which had changed its focus to Finance & Performance. 

 

During 2018/19, the ELT reviewed and approved a number of policies including; a new 

Controlled Environment for Finance Policy, revised Procurement & Contestability Strategy 

2018/19, updated Management of Conflicts of Interest, Gifts & Hospitality Policy, Standards 

of Business Conduct Policy and a Merseyside wide Whistleblowing – Freedom to Speak Up 

Policy.  The Committee agreed to an extension of the existing Any Qualified Provider (AQP) 

Podiatry Contract, and approved the Staff Privacy Notice, updated in line with the 

introduction of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 2018/ Data Protection Act 

2018.  The Committee received quarterly Health & Safety updates; reviewed the full CCG 

Corporate Risk Register and assigned risk appetite statements to each of the 5 identified 

Strategic Risks. 
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Joint Committees 
 

Mid Mersey Joint Committee 

 

In response to ‘The Five Year Forward View’ which required every health and care system 

to come together to create their own ambitious local blueprint for accelerating 

implementation of the NHS Five Year Forward View; within Cheshire and Merseyside, a Mid 

Mersey Joint Committee was established including representation from four CCGs (NHS 

Halton CCG, NHS Knowsley CCG, NHS St. Helens CCG and NHS Warrington CCG), and 

Terms of Reference were agreed by all four CCG Governing Bodies. 

 

The overarching role of the Mid Mersey Joint Committee is to take commissioning decisions 

for the footprint, that are appropriate and in accordance with delegated authority from each 

CCG Member.  Decisions will support the aims and objectives of the Cheshire & Merseyside 

Health and Care Partnership (previously known as the Cheshire & Mersey STP) whilst 

contributing to the sustainability of the local health and social care systems.  The Joint 

Committee is responsible for the delivery of a programme of transformation / service 

redesign across a defined range of services commissioned by its members. 

 

During 2018/19 key areas of work agreed included the Eastern Sector Cancer Hub, Stroke – 

progressing the Mid Mersey Stroke Model (see page 13) and Urgent Care. 

 

 

Other Committees and Groups 

 

Representatives of the CCG have been active members on a number of key committees and 

groups, and have also led on the establishment of strategic groups across the wider health 

care system.  These committees and groups deliver a mix of advisory, scrutiny, partnership 

and development functions.  The CCG’s clinical engagement and managerial/ leadership 

presence has ensured and supported the delivery of a range of statutory and other functions. 

 

In 2018/19 the CCG has undertaken a system leadership role in supporting:  

 Health and Care Partnership in Cheshire & Merseyside 

 St Helens People’s Board 

 St Helens Cares Executive Board 

 St Helens Cares Provider Board 

 St Helens Cares Finance & Contracting Group 

 St Helens Cares Stakeholder Reference Forum 

 Cheshire & Merseyside Collaborative Commissioning Forum 

 Strategic Estates Group 

 Joint Auditor Panel 

 Mid Mersey A&E Delivery Board 

 Urgent Care Operations Group 

 Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership 
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Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership 

 

The Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership has organised into a number of 

strategic programmes including but not limited to; Whole System Integration, Acute 

Sustainability, Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Sustainability, Prevention, Place 

Based Care Systems, enabling work streams (estates, workforce, digitalisation and finance) 

and is underpinned by at scale delivery boards. 

 

We are committed to supporting and proactively participating in the work of the Partnership.  

The Clinical Accountable Officer is a member of the System Management Board 

representing C&M Commissioners and is also Senior Responsible Officer for the Diabetes 

programme and Place Based Care and Model facilitation and support.  We have identified a 

CCG lead for each strategic programme, enabling work stream and programme board to 

ensure full engagement in the work of the Partnership.   

 

 

UK Corporate Governance Code 

 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.  

However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon 

best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we 

consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice. 

 

 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

 

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has 

reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislation and regulations.  As a result, I can 

confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements 

associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 

restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 

capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
 

Capacity to Handle Risk/ Risk Assessment  

 

A review of our Strategic Objectives was undertaken with Governing Body in October 2018; 

whereby Governing Body reviewed each of the existing CCG strategic risks – defining the 

main risks.  Following this session the Executive Leadership Team assigned proposed risk 

appetite statements to each of the strategic risks, which were approved by Governing Body 

in November 2018, as follows: 

 

Strategic Objective Appetite Statement 

Objective 1:   

To deliver financial stability 

OPEN 

Risk scoring 4-12 

may be accepted 

 

We will encourage new thinking and 

ideas that could lead to improved 

financial and operational performance 

Objective 2:   

To integrate health within the 

place of St Helens through 

system redesign 

OPEN 

Risk scoring 4-12 

may be accepted 

 

We will seek creative ideas for 

improving and broadening care delivery 

through integration and encourage a 

similar attitude to risk amongst our 

partners 

Objective 3:   

To deliver improved outcomes 

for people 

AVERSE 

Risk scoring 1-3 

may be discussed 

and agreed by 

Board 

 

We will endeavour to eliminate all but 

very lowest levels of risk that could 

jeopardise patient safety and 

experience 

Objective 4:   

To be recognised as good 

system leaders 

CAUTIOUS 

Risk scoring 1-3 

may be accepted 

 

 

We will take low risk options to enhance 

our standing as a system leader across 

Cheshire & Merseyside, though none 

that could threaten our financial position 

Objective 5:  

To support and transform 

primary care to be a system 

leader in St Helens Cares 

HUNGRY 

Risk scoring 15-25 

may be accepted 

 

We will actively support innovative and 

pioneering approaches that may lead to 

demonstrable transformation of primary 

care services in St Helens 

 

Governing Body confirmed its overarching risk appetite to remain as follows; 

“The CCG recognises that the long term sustainability of services in St Helens depend upon 

the delivery of the Improvement Plan, strategic objectives and its relationships with partners 

and the public.  Therefore, whilst the CCG will not accept risks that materially impact on the 

safety or constitutional requirements of patient care, it has a greater appetite to take 

considered risks in terms of their impact on organisational issues, within our required 

frameworks.  The CCG’s highest risk appetite relates to its transformational objectives”. 
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We reviewed the Risk Management Strategy in March 2019 through Audit Committee to 

reflect the review and subsequent amendments, and can be found on our website26. 

 

The Audit Committee continues to have delegated responsibility from Governing Body to 

ensure that there is an appropriate governing body assurance framework (GBAF) in place 

and operational responsibility resides with the Executive Leadership Team Committee.  This 

committee tests the assessment of risk and the associated ratings as well as examining in 

more detail the robustness of the controls and mitigations.  

 

All risk registers use the same risk scoring matrices to ensure consistency in describing 

risks across the organisation; these matrices are based on the NPSA matrices but have 

been customised for local use to reflect our tolerance to risk.  We have established a 

number of mechanisms for identifying and managing risks including risk profiling 

methodology, incident reporting, complaints and litigation data, and staff concerns/whistle-

blowing.  

 

Risk management training is facilitated by the governance team, which includes; 

 One to one training for risk owners 

 Focused discussion at executive and senior management team meetings and 

 Specific training with committees facilitated by MIAA as needed 

 Regular review and updating/ communicating policies and procedures relating to risk 

management 

 

 

Other sources of assurance 

 

Internal Control Framework 

 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 

commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 

identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 

impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. 

 

We identify and prioritise risk at a strategic level through the CCG Governing Body 

Assurance Framework (GBAF).  The GBAF details the key strategic objectives for the CCG 

and the risks that may prevent achievement against these objectives.  Governing Body and 

Executive Leadership Team have actively assessed the potential risks to the delivery of its 

objectives and the key controls in place to ensure effective delivery; in line with the 

organisation’s risk appetite.  Any gaps in control and assurance have been identified with 

action plans developed to ensure they are addressed. 

 

                                                           
26

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3017/risk-management-strategy-v4-mar-2019.pdf 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3017/risk-management-strategy-v4-mar-2019.pdf


 

 Page 77  

 

The GBAF feeds down into the Corporate Risk Register as risks become realised and 

require active management by the appropriate Committee of Governing Body and lead 

officer.  Project Level risks are managed within the CCG’s robust PMO process, escalating 

up to the Corporate Risk Register as required – once they cannot be managed at project 

level alone.  The GBAF is presented for assurance and review to Governing Body on a 

quarterly basis and is currently overseen centrally by the Executive Leadership Team 

Committee; the Corporate Risk Register is presented monthly to its relevant Committee, and 

again overseen centrally by the Executive Leadership Team Committee.  Project level risks 

are overseen by the Project Management Office and are presented to Finance & 

Performance Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 

In Quarter 4 (February 2019), MIAA assessed the approach to which we maintain and use 

the Assurance Framework to support the overall assessment of governance, risk 

management and internal control.  The findings concluded that: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The assessment noted that our Assurance Framework included consideration of risk 

appetite/ target risks.  In particular, we had enhanced our approach in this area during 

2018/19 by defining a risk appetite for each strategic objective.  Each risk on the Assurance 

Framework is linked to the relevant strategic objective and a target risk score is included.  In 

addition Governing Body minutes demonstrate that the Assurance Framework is visibly 

used by the organisation. 

 

The risks identified in 2018/19 within both the GBAF and Corporate Risk Register fall across 

all five strategic objectives as shown in Table 8 below.  As at 31st March 2019 there were 12 

strategic risks and 30 corporate risks, as follows 

 

Table 8 CCG Strategic & Corporate Objectives 

Strategic Objective High 

(15-25) 

Medium 

(9-14) 

Low  

(4-8) 

 Strategic Corporate Strategic Corporate Strategic Corporate 

1. To deliver financial 

stability 

0 2 2 7 0 1 

2. To integrate health 

within the place of 

St Helens through 

system redesign 

1 3  4 0 0 

3. To deliver 

improved 

outcomes for 

people 

0 3 4 5 0 1 

  

“The organisation’s GBAF is structured to meet NHS requirements, is visibly 

used by the CCG’s Governing Body and clearly reflects the risks discussed by 

Governing Body”. 
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4. To be recognised 

as good system 

leaders 

0 0 1 2 0 0 

5. To support and 

transform primary 

care to be a 

system leader in 

St Helens Cares 

2 0 1 2 0 0 

6. Risk of no-deal 

Brexit to Health & 

Social Care 

system in 

delivering safe 

and effective 

services 

1 0 0 0 0 0 

 

The key risk areas for the CCG in this year have been: 

 Delivery of financial sustainability/ stability 

 Delivery of improvements/ improved outcomes through system redesign (including 

failure to achieve savings as identified in the QIPP Plan) 

 Demand not staying within contracted levels leading to pressures on CCG budget 

 Developing the necessary capacity and capability as system leaders – including 

ensuring effective clinical engagement & influence 

 Ensuring provider quality and standards of patient care & experience 

 Increasing threats emerging from cyber security and the need to protect IT systems 

 Attraction and retention of a workforce across the St Helens footprint to deliver future 

models of care 

 

Developing the necessary capacity and capability as system leaders was closed as a 

strategic risk in November 2018 due to mitigations in place and progress made; the 

remaining risks continue to be the identified risks for us in the coming year; in addition to 

uncertainty around future structures e.g. Health and Care Partnership (STP), Integrated 

Care Systems (ICS) and delivering the requirements of the recently published NHS Long 

Term Plan. 

 

During 2018/19 we made further improvements to the way we record and report on risks, 

using the Insights ‘Datix’ software system; which centrally records both strategic (GBAF) 

and operational (CRR) risks.  This helps with identifying patterns and themes within risk 

groups. 

 

 

Audit Reports 

During January 2019, Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) carried out an internal audit of 

delegated CCGs primary medical care commissioning arrangements, as mandated by 

NHSE.  We were rated as providing ‘Substantial Assurance’, with two medium 

recommendations and 2 low recommendations.  This report will be formally presented to 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee and Audit Committee in May, for approval. 
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (revised June 2017) 

requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management.  To 

support CCGs to undertake this task, NHSE published a template audit framework.  

Management of conflicts of interest is taken very seriously by the CCG and we work within a 

robust Conflict of Interest Management Policy and Framework in undertaking our CCG 

Business.  Assurance on this is provided quarterly to NHSE and the CCG undertakes 

annual training and development with staff and the Governing Body.  Our Corporate Policy 

regarding the Management of Conflicts of Interest, based on NHSE guidance was reviewed 

in November 2018. 

 

We have an appointed Conflicts of Interest Guardian, undertaken by the Lay Member for 

Audit & Governance.  There have been no conflict of interest breaches during 2018/19 – 

however we have a published Conflicts of Interest Breaches Log on our website27. 

 

We recognise that failure to manage Conflicts of Interest effectively can and will result in a 

loss of public and partner confidence in the CCG.  In addition to the Conflict of Interest 

Breaches Log, we also publish three registers on our website: 

1. Conflicts of Interest Register28 

2. Gifts, Hospitality and Sponsorship Register29; and  

3. Register of Procurement Decisions30 

 

The Audit Committee undertook a detailed review of all registers with the Corporate 

Governance Team during November 2018, noting robust systems in place and identifying 

areas for further improvement to ensure complete transparency.  

 

MIAA undertook a full audit of our Conflict of Interest Management policy and processes 

during December 2018, as part of the Internal Audit plan.  The overall objective of the audit 

was to evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of the arrangements that we have in 

place to manage conflicts of interest and Gifts and Hospitality, including compliance with 

NHS England’s statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs. 

 

The audit findings were as follows: 

1. Governance arrangements: Fully Compliant 

2. Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality: Fully Complaint  

3. Register of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions: Fully Complaint  

4. Decision making processes and contract monitoring: Fully Complaint 

5. Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/ non-compliance: Fully 

Complaint 

 

                                                           
27 http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2006/coi-breach-log-mar-2018.pdf.   
28

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3013/coi-datix-report-april-2019.pdf 
29

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2712/hospitality-register-2018-2019-oct-2018.pdf 
30

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2764/2018-19-register-of-procurement-decisions.pdf 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1972/datix-report-feb-2018.pdf
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1927/hospitality-register-2017-2018-updated-jan-2018.pdf
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/1570/2016-17-register-of-procurement-decisions.pdf
http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2006/coi-breach-log-mar-2018.pdf
https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/3013/coi-datix-report-april-2019.pdf
https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2712/hospitality-register-2018-2019-oct-2018.pdf
https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/media/2764/2018-19-register-of-procurement-decisions.pdf


 

 Page 80  

 

All identified CCG employees and the majority (28 out of 34 practices) of GP Practice 

representatives on the GP Members Council undertook the NHSE online Conflicts of 

Interest Training module during 2018/19; this training will be refreshed again during 

2019/20. 

 

Data Quality 

All reports received by the Governing Body provide information on how they link to the 

Governing Body Assurance Framework.  The Governing Body and its committees receive 

monthly performance and quality reports which contain a significant range of data which 

officers ensure is the most up to date available and from reliable sources such contract data 

sets, nationally published data etc.  The Governing Body as part of monthly discussions on 

all reports seek assurance on the accuracy and timeliness of the data and have found it 

acceptable. 

 

The data about quality performance is provided through Midland & Lancashire 

Commissioning Support Unit.  This is analysed internally by the Performance Team who 

provide Committee reports.  Any issues identified relating to the quality of data is risk 

assessed and discussed at the relevant Committee and/or Governing Body.   

 

Having assessed the quality of data submitted and reviewed I am assured that the data is of 

sufficient quality that the Governing Body can carry out its duties. 

 

Information Governance 

The legal framework governing the use of personal confidential data in health care is 

complex.  It includes the NHS Act 2006, the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the Data 

Protection Act 2018, and as of May 2018 the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR), 

and the Human Rights Act.  The law allows personal data to be shared between those 

offering care directly to patients but it protects patients’ confidentiality when data about them 

are used for other purposes.  These “secondary uses” of data are essential if we are to run a 

safe, efficient, and equitable health service.  They include: 

 

 Reviewing and improving the quality of care provided 

 Researching what treatments work best 

 Commissioning clinical services 

 Planning public health services 

 

The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security & Protection 

(DSP) toolkit; with an annual submission process providing assurances to the clinical 

commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is 

dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems 

and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  Since the 

implementation of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) in May 2018, and 

updated Data Protection Act 2018 we have, with the support of Midlands & Lancashire CSU; 

established an information governance management framework and information 

governance processes and procedures in line with the new legislation; including the revised 

Data Security & Protection Toolkit.  Our Privacy notice, around the use of patient data can 
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be found on our website.31  We have ensured all staff have had the opportunity to undertake 

annual information governance training during the year and have implemented a staff 

information governance handbook, Code of Conduct and supporting policies to ensure staff 

are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities; an updated clause 

around staff responsibilities in regards to information governance has been included within 

standard employment contracts. 

 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  

During 2018/19 we have invested a lot of time, with the support of the CSU into developing 

information risk assessment and management procedures (using the U_Assure and Datix 

systems) and will ensure an information risk culture is embedded throughout the 

organisation against identified risks.  

 

During 2018/19 we reported that there have been no serious incidents relating to information 

governance including data loss or confidentiality breaches.  During 2018/19 MIAA undertook 

an audit of the CCG’s Data Protection & Security Toolkit (DSPT) – auditing the following 

standards:  

 

 Data Standard One – Personal Confidential Data 

 Data Standard Four – Managing Data Access 

 Data Standard Six – Responding to Incidents 

 Data Standard Ten – Accountable Suppliers 

The audit rated the DPST as providing Substantial Assurance to the CCG. 

 

Business Critical Models 

We maintain an organisational Information Asset Register (using U_Assure software) which 

identifies business critical assets within the CCG, including hosted services (CHC, Infection 

Control).  Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators have been 

assigned and all information assets have been reviewed during 2018/19.  We have 

identified the Chief Finance Officer as the Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO), who is 

responsible for identifying and managing information risks; and the Chief Nurse as Caldicott 

Guardian with responsibility for overseeing risks relating specifically to patient data.  In line 

with the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) in May 2018, 

we appointed a Data Protection Officer to inform and advise the CCG and employees about 

the GDPR obligations and other data protection laws. 

 

Data flow mapping is completed through the U_Assure system which enables an 

understanding of the flows of information related to all information assets on the Information 

Asset Register.  Information Asset Owners are responsible for providing updates and 

highlighting any risks to the SIRO.  The CCG is further supported through a contract 

arrangement with NHS Midlands & Lancashire CSU, who host the U_Assure software and 

provide direct support through its IG Team. 

 

We are one of six local NHS organisations that receive IT services from St Helens & 

Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust’s Health Informatics Service.  There is a joint 

                                                           
31

 https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/ccg-privacy-notice/ 

https://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/ccg-privacy-notice/
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Service Level Agreement between the parties who have agreed to share this service with 

the intention of pooling their collective resources and expertise in order to ensure that they 

have capacity, capability and flexibility required for a modern health informatics service.  

Partner organisations are committed to ensuring this shared informatics service provides 

value for money for their respective organisations.  We are represented on the Partnership 

Board that is responsible for the oversight of the service, and has both clinical and 

managerial representation on the sub-group of the Board. 

 

Third party assurances 

We receive a level of commissioning support through NHS Midlands & Lancashire 

Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) and both a Health Informatics Service (IT) and Payroll 

Service hosted by a local NHS Trust.  The services provided are delivered in line with a 

clear service specification and performance is monitored and managed through a lead 

manager and local managerial links and reported to the Finance & Performance Committee 

and Executive Leadership Team Committee.  Regular performance reviews and 

communication meetings enable us to ensure the effectiveness of provision; there are no 

identified issues at this time.  As part of our Internal Audit Plan, the HR System (ESR) that is 

used by both CSU & Payroll was audited to ensure controls in place are effective and being 

applied consistently.  The overall assurance given was ‘Substantial’. 

 

Complaints Management 

We welcome compliments (positive feedback) about services but also believe that receiving 

comments, concerns and complaints from service users is equally as important.  These can 

help us to solve problems, learn lessons, and lead to service improvements.  NHS Midlands 

and Lancashire CSU deliver a service on our behalf which includes Complaints 

management, Reponses to letters from local MPs and A Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

(PALS).  Quarterly reports on complaints, concerns and compliments are provided to the 

Quality Committee for review.  During 2018/19 we had two complaints accepted for 

investigation by the Parliamentary Ombudsman, one of which was partially upheld, and one 

was not upheld.  All recommendations from the Ombudsman were complied with. 

 

 

Control Issues 
There are no significant control issues to report. 

 

 

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of 

resources 
 

The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has 

appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 

economically and in accordance with the group’s principles of good governance. 

We apply a number of key processes to review its effectiveness in ensuring that resources 

are used economically, efficiently and effectively.  Our internal assurance system provides 

regular reporting through to the Governing Body.   
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We closely monitor budgetary control and expenditure. The annual budget setting process 

for 2018/19 was approved by the Governing Body and was communicated to all budget 

holders within the CCG.  The Governing Body receives a Finance Update Report from the 

Chief Finance Officer at every Governing Body meeting.  The Chief Finance Officer is a 

member of the Governing Body and is responsible for supervising the financial and control 

systems.  The Audit Committee will have the opportunity to scrutinise in detail the CCG’s 

financial statements for 2018/19 in May 2019, together with the report from external audit, 

before these are presented to Governing Body on 12 June 2019.  We are expected to 

receive an internal audit report giving significant assurance on the controls in place for 

ensuring good governance of its financial systems. 

 

To support the delivery of our improvement plan a robust PMO function is in place ensuring 

there is a governance process in place for the standardised, effective management and 

delivery of Commissioning Intentions; ensuring all projects are compliant with the project 

management process through the development and use of standardised project 

management tools and on-going provision of staff support/ training from the PMO team; that 

there is robust accountability and reporting on the delivery and impact of the projects, 

including delivery of project milestones to timescales, and delivery of identified benefits 

measures that demonstrate a tangible improvement in services and patient care and 

ensuring a robust process for decision making, approval, appropriate resource allocation 

and prioritisation of commissioning intention projects. 

 

The PMO approach also stretches across the St Helens Cares local care system. Through 

ongoing work the transformation and operational programmes and projects have been 

brought together across the CCG, Local Authority and St Helens Cares to ensure a 

collaborative, integrated approach.  

 

We have a detailed internal audit plan which includes regular reviews of internal controls; 

around the areas of governance and leadership, financial performance and sustainability. 

 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion (Page 85) gives us substantial assurance which 

demonstrates that there is a good system of internal control designed to meet the 

organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. 

 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) is scrutinised by the Executive 

Leadership Team Committee on a quarterly basis before being reviewed by Governing 

Body.  The Audit Committee also review the arrangements in place for risk reporting and 

assurance.  The Governing Body has reviewed the GBAF, Strategic Risks and associated 

risk appetite statements for each risk during 2018/19. 

 

We remained within our financial control total set by NHSE, and broke even in 2018/19. The 

CCG also remained within its running cost target of £4.2m. We have been able to deliver a 

number of efficiency schemes to meet this target. In addition, to cover pressures that 

emerged in year and slippage on some efficiency schemes, we were also able to deliver 

additional mitigations required (see page 20) to meet this control total.  These key actions 

and mitigations are monitored and managed by the Finance & Performance Committee, 

which is the lead committee for reporting the in-year financial performance of both 

programme and running costs.  Each month a detailed report highlights the financial position 
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and associated risks which is scrutinised by committee members.  Financial Reporting is 

also a standing agenda item on Governing Body meetings. 

 

External audit concluded that the CCG has proper arrangements to secure economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources except for sustainable resource 

deployment. 

 

Delegation of functions 

 

We use service organisations to carry out certain business functions on our behalf, for 

example, St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and NHS Midlands and 

Lancashire CSU.  Assurance over the internal controls and procedures operated by these 

services is provided through a Service Auditor Report (prepared in accordance with 

International Standards on Assurance Engagements). 

 

 

Counter fraud arrangements 

 

The CCG has in place the following arrangements regarding the managing of Counter 

Fraud: 

 We receive our counter fraud advice and support through Mersey Internal Audit 

Agency (MIAA).  The support is provided through a team of Accredited Counter Fraud 

specialists with a lead specialist attached to the CCG.   

 Through the Audit Committee we received an Anti-Fraud annual report outlining an 

assessment of performance against the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for 

Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption32 and an action plan to ensure on-

going compliance. 

 We have appointed the Chief Finance Officer as executive lead for this area and in 

this role acts as link internally to facilitate and enable delivery of actions.  

 The Audit Committee has received a number of reports in the year, one with initial 

assessment and action plan and a second outlining activity delivered against action 

plan.  The delivery against actions to enable compliance with standards is monitored 

closely by the executive lead and Audit Committee.   

 We ensure that CCG employees and those working with the CCG are fully cognisant 

of and understand clearly the processes to ensure compliance with standards and are 

aware of how to access advice and support if required.  Training has been delivered to 

the full CCG staff team during a team meeting, and a survey was sent out to test the 

overall knowledge of fraud, bribery and corruption within the CCG. 

 

 

  

                                                           
32

 https://cfa.nhs.uk/counter-fraud-standards/current-nhs-standards 

http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/4883.aspx
http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/4883.aspx
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 

commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 

risk management, governance and internal control.  The Head of Internal Audit concluded 

that, for the period 1st April 2018-31st March 2019: 

 

Substantial Assurance can be given that that there is a good system of internal control 

designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied 

consistently 

 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

 

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  

Assurance Framework Meets NHS Requirements & clearly reflects 

risks discussed by the Governing Body. 

Financial Plan: Budget Management & 

Performance 

High Assurance 

Conflicts of Interest Fully Compliant 

IG: Data Protection Security Toolkit (DSPT) Substantial Assurance 

ESR HR/Payroll Interface Controls Substantial Assurance 

Primary Medical Care Governance Review Substantial Assurance 

 

 

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 

internal control 
 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning 

group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework.  I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also 

informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other 

reports.  

 

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 

manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have 

been reviewed.  

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  

 Governing Body 

 Audit Committee 

 Executive Leadership Committee 

 Internal audit 

 Other explicit review/assurance mechanisms. 

 

The role and conclusions of each have been considered in the Governance Report above. 
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Conclusion 

 

No significant internal control issues have been identified or make specific reference to 

those significant internal control issues which have been identified in the body of the 

Governance Statement above. 

 

 

 

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien 

Clinical Accountable Officer 

24th May 2019  
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Remuneration and Staff Report 
 

Remuneration Report 

 

 

Remuneration Committee 

 

Please refer to page 70 of this document for information on the Remuneration Committee  

Terms of reference can be found on our public website at: 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/. 

 

 

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

 

For Senior Manager posts, excluding those posts identified as Very Senior Managers below; 

the CCG follows NHS Agenda for Change Terms & Conditions. 

 

 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

 

As per Section 14M of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) the Remuneration Committee has 

the function of making recommendations to the governing body about the exercise of its 

functions under section 14L(3)(a) and (b) i.e. its functions in relation to determining the 

remuneration, fees and allowances payable to employees of the CCG and to other persons 

providing services to it; and determining allowances payable under pension schemes 

established by the CCG.  The Committee also makes recommendations on any severance 

payments, and addresses any pay and conditions of service related issues.  Very Senior 

Manager roles have been identified as Clinical Accountable Officer/ Strategic Director 

People’s Services, CCG Chair, Chief Finance Officer, Chief Nurse, GP Governing Body 

Members, Governing Body Lay Members and Deputy Accountable Officer. 

 

CCG’s are required to disclose where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more 

than £150,000 per annum. No very senior manager of the CCG earned a full time equivalent 

remuneration package of £150,000 or more. 

 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/about-us/committee-terms-of-reference/
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 
 

Table 9: Elements of the Remuneration Report are subject to audit, namely; the Single total figure of remuneration for each Governing Body 

member, the CETV disclosures for each Governing Body member, the "Fair pay" (pay multiples) disclosures and the Analysis of staff numbers. 

 

 

Name Title Note Salary Expense Performance Long term All pension- Total Salary Expense Performance Long term All pension- Total

(bands of payments pay and performance related benefits (bands of payments pay and performance related benefits

£5,000) (taxable) to bonuses pay and bonuses £5,000) (taxable) to bonuses pay and bonuses

the nearest (bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of the nearest (bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of

£100 £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) £100 £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000)

£'000 £ £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £ £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Geoffrey Appleton Chair 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30

Professor Sarah O'Brien

CCG Clinical Accountable Officer / 

Strategic Director People's Services 1 80-85 0 0 0 20-22.5 100-105 125-130 0 0 0 142.5-145 270-275

Rachel Cleal

Deputy Director People's Services / 

Deputy Accountable Officer 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Julie Abbott Deputy Chief Executive 3 100-105 0 0 0 0 100-105 105-110 0 0 0 5-7.5 115-120

Dr Joseph Banat GP Board Member 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 60-65 0 0 0 0 60-65

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse GP Board Member 65-70 0 0 0 0 65-70 65-70 0 0 0 0 65-70

Dr Omar Shaikh GP Board Member 5 30-35 0 0 0 0 30-35 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20

Dr Paul Rose GP Board Member 6 45-50 0 0 0 0 45-50 45-50 0 0 0 0 45-50

Dr Hilary Flett GP Board Member 60-65 0 0 0 0 60-65 60-65 0 0 0 0 60-65

Iain Stoddart

Chief Finance Officer / Recovery 

Director 7 110-115 0 0 0 25-27.5 140-145 65-70 0 0 0 25-27.5 90-95

Paul Brickwood Chief Finance Officer 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5

Lisa Ellis Chief Nurse 9 90-95 100 0 0 65-67.5 160-165 80-85 100 0 0 62.5-65 140-145

Dr James Catania Secondary Care Doctor 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Tony Foy Lay Member 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20

Mark Weights Lay Member 10 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5

Rachel Jones Lay Member 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Ruth Austen-Vincent Interim Lay Member 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5

Mike Wyatt Recovery Director 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sue Forster Director of Public Health 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2018-19 2017-18
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Salaries and allowances 2018/19 (subject to audit) Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100 

 

The figures included as pension related benefits were not salary figures paid to any staff member.  They represent the potential value of their 

pension, which is contributed to by the CCG, less the employees own contributions. The total figures also include this value and do not in any 

way reflect the actual salary paid to the employee over the course of the year.  The ‘all pension related benefits’ figure can appear 

disproportionate in the first year that a person is reported within a new role. 

 

Expense payments are in respect of mileage and are show in £, rounded to the nearest hundred. 

 

Notes: 

1. Professor Sarah O'Brien became the joint Strategic Director of People's Service and CCG Clinical Accountable Officer from 1st June 2018, 

and became an employee of St Helens Council from this date.  The total remuneration up until 31st May 2018 was within the band £20,000 

- £25,000 and represented 100% of the total remuneration, and from 1st June onwards the allocation of cost to the CCG for the joint role 

represents a 50% share of the total remuneration for the remainder of the year.  VAT is chargeable on the salary recharge invoices 

however this is not included in the figures above. 

2. Rachel Cleal became the Deputy Accountable Officer on 1st June 2018.  She is employed by St Helens Council and there is no recharge 

of her salary.  The total remuneration is within the band £90,000 to £95,000. 

3. Julie Abbott was the Deputy Chief Executive until 30th April 2018.  Her salary figure includes all contractual payments due in year.  Further 

details are disclosed in note 4.4 of the Annual Accounts. 

4. Dr Joseph Banat retired on 31st March 2018. 

5. Dr Omar Shaikh became a GP Board Member from 1st October 2017.  2017-18 comparator figures reflected above represent part year 

values, and the current year is full year effect. 

6. Dr Paul Rose retired on 31st March 2019. 

7. Iain Stoddart was the Chief Finance Officer of NHS Knowsley CCG and NHS St Helens CCG until 30th January 2018 and the allocation of 

cost to the CCG was a 50% share of the total remuneration.  He became the Chief Finance Officer of St Helens CCG from the 1st 

February 2018 and the remaining remuneration represents 100% of these costs in the 2017-18 comparator figures.  He became the 

Recovery Director from 1st June 2018, alongside his role as Chief Finance Officer, and remained in the same salary band.  

8. Paul Brickwood retired on 4th April 2017. 

9. Lisa Ellis became the Chief Nurse on 1st May 2018. 

10. Mark Weights was a Lay Member from 1st February 2018.  2017-18 comparator figures reflected above represent part year values, and 

the current year is full year effect. 

11. Rachel Jones was a Lay Member until 1st August 2017. 
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12. Ruth Austin-Vincent was a temporary Lay Member from 1st October 2017 until 31st March 2018. 

 

13. Mike Wyatt was the Recovery Director until 31st May 2018.  He was employed by St Helens Council and there was no recharge of his 

salary. 

14. Sue Forster is employed by St Helens Council and there is no recharge of her salary. 

 

Table 10 - Pension Benefits 2018/19 (subject to audit) 

 
 

Geoffrey Appleton opted out of the NHS Pension Scheme as at 1st June 2015. 

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive 

members. 

The pension entitlement above is the total pension entitlement for each Director is not split across other organisations and may have been 

partly accrued in a non-senior manager capacity.  Under the 2015 section of the NHS Pension Scheme, no lump sum benefit is accrued. 

Real increase calculations are apportioned according to the number of days in post at the CCG. 

Name Title Real increase Real increase Total accrued Lump sum at Cash Real increase Cash Employer's

in pension in pension pension at pension age Equivalent in Cash Equivalent contribution

at pension age lump sum at pension age at related to Transfer Equivalent Transfer to

(bands of pension age 31 March 2019 accrued Value at Transfer Value at 31 stakeholder

£2,500) (bands of (bands of pension at 31 1 April 2018 Value March 2019 pension

£2,500) £5,000) March 2019

(bands of 

£5,000)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Geoffrey Appleton (1) Chair -                            -                         -                             -                       -                          -                          -                          -                 

Sarah O'Brien

CCG Clinical Accountable Officer 

/ Strategic Director People's 

Services -                            -                         25-30 85-90 483                          9                              550                         -                 

Sarah O'Brien (2015 Scheme)

CCG Clinical Accountable Officer 

/ Strategic Director People's 

Services 0-2.5 N/A 5-10 N/A 57                            4                              85                            -                 

Julie Abbott Deputy Chief Executive -                            -                         40-45 125-130 851                          5                              941                         -                 

Iain Stoddart

Chief Finance Officer / Recovery 

Director -                            -                         40-45 120-125 776                          70                            869                         -                 

Iain Stoddart (2015 Scheme)

Chief Finance Officer / Recovery 

Director 0-2.5 N/A 5-10 N/A 61                            39                            102                         -                 

Lisa Ellis Chief Nurse 0-2.5 5-7.5 20-25 70-75 349                          84                            443                         -                 

Lisa Ellis (2015 Scheme) Chief Nurse 0-2.5 N/A 5-10 N/A 39                            26                            66                            -                 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  

 

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 

valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 

beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 

chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown 

relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 

membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which 

disclosure applies. 

 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 

another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 

scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 

of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 

Faculty of Actuaries.  

 

Real increase in CETV 

 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including 

the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement). 

 

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office 

 

The CCG has made no payments in relation to compensation on early retirement for loss of 

office. 

 

Payments to past members 

 

The CCG has made no payments to past members  

 

Pay multiples (Subject to Audit) 

 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 

highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 

organisation’s workforce. 

 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS St 

Helens CCG in the financial year 2018/19 was £110,000-£115,000 (2017/18: £125,000 - 

£130,000). This was 2.93 times (2017/18: 3.58) the median remuneration of the workforce, 

which was £38,344 (2017/18: £35,577). 
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In 2018/19 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of 

the Governing Body (2017/18: nil). 

In 2018/19, remuneration ranged from £0-£5,000 to £110,000-£115,000 (2017/18: £0-£5,000 

to £125,000-£130,000). 

 

The reason for the decrease in the highest paid member of the Governing Body is in June 

2018 the Clinical Accountable Officer took up a joint post with the Local Authority and 

50% of her remuneration was recharged to the CCG from this point, meaning a change in 

the highest paid director.  The slight increase in the median remuneration is due to the 

Agenda for Change pay deal which came into effect on 1st April 2018. 

 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-

kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and 

the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

 

The calculation of the ratio between the remuneration of the highest paid director and the 

median remuneration of the workforce is based on full time equivalent employees in post at 

31st March 2019 on an annualised basis, including staff who are paid through the payroll 

system and agency workers. As the CCG is not party to the actual amount earned by agency 

workers an estimate of their salary, based upon the charge out rate from the agency on an 

annualized basis using 220 working days, has been included for this calculation. The median 

remuneration is the total remuneration of the staff member lying in the middle of the linear 

distribution of the total staff, excluding the highest paid director. A median will not be 

significantly affected by large or small salaries  that may skew an average (mean) – 

hence it is more transparent in highlighting whether a director is being paid significantly more 

than the middle staff in the organisation. 

 

 

Staff Report  

 

Number of senior managers 

 

The CCG has the following number of Senior Managers in post as at 31st March 2019 –  

 

Table 11 - Number of Senior Managers as of 31st March 2019 

 

Pay Band Headcount   

Band 3 3 Band 8 - Range B 9 

Band 4 6 Band 8 - Range C 4 

Band 5 14 Band 8 - Range D 4 

Band 6 11 Medical 8 

Band 7 18 VSM 6 

Band 8 - Range A 15 Gov Body (off payroll) 3 

Grand Total 101 

 

Gov Body (off payroll) refers to pertains to Governing Body Members without a pay record in 

the CCG Electronic Staff Record (ESR) system (Local Authority employed). 
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Table 12 - Staff Costs 2018/19 (Subject to audit) 

 

 
 

The staff costs above exclude the costs of the Chair, Lay Members, Non-Executive Members and clinical leads as, in accordance with the 

Group Accounting Manual, these costs are not classified as staff costs. They include staff on secondment or employed on an agency basis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Employee benefits 2018-19

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,513 163 3,676

Social security costs 386 9 395

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme 475 10 485

Other pension costs - - -

Apprenticeship Levy 4 - 4

Other post-employment benefits - - -

Other employment benefits - - -

Termination benefits 95 - 95

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,473 182 4,655

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (347) - (347)

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 4,126 182 4,308

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 4,126 182 4,308

2018-19 Total
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As a comparator, the 2017/18 staff costs incurred were as follows: 

 

Table 13 

 

Employee benefits 2017-18

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,221 108 3,329

Social security costs 352 1 353

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme 442 7 449

Other pension costs - - -

Apprenticeship Levy 3 - 3

Other post-employment benefits - - -

Other employment benefits - - -

Termination benefits - - -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,018 116 4,134

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (649) - (649)

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 3,369 116 3,485

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 3,369 116 3,485

2017-18 Total
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Average Numbers of People Employed (Subject to audit) 
 

The CCG have employed the following number of people throughout 2018-19. This is 

calculated as an average of the Whole Time Equivalent employed each month throughout 

the year and as per staff costs above exclude the costs of the Chair, Lay Members, Non-

Executive Members and clinical leads as, in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual, 

these costs are not classified as staff costs, but include staff on secondment or employed on 

an agency basis. 

 

 
Table 14 

 

Staff composition 

 

The CCG had the following numbers of staff in post as at 31st March 2019. 

These are based on head count of numbers in post at that date. 

 

Staff 
Female 

HC 

Male 

HC 

Total 

HC 

GBM 5 8 13 

Other members of 

staff 
63 13 76 

VSM 8 4 12 

Grand Total 76 25 101 

Table 15 

   
 

   St Helens CCG Gender Analysis 

Staff Female Male 

GBM 15.4% 61.5% 

Other members of 

staff 
82.9% 17.1% 

VSM 66.7% 33.3% 

Totals 75.25% 24.75% 

Table 16   

  

  

Permanently 

employed 

Number

Other 

Number Total Number Total Number

Total 80.27 5.07 85.34 79.19

Of the above:

Number of whole time equivalent 

people engaged on capital projects 0 0 0 0

2018-19 2017-18
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Sickness absence data 
 

The below sickness absence data is taken from NHS Digital statistics published and related 

to the year ended 31 December 2018.  

 

NHS Sickness Absence Figures for NHS 2018/19 Financial Accounts 

 

 

Source: NHS Digital - Sickness Absence Publication - based on data from the ESR Data Warehouse

Period covered: January to December 2018

ESR does not hold details of normal number of days worked by each employee.  Data on days 

available and days recorded sick are based on a 365-day year.

Average Annual Sick Days per FTE has been estimated by dividing the estimated number of 

FTE-days sick by the average FTE, and multiplying by 225 (the typical number of working days

per year).

There may be inconsistencies between these data and the statutory basis for accounts, in 

terms of the organisation against which staff are reported for a particular month.

NHS Digital Statistics

Copyright © 2017 and 2018, NHS Digital.  All rights reserved.

This work remains the sole and exclusive property of the Health and Social Information Centre and 

may only be reproduced where there is explicit reference to the ownership of NHS Digital.

Time Jan 2018- Dec 2018
Org Type Clinical Commissioning Group

Org Name Org Code

Average FTE 

2018

Sum of FTE 

Days Sick

Sum of FTE 

Days 

Available

Average 

Annual Sick 

Days per FTE

Occurences

(months of 

data)

NHS St Helens 

CCG 01X 85.0 786 31,038 5.7 12
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Staff policies 

 

The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed to 

employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee, or potential 

employee, receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic 

or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, trade union 

membership, disability, offending background, domestic circumstances, social and 

employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political affiliation or any other 

personal characteristic as outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any other status covered 

by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity is to be viewed positively and, in recognising that 

everyone is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge 

and skills can make is valued equally. 

 

 

Other employee matters 
 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulation 2017 

 

Under regulations that came into force on 1 April 2017, certain public sector organisations 

are required to report information in relation to Trade Union Activities and the cost of any 

facility time in connection with these activities. 

 

The CCG confirms that it had no relevant union officials during the year ended 31 March 

2019. 

 

Polices applied during the year 

 

All operational polices were applied during the year, these include: 

 Annual leave 

 Managing absence 

 Management of Organisational Change  

 

There was one case that required formal action in line with the Disciplinary Policy. 
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Expenditure on consultancy 
 

The CCG aimed to minimise the use of consultancy in year due to its financial deficit. The 

CCG spent £3,200 on consultancy in 2018/19 (£47,000 in 2017/18). This was spent on a 

review of secondary care charges that generated savings as a result that were in excess of 

the payments made. 

 

 

Off-payroll engagements  
 

Table 17: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 

months 

  

   For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, 

for more than £245 per day and that last longer than 

six months 

Number 

 Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 1* 

 Of which, the number that have existed:   

 for less than one year at the time of reporting 1 

 for between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

 for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 

 for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 

 for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

 
  

 *The one off-payroll engagement is recharged by St Helens Council in 

respect of the joint Accountable Officer/Strategic Director of Peoples 

Services post. The CCG has confirmed that the post is on payroll at St 

Helens Council. 

 

Table 18: New off-payroll engagements  

For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that 

reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2018 

and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and 

that last for longer than six months 

Number 

 Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 

months in duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 

2019 

1* 

 Of which:   

 Number assessed as caught by IR35 1 

 Number assessed as not caught by IR35 0 

     

 Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to 

department) and are on the departmental payroll 
0 
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Number of engagements reassessed for 

consistency/assurance purposes during the year 
0 

 Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 

status following the consistency review 
0 

 
  

 * The one off-payroll engagement is recharged by St Helens Council in 

respect of the joint Accountable Officer/Strategic Director of Peoples 

Services post. The CCG has confirmed that the post is on payroll at St 

Helens Council. 

 

Table 19: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, 
and/or, senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 

1* 

 
Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that 
have been deemed “board members, and/or, senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility” during the 
financial year. This figure includes both on payroll and 
off-payroll engagements 

16** 

 
 

  * The one off-payroll engagement is recharged by St Helens Council in respect of the 
joint Accountable Officer/Strategic Director of Peoples Services post. The CCG has 
confirmed that the post is on payroll at St Helens Council. 

**3 of the total number of individuals above are employed by St Helens Council and 
there is no recharge of salary. 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 

 

Table 20: Exit Packages  

 

  2018/19 

  Compulsory redundancies Other agreed departures Total 

Departures where special 

payments have been made 

  Number £ Number £ Number £ Number £ 

Less than £10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£10,001 to £25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£25,001 to £50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£50,001 to £100,000 0 0 1 95,000 1 95,000 0 0 

£100,001 to £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£150,001 to £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Over £200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 1 95,000 1 95,000 0 0 

 

All costs incurred were contractual costs. No non-contractual payments have been made in relation to this departure.   

The above exit package was approved in advance with NHS England before being agreed. 

Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure.  

Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.  
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Table 21: Analysis of Other Departures 

 

  2018-19 

  Other agreed departures 

  Number £ 

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs 1 95,000 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs 0 0 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs 0 0 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 0 0 

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders 0 0 

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval* 0 0 

Total 1 95,000 

 

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. 

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.  

 

The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.   

There were no non-contractual payments made as part of the exit package noted above. 

 

 

 

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien 

Clinical Accountable Officer  

24th May 2019 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 

NHS St Helens CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit 

Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and 

fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Page 

109. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Professor Sarah O’Brien 

Clinical Accountable Officer  

24th May 2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS ST HELENS 

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group (the ‘CCG’) for the 

year ended 31 March 2019, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of 

Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and 

Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19. 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2019 and of its expenditure 

and income for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social 

Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 

law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 

of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 

Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 

report to you where: 

 the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 

 the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 

on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 

stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are 

required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor 

General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Governance Statement does not 



 

 Page 104  

comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with the 

information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance 

Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion:  

 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 

Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 and the requirements of the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012; and 

 based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge 

of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published together with the 

financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

 

Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have 

been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial statements 

conform to the authorities which govern them. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG,  or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or 

has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 

about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be 

unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

 We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial 

statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities set out on page(s) 59 to 60, the 

Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and on the basis set 

out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 

as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to 

dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial 

statements. 

 

The Governing Body is Those Charged with Governance. Those charged with governance are responsible for 

overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
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accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 

Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 

auditor’s report. 

 

We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial 

statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

 

Qualified conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General in 

November 2017, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified conclusion section of our 

report, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group put in place 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 

ended 31 March 2019. 

 

Basis for qualified conclusion 

Our review of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use resources 

identified the following matter: 

The CCG achieved a breakeven year-end position in 2018/19. However, this was achieved only through a 

number of non-recurrent sources, including additional funding from NHS England. In addition, the CCG only 

delivered 47.3% of the savings required per its initial 2018/19 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 

(QIPP) plan, with the remainder of savings being achieved through non-recurrent means identified in year and 

the additional funding from NHS England.   

 

This identifies weaknesses in the CCG’s arrangements for setting a sustainable budget and delivering required 

QIPP savings.  

 

This matter is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for sustainable resource deployment in planning 

finances effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory functions.  

 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer  

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has 

done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on 

the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, as to whether in all 

significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and 

deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The 

Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of 

Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019, and to report by exception 

where we are not satisfied. 

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning 

Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 

Practice. 

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 

5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 

the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 

report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 

to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

Mark R Heap 

 

Mark Heap, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 

Manchester 

28 May 2019 
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NHS St Helens CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (4,512) (3,310)

Other operating income 2 (2) (487)

Total operating income (4,514) (3,797)

Staff costs 4 4,655 4,134

Purchase of goods and services 5 337,600 332,386

Depreciation and impairment charges 5 43 2

Provision expense 5 0 0

Other Operating Expenditure 5 1,332 1,247

Total operating expenditure 343,630 337,769

Net Operating Expenditure 339,116 333,972

Finance income 0 0

Finance expense 0 0

Net expenditure for the year 339,116 333,972

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption 0 0

Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year 339,116 333,972

Other Comprehensive Expenditure

Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE 0 0

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles 0 0

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets 0 0

Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes 0 0

Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve 0 0

Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs

Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets 0 0

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0

Sub total 0 0

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 339,116 333,972

Note 1 to note 44 form part of this statement.
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NHS St Helens CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 13 82 7

Intangible assets 14 164 205

Investment property 15 0 0

Trade and other receivables 17 0 0

Other financial assets 18 0 0

Total non-current assets 246 212

Current assets:

Inventories 16 0 0

Trade and other receivables 17 7,065 5,562

Other financial assets 18 0 0

Other current assets 19 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 20 12 11

Total current assets 7,077 5,573

Non-current assets held for sale 21 0 0

Total current assets 7,077 5,573

Total assets 7,323 5,785

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 (14,993) (14,339)

Other financial liabilities 24 0 0

Other liabilities 25 0 0

Borrowings 26 0 0

Provisions 30 0 0

Total current liabilities (14,993) (14,339)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (7,670) (8,554)

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 0 0

Other financial liabilities 24 0 0

Other liabilities 25 0 0

Borrowings 26 0 0

Provisions 30 0 0

Total non-current liabilities 0 0

Assets less Liabilities (7,670) (8,554)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (7,670) (8,554)

Revaluation reserve 0 0

Other reserves 0 0

Charitable Reserves 0 0

Total taxpayers' equity: (7,670) (8,554)

Note 1 to note 44 form part of this statement.

The financial statements including notes 1 to 44 were approved by the Audit Committee on 24th May 2019 and signed on

Professor Sarah O’Brien

Clinical Accountable Officer

24th May 2019

its behalf by:
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NHS St Helens CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2019

General 

fund

Revaluation 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Balance at 01 April 2018 (8,554) 0 0 (8,554)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies 0 0 0 0

Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances (0) 0 (0)

Impact of applying IFRS 15 to Opening Balances 0 0 0

Adjusted CCG balance at 01 April 2018 (8,554) 0 0 (8,554)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (339,116) 0 0 (339,116)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 0 0 0 0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 0 0 0 0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets 0 0 0 0

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for 

sale financial assets) 0 0 0 0

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0 0 0

Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions 0 0 0 0

Movements in other reserves 0 0 0 0

Transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies 0 0 0 0

Reserves eliminated on dissolution 0 0 0 0

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (339,116) 0 0 (339,116)

Net funding 340,000 0 0 340,000

Balance at 31 March 2019 (7,670) 0 0 (7,670)

General 

fund

Revaluation 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Balance at 01 April 2017 (8,485) 0 0 (8,485)

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition

0 0 0 0

Adjusted CCG balance at 01 April 2017 (8,485) 0 0 (8,485)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Net operating costs for the financial year (333,972) (333,972)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 0 0 0 0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 0 0 0 0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets 0 0 0 0

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0 0 0

Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions 0 0 0 0

Movements in other reserves 0 0 0 0

Transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies 0 0 0 0

Reserves eliminated on dissolution 0 0 0 0

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (333,972) 0 0 (333,972)

Net funding 333,903 0 0 333,903

Balance at 31 March 2018 (8,554) 0 0 (8,554)

Note 1 to note 44 form part of this statement.
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NHS St Helens CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (339,116) (333,972)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 43 2

Impairments and reversals 5 0 0

Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards (0) 0

Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption 0 0

Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange 0 0

Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash 0 0

Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash 0 0

Interest paid 0 0

Release of PFI deferred credit 0 0

Other Gains & Losses 0 0

Finance Costs 0 0

Unwinding of Discounts 0 0

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 0 0

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 (1,503) (651)

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 0 0

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 653 892

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities 0 0

Provisions utilised 30 0 0

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (339,923) (333,729)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest received 0 0

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment (76) 0

(Payments) for intangible assets 0 (205)

(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health 0 0

(Payments) for other financial assets 0 0

(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT) 0 0

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment 0 0

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets 0 0

Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health 0 0

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets 0 0

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT) 0 0

Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards 0 0

Loans made in respect of LIFT 0 0

Loans repaid in respect of LIFT 0 0

Rental revenue 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities (76) (205)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (339,999) (333,934)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 340,000 333,903

Other loans received 0 0

Other loans repaid 0 0

Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and 

LIFT 0 0

Capital grants and other capital receipts 0 0

Capital receipts surrendered 0 0

Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 340,000 333,903

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 1 (31)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 11 42

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies 0 0

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 12 11

Note 1 to note 44 form part of this statement.
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NHS St Helens CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19  

  

Notes to the financial statements  

  

1. Accounting Policies 

NHS England (NHSE) has directed that the financial statements of clinical 

commissioning groups (CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of the  Group 

Accounting Manual (GAM) issued by the Department of Health and Social Care 

(DHSC). Consequently, the following financial statements of NHS St Helens CCG 

(the CCG) have been prepared in accordance with the GAM 2018-19 issued by the 

DHSC. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial 

Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to 

CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 

Advisory Board.  Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the 

accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 

circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 

selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They 

have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation 

to the accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 

The CCG has undertaken an assessment of its status as a going concern.  The CCG 

has broken even in year in line with its control total set by NHS England. However, 

the CCG has received non recurrent support from NHSE of £4m and delivered 

£3.5m of non-recurrent mitigations to achieve this position. The CCG have an 

underlying financial deficit of £7.5m. A financial recovery plan has been developed to 

bring the CCG back in to financial balance over the long term which aims for 

underling financial balance by 2021/22.  

  

Regardless, for non-trading entities in the public sector, the anticipated continuation 

of the provision of a service in the future, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 

provision for that service in published documents, is normally sufficient evidence of 

going concern. Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services 

will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) 

in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of 

financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements 

are prepared on the going concern basis. 

Therefore based on the above, the accounts have been prepared on a going 

concern basis on the basis that: 

 • Health care services will continue to be provided for residents of St Helens; 

• The CCG has broken even in 2018/19 and has a plan for long term financial 

sustainability. 

1.2 Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 

account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 

inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Pooled Budgets 

The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with St Helens Council in 

accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are 
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pooled for the majority of Continuing Health Care and the Better Care Fund, and 

note 35 provides details of the income and expenditure. 

The pool is hosted by St Helens Council. The CCG accounts for its share of the 

assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled 

budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement 

1.4 Operating Segments 

The CCG considers that it only has one operating segment: commissioning of 

healthcare services. 

1.5 Revenue 

The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) 

of the Standard, applying the Standard retrospectively recognising the cumulative 

effects at the date of initial application. 

In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard 

have been employed. These are as follows; 

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the CCG will not disclose information 

regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has an original expected 

duration of one year or less, 

• The CCG is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in 

line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the 

right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed 

to date. 

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of 

the Standard that requires the CCG to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts 

modified before the date of initial application. 

  

 The CCG's main sources of revenue in 2018/19 were as follows: 

- Chesire & Mersey Health and Care Partnership funding £600K (this was paid to the 

CCG from the transformation funding, of which the CCG had £820K topsliced from 

its allocation as a contribution to this funding.) 

 - Estates and Technology Transformation funding from NHS England £562K 

 - Flu and Pneumococcal funding from NHS England £367K 

 - Infection control service recharged to various organisations £331K 

 - High cost drugs rebates received from drugs companies £236K 

- Child and Adolescent Mental Health services recharged to the Local Authority 

£214K 

 - Continuing Health Care nursing team recharged to the Local Authority £177K 

- Paediatric Speech and Language Therapy service recharged to the Local Authority 

£177K 

 - Alcohol nurse liaison service recharged to the Local Authority £129K 

 - Contracting team service recharged to NHS Knowsley CCG £127K 

  

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance 

obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is 

measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance 

obligation. 

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied 

in the following year, that income is deferred. 

 Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. 
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The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the 

Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with 

IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to 

an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash 

training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 

1.6 Employee Benefits 

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from 

the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received 

from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is not 

recognised in the financial statements as it is deemed that the impact is immaterial. 

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions 

Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 

employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the 

Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run 

in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 

scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though 

they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the CCG of participating in a 

scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the 

accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension 

liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 

additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the 

retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an 

accounting valuation every year. 

1.7 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 

services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the 

consideration payable. 

1.8 Grants Payable 

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a 

grant recipient in a specific period, the CCG recognises the expenditure in the period 

in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

1.9 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.9.1 Recognition 

 Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 ·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential 

will be supplied to the CCG; 

 ·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 ·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 ·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and 

individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 
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interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to 

have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new 

building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 

significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 

depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

1.9.2 Measurement 

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost 

directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the 

location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management.  

Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured 

subsequently at their current value in existing use.  Assets that were most recently 

held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there 

are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts 

are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the 

reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows: 

 ·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and, 

 ·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost. 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are 

carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not 

borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 

23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences 

when they are brought into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery 

that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these 

assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not 

considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it 

reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in 

which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously 

charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic 

value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation 

reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, 

thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of 

economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the 

revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

The CCG had no property as at 31 March 2019 therefore there has not been any 

property revaluation in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil). 

1.9.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, 

the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores 

the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing 

carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

1.10 Intangible Assets 
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1.10.1 Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are 

capable of sale separately from the rest of the CCG’s business or which arise from 

contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only: 

·                When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service 

potential be provided to, the CCG; 

 ·                Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and, 

 ·                Where the cost is at least £5,000. 

Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating 

system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. 

Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application 

software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not 

capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is 

incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following 

have been demonstrated: 

·                The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 

available for use; 

 ·                The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 

 ·                The ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 

·                How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits 

or service potential; 

·                The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and, 

·                The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 

intangible asset during its development. 

1.10.2 Measurement 

Intangible assets acquired separately are intially recognised at cost. The amount 

initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 

expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where 

no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is 

recognised in the period in which it is incurred. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing 

use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower 

of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income 

generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the 

opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances. 

Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant 

and equipment. 

1.11 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not 

depreciated. 

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or 

valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less 

any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the 

consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated 

useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic 

benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and may be 

shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual 
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values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a 

prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 

estimated useful lives. 

At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that 

any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have 

suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a 

loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment annually. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service 

potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the 

extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to 

expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic 

benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 

the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the 

recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had 

there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited 

to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter 

to the revaluation reserve. 

1.12 Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases. 

1.12.1 The CCG as Lessee 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at 

the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the 

lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of 

the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the CCG’s 

surplus/deficit. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and 

subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 

incurred. 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are 

separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance 

leases. 

1.13 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 

penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 

mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 

overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s 

cash management. 

1.14 Provisions 
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Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to 

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 

expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking 

into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the 

cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 

of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: 

Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount 

rate of positive 0.29% (2017-18: positive 0.10%) in real terms. All general provisions 

are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of 

cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date: 

• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for 

inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of 

Financial Position date. 

• A nominal medium-term rate of 1.14% (2017-18: negative 1.85% in real terms) for 

inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years 

from the Statement of Financial Position date. 

• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for 

inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 

years from the Statement of Financial Position date. 

• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for 

inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of 

Financial Position date. 

All 2018-19 percentages are expressed in nominal terms with 2017-18 being the last 

financial year that HM Treasury provided real general provision discount rates. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are 

expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset 

if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the 

receivable can be measured reliably. 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed 

formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected 

that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing 

its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring 

provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 

are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not 

associated with on-going activities of the entity. 

1.15 Clinical Negligence Costs 

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an 

annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence 

claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is 

administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 

remains with the CCG. 

1.16 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third 

Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an 

annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with 

the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
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payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and 

when they become due. 

1.17 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG, or a present 

obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be 

required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 

sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a 

payment is remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A contingent asset 

is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent 

assets are disclosed at their present value. 

The CCG had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 

2018: nil). 

1.18 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial 

instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 

have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 

have expired or the asset has been transferred. 

 Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

 ·                Financial assets at amortised cost; 

 ·                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ; 

 ·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics 

of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition. 

1.18.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows  and where the 

cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade 

receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these 

financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 

less any impairment.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross 

carrying amount of the financial asset. 

1.18.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those 

held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are 

solely payments of principal and interest. 

1.18.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not 

otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
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income.  This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the 

purpose of selling in the short term. 

1.18.4 Impairment 

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the CCG 

recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial 

asset. 

The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, 

and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and 

contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For other 

financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased 

significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 

12 month expected credit losses (stage 1). 

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or 

stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their executive 

agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets 

where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The CCG therefore does not 

recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  

Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's 

lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the CCG does not recognise allowances for 

stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 

3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference 

between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  

Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss. 

1.19  Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the 

CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in 

the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, 

the liability has been paid or has expired. 

1.19.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

·                The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less 

cumulative amortisation; and, 

·                The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in 

accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

1.19.2  Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host 

contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be 

ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. 

They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the CCG’s 

surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial 

liability. 

1.19.3 Other Financial Liabilities 
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After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, except for loans from DHSC, which are carried at 

historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the 

financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.20 Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, 

output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 

capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT 

is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

1.21 Foreign Currencies 

The CCG’s functional currency and presentational currency is pounds sterling and 

amounts are presented in thousands of pounds unless expressly stated otherwise. 

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the 

exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting 

period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 

spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of 

these are recognised in the CCG’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise. 

1.22 Losses & Special Payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have 

contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By 

their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to 

special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are 

divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 

handled. 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in 

expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made 

good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with 

insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

1.23 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the CCG's accounting policies, management is required to make 

various judgements, estimates and assumptions.  These are regularly reviewed. 

1.23.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies 

Apart from those involving estimations (see below), the CCG has made no critical 

judgements in applying accounting policies. 

1.23.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of 

estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year. 

 Payables estimates 

Due to the time lag around availability of data, the prescribing payable is estimated 

as the difference between the prescribing expenditure profile to 31 March 2019 (as 

determined by the NHS Business Services Authority) and the actual confirmed 

amount of expenditure recorded.  The key risk is that the actual data is different to 

the estimates made, resulting in the prescribing payable being either over or 
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understated.  As at 31 March 2019 the prescribing payable was £6.01 million (31 

March 2018: £5.56 million).  

1.24 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations 

to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM 

adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2019-20, and the government 

implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 

● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not 

therefore permitted. 

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early 

adoption is not therefore permitted. 

● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the 

accounts for 2018-19, were they applied in that year. 
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2. Other Operating Revenue

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)

Education, training and research 49 15

Non-patient care services to other bodies 3,723 2,646

Patient transport services 0 0

Prescription fees and charges 0 0

Dental fees and charges 0 0

Income generation 0 0

Other Contract income 394 0

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 347 649

Total Income from sale of goods and services 4,512 3,310

Other operating income

Rental revenue from finance leases 0 0

Rental revenue from operating leases 0 0

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: NHS 0 0

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS 0 0

Receipt of donations (capital/cash) 0 0

Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions 0 0

Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions 0 0

Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 2 2

Other non contract revenue 0 485

Total Other operating income 2 487

Total Operating Income 4,514 3,797

3. Contract income recognition

3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education, 

training and 

research

Non-patient 

care 

services to 

other 

bodies

Other 

Contract 

income

Recoveries 

in respect of 

employee 

benefits
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Source of Revenue

NHS 0 2,688 100 9 2,797

Non NHS 49 1,034 294 338 1,715

Total 49 3,722 394 347 4,512

Education, 

training and 

research

Non-patient 

care 

services to 

other 

bodies

Other 

Contract 

income

Recoveries 

in respect of 

employee 

benefits
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Timing of Revenue

Point in time 0 0 0 0 0

Over time 49 3,722 394 347 4,512

Total 49 3,722 394 347 4,512

3.2 Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and 

credited to the general reserve.

There is no contract revenue expected to be recognised in the future periods related to contract performance obligations not yet completed at 

the reporting date.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2018-19

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,513 163 3,676

Social security costs 386 9 395

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 475 10 485

Other pension costs 0 0 0

Apprenticeship Levy 4 0 4

Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0

Other employment benefits 0 0 0

Termination benefits 95 0 95

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,473 182 4,655

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (347) 0 (347)

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 4,126 182 4,308

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 4,126 182 4,308

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2017-18

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,221 108 3,329

Social security costs 352 1 353

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 442 7 449

Other pension costs 0 0 0

Apprenticeship Levy 3 0 3

Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0

Other employment benefits 0 0 0

Termination benefits 0 0 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,018 116 4,134

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (649) 0 (649)

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 3,369 116 3,485

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 3,369 116 3,485

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 2018-19 2017-18

Permanent 

Employees Other Total Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue

Salaries and wages (279) 0 (279) (485)

Social security costs (28) 0 (28) (91)

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme (39) 0 (39) (73)

Other pension costs 0 0 0 0

Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0 0

Other employment benefits 0 0 0 0

Termination benefits 0 0 0 0

Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits (347) 0 (347) (649)

Total

Total
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits

payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both

are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the

direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would

enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is

accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is

taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that

would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between

formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s

Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting

period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as

providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March

2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and

accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM

interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part

of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are

published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking

into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and

employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results 

of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care

have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of

pensionable pay from this date. 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set

following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced

a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £474,945 (2017-18: £449,560) were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme at

the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay.  These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1. 
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5. Operating expenses

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,245 2,051

Services from foundation trusts 59,303 59,188

Services from other NHS trusts 153,576 150,964

Provider Sustainability Fund (Sustainability Transformation Fund 1718) 0 0

Services from Other WGA bodies 0 0

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 39,998 38,027

Purchase of social care 13,001 12,402

General Dental services and personal dental services 0 0

Prescribing costs 37,451 38,266

Pharmaceutical services 0 0

General Ophthalmic services 0 0

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 29,145 28,892

Supplies and services – clinical 123 157

Supplies and services – general 47 93

Consultancy services 3 47

Establishment 439 503

Transport 2 4

Premises 2,952 1,499

Audit fees 50 50

Other non statutory audit expenditure

·          Other services 10 0

Other professional fees including internal audit services 171 150

Legal fees 21 21

Education, training and conferences 63 71

Funding to group bodies 0 0

CHC Risk Pool contributions 0 0

 Total Purchase of goods and services 337,600 332,384

Depreciation and impairment charges

Depreciation 2 2

Amortisation 41 0

Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 0 0

Impairments and reversals of intangible assets 0 0

Impairments and reversals of financial assets

·          Assets carried at amortised cost 0 0

·          Assets carried at cost 0 0

·          Available for sale financial assets 0 0

Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale 0 0

Impairments and reversals of investment properties 0 0

Total Depreciation and impairment charges 43 2

Provision expense

Change in discount rate 0 0

Provisions 0 0

Total Provision expense 0 0

Other Operating Expenditure

Chair and Non Executive Members 219 257

Grants to Other bodies 1,013 888

Clinical negligence 0 0

Research and development (excluding staff costs) 0 0

Expected credit loss on receivables 3 0

Expected credit loss on other financial assets (stage 1 and 2 only) 0 0

Inventories written down 0 0

Inventories consumed 0 0

Non cash apprenticeship training grants 2 2

Other expenditure 95 102

Total Other Operating Expenditure 1,332 1,249

Total operating expenditure 338,975 333,635

In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation 

Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a CCG contract with its auditors provides for a limitation of the auditor’s 

liability, the principal terms of this limitation must be disclosed. The CCG's contract with it's external auditor does 

contain a limitation of liability clause with the absolute liability of both parties being capped at £2 million. This is in 

line with the standard Consultancy One approach and the external auditor's standard terms and conditions. 
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 6,435 86,102 5,886 81,965

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 6,290 85,319 5,750 80,799

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 97.75% 99.09% 97.69% 98.58%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,347 216,581 2,333 212,765

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,289 216,356 2,297 212,179

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 97.53% 99.90% 98.46% 99.72%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a 

valid invoice, whichever is later, with a target performance of 95%.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

The CCG did not make any payments under the provisions of the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 in the

financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

7. Income Generation Activities

8. Investment revenue

The CCG had no investment revenue in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

9. Other gains and losses

The CCG had no other gains and losses in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

10. Finance costs

The CCG had no finance costs in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

The CCG had no net gains and losses on transfer by absorption in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

The CCG met the 95% target in all areas for 2018-19.

The CCG had no income generation activities in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).
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12. Operating Leases

12.1 As lessee

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2018-19 2017-18

Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 0 2,152 13 2,165 0 620 5 625

Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 2,152 13 2,165 0 620 5 625

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2018-19 2017-18

Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 0 0 5 5 0 60 2 62

Between one and five years 0 0 10 10 0 0 2 2

After five years 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 15 15 0 60 4 64

The CCG had one operating lease agreement in place with St Helens Chamber for the lease of the CCG's HQ accommodation.  The lease 

term ran from 1 April 2013 to 30 September 2018.  The CCG HQ is now located at the Gamble Building and lease payments are made to 

NHS Property Services (see below).

The CCG pays for void space and subsidies for properties owned and managed by Community Health Partnerships Ltd (CHP) and NHS 

Property Services Ltd (NHSPS).  The CCG also pays for space occupied by NHS providers in buildings run by CHP and NHSPS.

Whilst the CCG's arrangements with CHP and NHSPS fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years, including 

any charge for void space, has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, note 12.1.2 does not include future minimum lease payments for these 

arrangements.

The "Other" category in tables 12.1.1 and 12.1.2 relates to photocopier leases.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

2018-19

Plant & 

machinery

Information 

technology Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018 17 0 17

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account 0

Additions purchased 0 76 76

Additions donated 0 0 0

Additions government granted 0 0 0

Additions leased 0 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0

Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0 0

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019 17 76 93

Depreciation 01 April 2018 9 0 9

Reclassifications 0 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0

Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0 0

Charged during the year 2 0 2

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0

Depreciation at 31 March 2019 11 0 11

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 6 76 82

Purchased 6 76 82

Donated 0 0 0

Government Granted 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 2019 6 76 82

Asset financing:

Owned 6 76 82

Held on finance lease 0 0 0

On-SOFP Lift contracts 0 0 0

PFI residual: interests 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 2019 6 76 82

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Plant & 

machinery

Information 

technology Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 0 0 0

Revaluation gains 0 0 0

Impairments 0 0 0

Release to general fund 0 0 0

Other movements 0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2019 0 0 0
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13. Property, plant and equipment cont'd

2017-18

Plant & 

machinery

Information 

technology Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017 16 167 183

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account 0

Additions purchased 0 0 0

Additions donated 0 0 0

Additions government granted 0 0 0

Additions leased 0 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 (167) (167)

Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0 0

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018 16 0 16

Depreciation 01 April 2017 7 167 174

Reclassifications 0 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 (167) (167)

Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0 0

Charged during the year 2 0 2

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0

Depreciation at 31 March 2018 9 0 9

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 7 0 7

Purchased 7 0 7

Donated 0 0 0

Government Granted 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 2018 7 0 7

Asset financing:

Owned 7 0 7

Held on finance lease 0 0 0

On-SOFP Lift contracts 0 0 0

PFI residual: interests 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 2018 7 0 7

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Plant & 

machinery

Information 

technology Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2017 0 0 0

Revaluation gains 0 0 0

Impairments 0 0 0

Release to general fund 0 0 0

Other movements 0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2018 0 0 0
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13. Property, plant and equipment cont'd

13.1 Additions to assets under construction

The CCG had no additions to assets under construction in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

13.2 Donated assets

13.3 Government granted assets

The CCG had no Government granted assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

13.4 Property revaluation

The CCG had no property as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil) and therefore there has not been any property

revaluation in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

13.5 Compensation from third parties

There has been no compensation received from third parties for assets impaired, lost or given up in the financial

year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount

There have been no assets written down to recoverable amounts and no reversals of previous write-downs in the 

financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

13.7 Temporarily idle assets

The CCG had no temporarily idle assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The CCG had no fully depreciated assets still in use as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

13.9 Economic lives

Buildings excluding dwellings 0 0

Dwellings 0 0

Plant & machinery 4 4

Transport equipment 0 0

Information technology 5 5

Furniture & fittings 0 0

The CCG had no donated assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

Minimum 

Life (years)

Maximum 

Life (Years)
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14. Intangible non-current assets

2018-19

Computer 

Software: 

Purchased Total 

£'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018 205 205

Additions purchased 0 0

Additions internally generated 0 0

Additions donated 0 0

Additions government granted 0 0

Additions leased 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 0

Upward revaluation gains 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0

Cumulative amortisation adjustment following revaluation 0 0

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2019 205 205

Amortisation 01 April 2018 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 0

Upward revaluation gains 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0

Charged during the year 41 41

Transfer (to) from other public sector body 0 0

Cumulative amortisation adjustment following revaluation 0 0

Amortisation At 31 March 2019 41 41

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 164 164

Purchased 164 164

Donated 0 0

Government Granted 0 0

Total at 31 March 2019 164 164

Revaluation Reserve Balance for intangible assets

Computer 

Software: 

Purchased Total 

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 0 0

Revaluation gains 0 0

Impairments 0 0

Release to general fund 0 0

Other movements 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2019 0 0
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14. Intangible non-current assets cont'd

2017-18

Computer 

Software: 

Purchased Total 

£'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017 0 0

Additions purchased 205 205

Additions internally generated 0 0

Additions donated 0 0

Additions government granted 0 0

Additions leased 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 0

Upward revaluation gains 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0

Cumulative amortisation adjustment following revaluation 0 0

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2018 205 205

Amortisation 01 April 2017 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0

Disposals other than by sale 0 0

Upward revaluation gains 0 0

Impairments charged 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0

Charged during the year 0 0

Transfer (to) from other public sector body 0 0

Cumulative amortisation adjustment following revaluation 0 0

Amortisation At 31 March 2018 0 0

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 205 205

Purchased 205 205

Donated 0 0

Government Granted 0 0

Total at 31 March 2018 205 205

Revaluation Reserve Balance for intangible assets

Computer 

Software: 

Purchased Total 

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2017 0 0

Revaluation gains 0 0

Impairments 0 0

Release to general fund 0 0

Other movements 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2018 0 0
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14. Intangible non-current assets cont'd

14.1 Donated assets

The CCG had no donated intangible assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

14.2 Government granted assets

The CCG had no donated government granted intangible assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

14.3 Revaluation

There has been no any revaluation of intangible non-current assets in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

14.4 Compensation from third parties

There has been no compensation received from third parties for intangible assets impaired, lost or given up in the 

financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

14.5 Write downs to recoverable amount

There have been no intangible assets written down to recoverable amounts and no reversals of previous 

write-downs in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

14.6 Non-capitalised assets

14.7 Temporarily idle assets

The CCG had no temporarily idle intangible assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

14.8 Cost or valuation of fully amortised assets

The CCG had no fully amortised intangible assets still in use as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

14.9 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased 4 4

Computer software: internally generated 0 0

Licences & trademarks 0 0

Patents 0 0

Development expenditure (internally generated) 0 0

15. Investment property

The CCG had no investment property as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

16. Inventories

The CCG had no inventories as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

There have been no non-capitalised intangible assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

Minimum 

Life (years)

Maximum 

Life (Years)
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17. Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,725 0 426 0

NHS receivables: Capital 0 0 0 0

NHS prepayments 0 0 0 0

NHS accrued income 1,931 0 2,699 0

NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 6 0 0 0

NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding) 0 0 0 0

NHS Contract Assets 0 0 0 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 572 0 392 0

Non-NHS  and Other WGA receivables: Capital 0 0 0 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 94 0 125 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 1,431 0 364 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet  invoiced/non-

invoice 206 0 0 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass 

through funding) 0 0 0 0

Non-NHS Contract Assets 0 0 0 0

Expected credit loss allowance-receivables (2) 0 0 0

VAT 13 0 8 0

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership 

arrangement prepayments and accrued income 0 0 0 0

Interest receivables 0 0 0 0

Finance lease receivables 0 0 0 0

Operating lease receivables 0 0 0 0

Other receivables and accruals 1,089 0 1,548 0

Total Trade & other receivables 7,065 0 5,562 0

Total current and non current 7,065 5,562

Included above:

Prepaid pensions contributions 0 0

The majority of trade is with NHS England.  As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to CCGs to commission 

services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC 

Group Bodies

DHSC Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC 

Group Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

By up to three months 890 0 364 383

By three to six months 0 0 1 1

By more than six months 749 0 7 5

Total 1,639 0 372 389

£650,592 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

17.2 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018

Trade and other 

receivables -

NHSE bodies

Trade and other 

receivables - 

other DHSC 

group bodies

Trade and other 

receivables - 

external

Other financial 

assets

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018

Financial Assets held at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Assets held at Amortised cost 11 606 4,447 376 5,440

Financial Assets held at Fair Value Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 31st March 2018 11 606 4,447 376 5,440

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018

Financial Assets designated to Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Assets mandated to Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Assets measured at amortised cost 11 606 4,447 376 5,440

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 1st April 2018 11 606 4,447 376 5,440

Changes due to change in measurement attribute 0 0 0 0 0

Other changes 0 0 0 0 0

Change in carrying amount 0 0 0 0 0

17.3 Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9

Trade and other 

receivables -

NHSE bodies

Trade and other 

receivables - 

other DHSC 

group bodies

Trade and other 

receivables - 

external

Other financial 

assets

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Impairment and provisions allowances under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018

Financial Assets held at Amortised cost  (ie the 1718 Closing Provision) 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Assets held at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 31st March 2018 0 0 0 0 0

Loss allowance under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018

Financial Assets measured at amortised cost 0 0 (0) 0 (0)

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 1st April 2018 0 0 (0) 0 (0)

Change in loss allowance arising from application of IFRS 9 0 0 (0) 0 (0)
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18. Other financial assets

The CCG had no other financial assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

19. Other current assets

The CCG had no other current assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

20. Cash and cash equivalents

2018-19 2017-18

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 11 42

Net change in year 1 (31)

Balance at 31 March 2019 12 11

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 12 11

Cash with Commercial banks 0 0

Cash in hand 0 0

Current investments 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 12 11

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service 0 0

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks 0 0

Total bank overdrafts 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2019 12 11

Patients’ money held by the CCG, not included above 0 0

21. Non-current assets held for sale

The CCG had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

22. Analysis of impairments and reversals

The CCG had no impairments or reversals of impairments recognised in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).
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23. Trade and other payables

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest payable 0 0 0 0

NHS payables: Revenue 1,656 0 806 0

NHS payables: Capital 0 0 0 0

NHS accruals 1,680 0 1,765 0

NHS deferred income 0 0 0 0

NHS Contract Liabilities 0 0 0 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 1,409 0 169 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital 0 0 0 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 2,244 0 3,295 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income 0 0 0 0

Non-NHS Contract Liabilities 0 0 0 0

Social security costs 60 0 59 0

VAT 0 0 0 0

Tax 54 0 49 0

Payments received on account 0 0 0 0

Other payables and accruals 7,890 0 8,196 0

Total Trade & Other Payables 14,993 0 14,339 0

Total current and non-current 14,993 14,339

Other payables include £67,716 outstanding staff pension contributions as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: £68,755) and £215,371

outstanding GP pension contributions as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: £230,484).

23.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018

Trade and 

other 

payables - 

NHSE bodies

Trade and 

other 

payables - 

other DHSC 

group bodies

Trade and 

other 

payables - 

external

Other 

borrowings 

(including 

finance lease 

obligations)

Other 

financial 

liabilities

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018

Financial Liabilities held at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Liabilities held at Amortised cost 459 4,736 839 0 8,197 14,231

Total at 31st March 2018 459 4,736 839 0 8,197 14,231

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018

Financial Liabilities designated to Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Liabilities mandated to Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost 459 4,736 839 0 8,197 14,231

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value Other Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 1st April 2018 459 4,736 839 0 8,197 14,231

Changes due to change in measurement attribute 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other changes 0 0 0 0 0 0

Change in carrying amount 0 0 0 0 0 0

24. Other financial liabilities

The CCG had no other financial liaibilities as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

25. Other liabilities

The CCG had not other liaibilities as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

26. Borrowings

The CCG had no borrowings as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

27. Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements

The CCG had no private finance initiatives, LIFT or other service concession arrangements as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

28. Finance lease obligations

The CCG had no finance lease obligations as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

29. Finance lease receivables

The CCG had no finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

30. Provisions

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities in relation to CHC Continuing 

Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before the establishment of the CCG. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS 

Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of the CCG as at 31 March 2019 was £0.075 million  (31 March 2018: £0.1 million).
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31. Contingencies

The CCG had no contingencies as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

32. Commitments

The CCG had no capital or other financial commitments as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

33. Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.4 Liquidity risk

33.1.5 Financial Instruments

33.2 Financial assets

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

Equity Instruments 

designated at 

FVOCI Total

2018-19 2018-19 2018-19

£'000 £'000 £'000

Equity investment in group bodies 0 0

Equity investment in external bodies 0 0

Loans receivable with group bodies 0 0

Loans receivable with external bodies 0 0

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 1,120 1,120

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 3,069 3,069

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 1,683 1,683

Other financial assets 1,088 1,088

Cash and cash equivalents 12 12

Total at 31 March 2019 6,972 0 6,972

33.3 Financial liabilities

Financial 

Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost Other Total

2018-19 2018-19 2018-19

£'000 £'000 £'000

Loans with group bodies 0 0

Loans with external bodies 0 0

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 453 453

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 2,971 2,971

Trade and other payables with external bodies 3,565 3,565

Other financial liabilities 7,890 7,890

Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations - -

Total at 31 March 2019 14,879 0 14,879

The CCG borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line 

with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The CCG therefore has low 

exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of 

the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws 

down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a 

body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial 

instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards 

mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational 

activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the CCG's standing financial 

instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the CCG and internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG 

has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing 

risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS 

England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.
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34. Operating segments

The CCG considers that it only has one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

35. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

35.1 Interests in joint operations

Assets Liabilities Income Expenditure Assets Liabilities Income Expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Integrated pooled 

fund for adult 

continuing 

healthcare

St Helens 

Council, NHS 

St Helens 

CCG

Pooled budget 

arrangement for the 

provision of care packages 

for adults who qualify for 

CHC/FNC, are S117 or 

joint funded.  

1,378 1,089 22,905 23,194 1,916 1,547 20,870 21,239

Better Care Fund

St Helens 

Council, NHS 

St Helens 

CCG

Pooled budget 

arrangement for the 

provision of integrated 

spend on health and social 

care.

0 0 14,714 14,714 0 0 14,440 14,440

35.2 Interests in entities not accounted for under IFRS 10 or IFRS 11

The CCG had no interests in entities not accounted for under IFRS 10 or IFRS 11.

36. NHS Lift investments

The CCG had no LIFT investments as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

The CCG and Local Authority have pooled budgets for the majority of Continuing Health Care (CHC) and share financial risk on the pooled budget fund with the CCG contributing £22.9 

million of the total pooled amount of £31.8 million.  CHC is hosted and managed by the Local Authority including the assessment and management of cases.  The pooled budget for the 

Better Care Fund is £24.7 million with the CCG contributing £14.7 million.

Name of 

arrangement

Parties to the 

arrangement

Description of principal 

activities

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLYAmounts recognised in Entities books ONLY
2018-19 2017-18
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37. Related party transactions

2018-19

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Professor Sarah O'Brien - Clinical Chief Executive: Related Party is St Helens Council 38,673 (1,255) 1,497 (413)

Rachel Cleal - Deputy Strategic Director People's Services / Deputy Accountable Officer CCG: 

Related Party is St Helens Council 38,673 (1,255) 1,497 (413)

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse - Governing Body Member: Related Party is St Helens GP Rota Member 803 0 0 0

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner in Central Surgery GMS 

Practice 985 0 35 (24)

Dr Omar Shaikh - Governing Body Member: Related Party is St Helens GP Rota Member 803 0 0 0

Dr Omar Shaikh - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner in Newholme Surgery 566 0 17 (20)

Dr Paul Rose - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner in Crossroads Medical Surgery 367 0 12 (19)

Dr Paul Rose - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Lead GP in Marshalls Cross Surgery 689 0 54 (20)

Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Member practice of St Helens Rota 803 0 0 0

Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner of Mill Street Medical Centre 1,448 0 16 (63)

Dr James Catania -  Governing Body Member: Related Party is Stockport NHS FT 20 7

Tony Foy - Lay Member, Governing Body: Related Party is Observer at STHK trust board 142,320 (48) 654 (877)

Mark Weights - Governing Body Member: Related Party is SHAP Ltd 12 0 4 0

Mike Wyatt - Recovery Director: Related Party is Strategic Director of People’s Services St Helens 

Council 38,673 (1,255) 1,497 (413)

Susan Forster - Governing Body Member: Related Party is St Helens Council 38,673 (1,255) 1,497 (413)

Julie Abbott - Deputy Chief Executive/ Director: Commissioning (Until April 2018): Related Party is 

son employed by Mersey Internal Audit Agency hosted by Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen NHS 

Hospital Trust 6,673 0 23 (584)

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party.  In the financial year 2018-19 the CCG has had a significant number of material 

transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are:

• St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust

• Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• Liverpool Women's Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust

• Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation Trust

• Wrightingon, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust

• Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

• Alder Hey Childrens NHS Foundation Trust

• NW Boroughs Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

• The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust

• North West Ambulance NHS Trust

• NHS Business Services Authority

• NHS Litigation Authority

• NHS Pensions Agency

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

• NHS England (including NHS Midlands & Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit and NHS Arden & Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit)

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.  Most of these 

transactions have been with St Helens Council.
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37. Related party transactions

2017-18

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Joseph Banat - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner in Park House Surgery 1,044 0 32 0

Dr Joseph Banat - Governing Body Member: Related Party is St Helens ROTA GP Member 897 0 123 0

Mr Paul Brickwood - Chief Finance Officer (until April 17): Related Party is Employee Knowsley CCG 820 (271) 0 (102)

Mr Paul Brickwood - Chief Finance Officer (until April 17): Related Party is Chief Finance Officer of 

Halton CCG 29 (1) 0 0

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse - Governing Body Member: Related Party is St Helens GP Rota Member 897 0 123 0

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner in Central Surgery GMS 

Practice 1,045 0 35 0

Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner of Mill Street Medical Centre 1,591 0 45 (52)

Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Member practice of St Helens Rota 897 0 123 0

Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Federation of Training Practices in St 

Helens business arm Aspect Health Ltd. 20 0 0 0

Dr Paul Rose - Governing Body Member: Related Party is Partner in Crossroads Medical Surgery 400 0 6 0

Mr Mike Wyatt - Recovery Director: Related Party is Strategic Director of People’s Services St 

Helens Council 41,828 (1,037) 714 (44)

Mr Iain Stoddart - Chief Finance Officer: Related Party is NHS Knowsley CCG Employee until Jan-18 820 (271) 0 (102)

Mark Weights - Governing Body Member: Related Party is SHAP Ltd 16 0 0 0

Susan Forster - Governing Body Member: Related Party is St Helens Council 41,828 (1,037) 714 (44)

Ruth Austin-Vincent - Lay Member: Related Party is Halton CCG 29 (1) 0 0

Julie Abbott - Deputy Chief Executive/ Director: Commissioning: Related Party is son employed by 

Mersey Internal Audit Agency hosted by Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen NHS Hospital Trust 6,168 0 2 (405)

James Catania -  Governing Body Member: Related Party is Stockport NHS FT 19 0 0 0

Tony Foy - Lay Member, Governing Body: Related Party is Observer at STHK trust board 136,306 (58) 369 (661)

Dr Omar Shaikh -Governing Body Member: Related Party is Newholme Surgery - WA10 2DJ 607 0 19 0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party.  In the financial year 2017-18 the CCG has had a significant number of material 

transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are:

• St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust

• Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• Liverpool Women's Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust

• Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation Trust

• Wrightingon, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust

• Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

• Alder Hey Childrens NHS Foundation Trust

• 5 Borough Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

• The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust

• North West Ambulance NHS Trust

• NHS Business Services Authority

• NHS Litigation Authority

• NHS Pensions Agency

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

• NHS England (including NHS Midlands & Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit and NHS Arden & Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit)

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.  Most of these 

transactions have been with St Helens Council.
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38. Events after the end of the reporting period

39. Losses and special payments

Losses

Total Number 

of Cases

Total Value 

of Cases

Total Number 

of Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Number £'000 Number £'000

Administrative write-offs 1 3 0 0

Fruitless payments 0 0 0 0

Store losses 0 0 0 0

Book Keeping Losses 0 0 0 0

Constructive loss 0 0 0 0

Cash losses 0 0 0 0

Claims abandoned 0 0 0 0

Total 1 3 0 0

Special payments

Total Number 

of Cases

Total Value 

of Cases

Total Number 

of Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Number £'000 Number £'000

Compensation payments 0 0 0 0

Compensation payments Treasury Approved 0 0 0 0

Extra Contractual Payments 0 0 0 0

Extra Contractual Payments Treasury Approved 0 0 0 0

Ex Gratia Payments 0 0 0 0

Ex Gratia Payments Treasury Approved 0 0 0 0

Extra Statutory Extra Regulatory Payments 0 0 0 0

Extra Statutory Extra Regulatory Payments Treasury Approved 0 0 0 0

Special Severance Payments Treasury Approved 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

There were no cases individually over £300,000.

40. Third party assets

The CCG held no third party assets as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: nil).

41. Financial performance targets

The CCG's financial position is summarised in the following table:

£'000

Programme Allocation 334,903

Running Costs Allocation 4,213

Total Allocation 2018-19 339,116

Total Expenditure 343,630

Total Income (4,514)

Net Expenditure 2018-19 339,116

2018-19 Surplus/(Deficit) 0

The CCG has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Section Duty Maximum Performance Maximum Performance

£000 £000 £000 £000

223H(1)* Expenditure not to exceed income 343,706 343,706 333,131 337,974

223I(2) Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 76 76 205 205

223I(3) Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 339,116 339,116 329,129 333,972

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 4,213 3,719 4,192 3,930

42. Impact of IFRS

Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the CCG in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

43. Analysis of charitable reserves

The CCG held no charitable reserves in the financial year 2018-19 (2017-18: nil).

44. Effect of application of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances

The impact of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances is not material therefore the tables have been removed.

There are no events after the end of the reporting period that require disclosures.

The CCG met all of its statutory duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

*Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the f inancial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of 

the notif ied maximum revenue resource, notif ied capital resource and all other amounts accounted as receiveable in the f inancial year (w hether under provisions of the Act or from other 

sources, and included here on a gross basis).

The total number of CCG losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:


